

University of Calgary PRISM: University of Calgary's Digital Repository

Graduate Studies

The Vault: Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2018-12-20

Secure Collaboration Across the Reality-Virtuality Continuum Using Reservoir Data

Cartwright, Stephen

Cartwright, S. (2018). Secure Collaboration Across the Reality-Virtuality Continuum Using Reservoir Data (Unpublished master's thesis). University of Calgary, Calgary, AB. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/109396 master thesis

University of Calgary graduate students retain copyright ownership and moral rights for their thesis. You may use this material in any way that is permitted by the Copyright Act or through licensing that has been assigned to the document. For uses that are not allowable under copyright legislation or licensing, you are required to seek permission. Downloaded from PRISM: https://prism.ucalgary.ca

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Secure Collaboration Across the Reality-Virtuality Continuum Using Reservoir Data

by

Stephen Cartwright

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN COMPUTER SCIENCE

CALGARY, ALBERTA

DECEMBER, 2018

© Stephen Cartwright 2018

Abstract

Acquiring, storing, processing, synthesizing, visualizing, and interpreting data are core to scientific knowledge discovery. This data life cycle is common to many diverse fields such as medicine and petroleum engineering. A wide range of techniques may be used for interacting with and visualizing data. Immersive technologies such as augmented reality and virtual reality show great potential to enhance important workplace activities such as collaboration. To this end an immersive, collaborative tool for visualizing reservoir data is discussed. Some collaborative scenarios using these technologies are then described. It is important to carefully consider how these technologies will be incorporated into a professional setting to ensure tools based on these technologies will provide a high quality user experience while meeting the security needs of industry. In order to further this goal, some of the architectural considerations of a collaboration tool that uses a variety of technologies from the reality-virtuality continuum are explored. A prototype tool is then presented that has been developed for collaborating over petroleum reservoir scenarios involving sensitive data. This tool incorporates visual protection mechanisms to facilitate collaboration while providing enhanced control over information disclosure. A user feedback session was performed with reservoir engineering subject matter experts, and the results from this exploratory evaluation are reported.

Publications

Some materials, ideas or figures in this thesis may have appeared in the following publications:

- S. Cartwright, E. Sharlin, M. Costa Sousa, and Z. Chen. Investigating the Effectiveness of Security-Enhancing Visual Protections for Immersive Collaboration. In *Poster Session Proceedings of the 44th Graphics Interface Conference*, GI '18. Canadian Human-Computer Communications Society, 2018.
- R. C. Ramos Mota, S. Cartwright, E. Sharlin, H. Hamdi, M. Costa Sousa, and Z. Chen. Exploring Immersive Interfaces for Well Placement Optimization in Reservoir Models. In *Proceedings of the 2016 Symposium on Spatial User Interaction*, SUI '16, pages 121–130. ACM, 2016.

As a part of my MSc research I have been directly involved in the following projects:

- D. Yuen, M. Santoso, S. Cartwright, and C. Jacob. Eukaryo: An AR and VR Application for Cell Biology. *International Journal of Virtual Reality*, 16(1):7–14, Oct. 2016.
- D. Yuen, S. Cartwright, and C. Jacob. Eukaryo: Virtual Reality Simulation of a Cell. In *Proceedings of the 2016 Virtual Reality International Conference*, VRIC '16, pages 3:1–3:4. ACM, 2016.
- A. S. Nittala, N. Li, S. Cartwright, K. Takashima, E. Sharlin, and M. C. Sousa. PLANWELL: Spatial User Interface for Collaborative Petroleum Well-Planning. In *SIGGRAPH Asia 2015 Mobile Graphics and Interactive Applications*, SA '15, pages 19:1–19:8. ACM, 2015.
- N. Li, S. Cartwright, A. Shekhar Nittala, E. Sharlin, and M. Costa Sousa. Flying Frustum: A Spatial Interface for Enhancing Human-UAV Awareness. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Human-Agent Interaction*, HAI '15, pages 27–31. ACM, 2015.
- N. Li, S. Cartwright, E. Sharlin, and M. Costa Sousa. Ningyo of the CAVE: Robots As Social Puppets of Static Infrastructure. In *Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Human-Agent Interaction*, HAI '14, pages 39–44. ACM, 2014.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my supervisors Dr. Ehud Sharlin and Dr. Mario Costa Sousa for their patience and assistance in developing this work. I thank Dr. Zhangxing (John) Chen for his assistance and support. I appreciate the assistance provided by Dr. Michael Locasto before he left the University of Calgary. I would like to acknowledge Megan Bos for her support, patience and assistance with the sketches. Thank you to the team at the Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre that helped with development of the immersive tools. Emil Selin helped develop the initial immersive tool, with Roberta Cabral Mota providing assistance as well. Steven Samoil helped a great deal with the networking for the collaborative tool. Roberta Cabral Mota and Steven Samoil also assisted with running the evaluation for the immersive tool, and Steven Samoil assisted with running the evaluations for the protection mechanisms. I thank my parents for their support and encouragement. I would also like to acknowledge the encouragement and support of many friends and co-workers. Although there are too many to name here, I would particularly like to thank Jamie McInnis, Nico Li, Ahmed Ezzelden Mostafa, Aditya Shekhar, Amin Sharifi, Lihua Shen, Hui Liu, Sheng Yang, Ehsan Amirian, He Zhong, Morteza Dejam, Coyolxauhqui Flores Cabrera, Qiong Wang, Hamidreza Hamdi, Zahra Sahaf and Sowmya Somanath. Thank you to Frank and Sarah Meyer for their support and Energi Simulation for their sponsorship of the Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre.

Table of Contents

Abstr		ii
Publi	cations	iii
Ackn	owledgements	iv
Table	e of Contents	v
List c	of Tables	/ii
List c	of Figures	iii
List c	of Symbols	Х
1	Introduction	1
1.1	Motivation	6
1.2	Research Questions	12
1.3	Contribution	12
1.4	Thesis Overview	13
2	Background	14
2.1	Scientific Computing	15
2.2	Visualization	23
2.3	Immersion	24
2.4	Immersive Devices	27
	2.4.1 Large Scale Visualization Facilities	28
2.5	Collaboration	32
2.6	Application Domain: Reservoir Engineering	33
2.7	Security Components	38
	2.7.1 Authentication	38
	2.7.2 Access Control	42
3	Related Work	46
3.1	Collaboration Incorporating Immersion	47
3.2	Security and Immersion	47
3.3	Mixed Reality Collaboration and Security	51
3.4	Visual Security Controls	52
35	Other Security Controls	54
4	Immersive Reservoir Visualization Tool	55
4 1	Overview	55
4.2	Features Implemented	59
4.3	Fvaluation	55
т.5	4.3.1 Theme 1: Value of Immersion	57
	4.3.2 Theme 2: Occlusion Management	58
	4.3.2 Theme 2: Maintaining Flow	50
	4.3.5 Theme 5. Maintaining Flow	50
	4.3.4 Colleborative Conchilities)9 71
1 1		11
4.4 5		15
5		13
5.1	Scenarios	53
	5.1.1 Physical Reality Collaboration	33

	5.1.2	Virtual Reality Collaboration	
	5.1.3	Augmented Reality Collaboration 87	
	5.1.4	Mixed Reality Collaboration	
6	Protect	ion Mechanisms	
6.1	Access	Control Logic	
6.2	Access	Control Methods	
7	Feedba	ck Session	
7.1	Scenar	io	
7.2	Hypoth	nesis	
7.3	Method	dology	
	7.3.1	Assessment of Secure Collaboration Tool	
	7.3.2	Mixed Reality Collaboration Test	
7.4	Users		
7.5	Results	s	
	7.5.1	Assessment of Secure Collaboration Tool	
	7.5.2	Mixed Reality Collaboration Test	
7.6	Discus	sion	
8	Future	Work and Conclusion	
8.1	Future	Work	
	8.1.1	Deeper Understanding of Requirements	
	8.1.2	Visual Security Methods	
	8.1.3	Usability Studies	
	8.1.4	Solutions for Co-located Collaboration Spaces	
	8.1.5	Integration of Security Policy	
	8.1.6	Integration of Usable Security Principles with other Frameworks 118	
	8.1.7	Additional Security Considerations	
	8.1.8	Integration into Scientific Computing Infrastructure	
8.2	Conclu	sion	
А	Post-task Interview Questions		
В	Client	vs Server Rendering Example	
Bibli	ography	<i>x</i>	

List of Tables

6.1	Data sensitivity levels (object attributes). These are sensitivity levels used in at
	least one oil and gas company
6.2	User access levels (subject attributes)
6.3	Immersive collaboration scenario (environmental attributes)
7.1	Users in collaboration and their access attributes
7.2	Protection boxes along well path

List of Figures and Illustrations

1.1	Visual analytics uses various disciplines to leverage the strengths of human cong- nition and computation in an integrated manner [145]	3
1.2	The relationship between Collaborative Immersive Analytics, Collaborative Visu- alization and Immersive Analytics [32]	3
13	Integrating robotic guides with visualization infrastructure [184]	5
1.5	Petrobras CENPES Visualization and Collaboration Center (NVC) [200]	6
1.5	Immersive collaboration at Raytheon [248].	11
1.6	Improov3 – a virtual collaboration platform for professionals [212]	11
2.1	The inference cycle integrating both high-end data analytics (HDA) and high per-	17
2.2	Getting value out of big data may have different meanings and challenges across	1/
	sectors but always requires tools that can help solve relevant problems [151]	19
2.3	Various stages of the data life cycle [106]	20
2.4	Relationships amongst knowledge, information, and data [190]	21
2.5	Relating the process model for knowledge generation in visual analytics to other	
•	models and theories [259].	22
2.6	Operating a virtual Canadarm using an Oculus Rift CV1 with Ultrahaptics for	07
07		27
2.7	An application using a HMD with hand tracking, and the CAVE.	29
2.8	Exploration of an eukaryotic cell model in a CAVE [33/] [338].	32
2.9	Collaboration is required across disciplines in oil and gas exploration throughout	25
2 10	Visualizing reservoir connectivity [245]	28
2.10	Examples of data used to continuously authenticate on mobile devices [237]	30
2.11	Nymi wearable is well suited for continuous authentication	41
4.1	Digging into the model.	61
4.2	Cutaway view of embedded object.	62
4.3	Embodied filter sphere.	63
4.4	Examining the reservoir.	63
4.5		00
4.0	Calleboration using bood mounted devices and sustan	0/
4./	Collaboration using near mounted devices and avalars.	12
4.0	Lows for assy user interaction and prepriocention but not private views	72
10	Architecture of the immersive prototype. Any system can be a host and clients	12
4.9	can connect to the host. There can be one session leader on either the host or client	
	that can edit the data	74
<u> </u>		, .
5.1	An integrated mixed reality ecosystem [258].	75
5.2	Augmented 3D printing from [185]	76
5.3	Augmented 3D printing from [224].	77

5.4 5.5	Space-time groupware matrix from [301]	78
	world	81
5.6	Benfords Model: Dimension of spatiality [28]	82
5.7	A simple mixed-reality boundary from Benford [28].	82
5.8	Co-located Physical Collaboration.	84
5.9	Virtual Reality Collaboration.	86
5.10	Augmented Reality Collaboration.	88
5.11	Remote Mixed Reality Collaboration.	91
6.1	Reservoir scenario view of wellhead on Hololens with cells cut away around the well for inspection of interior cells.	98
6.2	Reservoir scenario view of wellhead on Hololens with conceptual protection box removing understanding of cell properties. Cells also may not be probed for values.	98
6.3	Two protection boxes where the viewer has no access on the Oculus Rift.	99
6.4	Transparent protection boxes where the viewer has access on the HTC Vive with another users avatar in the foreground.	99
7.1	Concept drawing of evaluation scenario with physical space, public view (no access level) and perspective of each user.	106
7.2	Test to determine if U_H would inadvertently reveal privileged view to AR user	107
7.3	Feedback session 1 with reservoir engineering subject matter experts using HTC Vive, Oculus Rift, Microsoft HoloLens and a public display.	108
7.4	Feedback session 2 with reservoir engineering subject matter experts using HTC Vive, Oculus Rift, Microsoft HoloLens and a public display.	109
B.1 B.2 B.3	View of the portal login.	129 129 130

List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclature

Symbol	Definition
3DUI	3D User Interface
ABAC	Attribute Based Access Control
AR	Augmented Reality
CSCW	Computer Supported Cooperative Work
DAC	Discretionary Access Control
FOR	Field of Regard
FOV	Field of View
HLAPI	High Level API
HPC	High Performance Computing
LLAPI	Low Level API
MAC	Mandatory Access Control
MR	Mixed Reality
RBAC	Role Based Access Control
SWFMS	Scientific Workflow Management System
SAR	Spatial Augmented Reality
UI	User Interface
UX	User Experience
UNet	Unity Networking
VR	Virtual Reality
WEP	Workflow Execution Plan
WfMS	Workflow Management System
XR	Extended Reality

Chapter 1

Introduction

Acquiring, storing, processing, synthesizing, visualizing, and interpreting data is core to knowledge discovery. This data life cycle is common to many diverse fields in industry and in academia. However, there are many challenges remaining that must be overcome to provide this life cycle with effective approaches and tools, especially in modern data intensive environments [280]. These challenges include data challenges, process challenges and management challenges. Of particular interest to this work are the management challenges of data and information sharing, privacy, and security. Specifically, a solution must be found that allows data and information to be shared effectively while respecting privacy and security concerns. This solution must consider the data management, access control and user privacy supporting collaborative visualization and analysis of data.

A common method of analysing data is through visual analytics [145] [294]. Visual analytics is a term that was orignally coined by Jim Thomas at the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory and popularized by the work "Illuminating the Path: The Research and Development Agenda for Visual Analytics" [58]. Visual analytics has been defined as the science of analytical reasoning facilitated by interactive visual interfaces [330] [305]. Visual analytics combines computational and visual analysis methods with a tight coupling through human computer interaction in order to gain knowledge from data. Visual analytics represents the cumulation of a variety of techniques over time. For instance in 1973 Anscombe argued the value of visualizing data to assist with analysis [13]. In his 1977 publication "Exploratory Data Analysis" [313] John Tukey argued the value of using exploratory data analysis (EDA) to discover clues and themes in data, in addition to confirmatory data analysis (CDA). As information visualization became popularized by works such as "The Visual Display of Quantitative Information" [312], and "Readings in Information Visualiza-

tion: Using Vision to Think" [50] the importance of visual methods to explore and understand data became more accepted [146] [147]. The application of visualization to scientific computing problems created the field of scientific visualization [206] [135]. In step with these advances, computer supported collaborative work (CSCW) and groupware emerged and were concerned with improving how people effectively work together supported by computer systems [112]. The merging of these interests ultimately lead to the study of collaborative visualization [130].

When exploring or collaborating over data, there may be very different requirements and complexities depending on the data and the objective of the data exploration. Due to this, a wide range of techniques may be used for visualizing and interpreting data. These techniques may be supported by varied technologies including large displays [19], mobile devices [199], tabletops [272], virtual reality [181], augmented reality [202], wearables [198], hybrid reality [249], and combinations of immersive devices [217]. In 1994 Paul Milgram and Fumio Kishino defined the reality-virtuality continuum [214] as part of a taxonomy of displays including immersive devices. At one end of the continuum is the real environment, comprised of the physical environment and non-immersive devices such as screens. Next along the continuum is augmented reality which superimposes computer-generated images onto a view of the real world, thus augmenting the physical environment with digital artifacts. Augmented virtuality is a virtual environment where real objects such as the users themselves can be merged into and interact with an immersive environment. Finally, virtual reality defines the other end of the scale, where the world consists entirely of digital content. Together these technologies can be applied to support visual analytics. The application of immersive technologies to visual analytics is called immersive analytics [53] [114]. With the increased availability of high quality and low cost immersive devices, it is likely collaboration across all devices in this continuum will eventually become an integral part of collaboration scenarios and support collaborative immersive analytics [32] which combine visual analytics and immersion with computer supported cooperative work techniques. Many scientific fields rely upon collaboration for effective discovery. Collaboration may be either co-located or remote and may

use any of these technologies. Data processing may be distributed in order to assist with user experience by improving responsiveness and to combat issues of scale. If sensitive data is used, then methods to protect this data must also be integrated.

Machine

Human



Figure 1.1: Visual analytics uses various disciplines to leverage the strengths of human congnition and computation in an integrated manner [145].



Figure 1.2: The relationship between Collaborative Immersive Analytics, Collaborative Visualization and Immersive Analytics [32].

This work was performed at the Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre [251]. The Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre is a visualization lab with a wide variety of hardware including a large scale visualization system based on a CAVE (Cave Automatic Virtual Environment) [61] called a Barco MoVE [25]. The Barco MoVE system has four 8 foot high and 10 foot wide screens (left, centre, right, floor), each with stereoscopic 3D projectors allowing information to be displayed on screens with or without stereoscopic 3D. The Barco MoVE adds two additional configurations to the original immersive cube shape associated with a classic CAVE. In the first mode, the left and right screens may be moved to a 45° angle, providing an immersive theatre for presentations and collaboration. The screens may also be configured to create a large 30 foot visualization wall.

Large scale visualization facilities such as this one have had mixed success in terms of utilization and perceived value across different organizations, and have fallen out of favor in some organizations and even industries. Often these facilies were utilized as passive visualization theatres. Typically most users would observe while a presenter provided context. This kind of usage is at odds with the highly interactive and exploratory nature of applications incorporating modern collaborative visual analytics and immersive analytics techniques. This is likely one of the reasons that such centres have been underutilized in some organizations. Even expensive visualization centres must be equipped with the appropriate software that can enhance workflows and unlock the value of the hardware. The introduction of affordable and high quality virtual reality (VR) head mounted displays (HMDs) such as the Oculus Rift [230] or HTC Vive [122] and augmented reality (AR) HMDs such as the Microsoft Hololens [211] has also provided new opportunities to create immersive analytics applications that may be used in a variety of scenarios and may work in tandem with large scale facilities. This has been the approach at the Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre. Instead of focusing on passive experiences and visualizations, a variety of tracking technologies such as Vicon tracking systems [317] and Microsoft Kinect sensors [342] have been installed and used to support a variety of interactions and collaborative workflows.

Interactive tabletops, non-immersive devices and even robots have been incorporated into the work at the collaboration centre, with a focus on integration of technologies, collaboration and interaction. Applications are developed to move between head mounted displays and large scale



Figure 1.3: Integrating robotic guides with visualization infrastructure [184].

visualization systems. Collaboration and interaction with data, with the unique properties of each hardware platform in mind, are central to increased utilization and value. Rather than providing an immersive data theatre, the Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre is now an interactive visualization and analysis hub, where users may take data they experience on personal devices, and interact with it together with collaborators, supporting immersive and non-immersive analytics workflows. Providing support for sensitive data is another aspect that is critical to effective use of this technology and will provide value to other visualization centres that work with a variety of hardware in an industrial setting, such as the Petrobras CENPES Visualization and Collaboration Center [200]. This is a centre that has long focused on developing collaborative, immersive tools for the oil and gas industry [80] [238].



Figure 1.4: Petrobras CENPES Visualization and Collaboration Center (NVC) [200].

1.1 Motivation

As computing becomes more ubiquitious and a wider variety of technologies are incorporated into various scenarios the challenges of data and information sharing, privacy, and security will only become more acute. We are moving towards a converged reality where activities in the "real world" and those in the virtual world are more tightly integrated [283]. There is a need to understand these scenarios, so that effective management of data and appropriate access control policies and techniques that directly support agile scientific collaboration may be applied. Although technical solutions alone are only part of a greater solution to this problem [260], they are a prerequsite for collaboration. Collaboration is often hindered by concerns over sharing sensitive data. Trust-worthy systems that support collaboration are especially imporant in situations involving Strategic Negotiation [74] or coopetition [33]. These are scenarios involving both cooperative and compete-tive aspects, where users must collaborate, but may not want to reveal all information available during a collaboration. These situations require collaboration tools that support users with different levels of access to the data they are working with. Across organizations, these scenarios are

important for mutually beneficial alliances which are needed to cope with faster business dynamics and higher uncertainties. Within organizations, organizational units must cooperate with each other and learn from each other but at the same time compete with each other in many aspects of their business operations [270]. Estimates suggest that the companies in the Fortune 500 still lose a combined \$31.5 billion per year from employees failing to share knowledge effectively [219], demonstrating a need for increased collaboration. The trade-off between security and collaboration has been recognized and explored in works such as [136]. Attempts have been made to understand the user-base of such systems through semi-structured interviews with data analysts across several domains [139]. This work explored the broad categories of data analysts and their relationship both with information visualization technology as well as other technologists in their organization. Although collaboration was identified as important, a lack of tools to support it was reported to be a problem. Seldmair et al. [268] showed that confidentiality is a challenge that influences all phases (pre-design, during-design, post-design) of information visualization researchers work in a large company setting. Central to this challenge is the inability to freely collaborate and disseminate results due to confidentiality requirements. Collaboration in academic research suffers from similar tensions between secrecy and collaboration [57], particularly in fields where there is a high degree of competition [323].

Without effective collaboration tools that provide capability to protect sensitive data, collaboration may not happen at all, or much error prone manual effort may be required. Even if the collaboration is deemed important enough to share data, inefficient means are used to provide the data. Often projects must suffer significant delays while data is manually sanitized. This process may be error prone as it can be difficult for those sanitizing the data to understand fully what must be removed. Scrubbing a dataset prior to collaboration is not dynamic and time and effort is required to add or remove further data. When providing data in this manner, either too much data may be removed, causing delays or ineffective collaboration or too much data may be retained, exposing the data owner to unnecessary risk. Even if legal protections are in place, if too much information is shared, it is still "in the wild" and the data owner must hope that the legal protections are sufficient to prevent further dissemination of the data, either intentional or inadvertent.

By providing tools that assist with navigating the tension between cooperation and competition, barriers to collaboration may be reduced, allowing the benefits of faster innovation cycles and knowledge sharing to be realized. Although existing computer security measures applied properly can effectively protect information at rest from attackers, there is less focus on how to provide a strong trusted computing base [38] while promoting collaboration across a variety of technologies to ensure effective shared knowledge discovery across domains and organizational silos. Scenarios such as this imply active dissemination of information across varied channels and across a wide range of devices for delivery to diverse audiences that have different levels of clearance.

Providing high-quality tools for collaboration is an important part of any solution. Without a fit-for-purpose tool that provides an acceptable collaboration experience relevant to users, there will not be a collaboration to secure since no one would use it. Immersive technologies such as virtual and augmented reality have shown the potential to become highly effective collaboration tools. However, as new technologies such as augmented reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR) are used in industrial applications, careful attention must be paid to the usability and security of these tools. For this reason it is important to assess how the technologies will be used, as well as what risks may exist as they are adopted, especially in combination with other tools.

With this analysis in hand it is possible to derive solutions that have the potential to be secure, usable and fit-for-purpose. Such a system would ideally be able to allow for effective collaboration and information dissemination while allowing collaborators to maintain greater control over their data. Ideally, collaborators would be able to maintain the principle of least privilege [264], where only the minimum amount of information is shared to achieve a collaboration goal. If technologies such as augmented and virtual reality can be applied to improve the collaboration experience when sharing information, perhaps they can also be applied to improve the protection of information in this context. Ideally, such a solution would allow all parties to work together on the same dataset,

with protections in place and with careful integration of visual interactive computing technologies to allow users to share information in a dynamic yet secure manner that allows them to mediate their information as needed to achieve the collaboration goal.

A variety of scenarios have been considered, including co-located collaboration involving public displays and personal devices, virtual reality collaboration, augmented reality collaboration and mixed-reality collaboration scenarios where physical collaboration and virtual collaboration are occurring simultaneously. The mixed-reality collaboration scenario has the most interesting security concerns, as users must be aware of how information flows within and between at least two collaboration spaces. Based on the increased complexity of such scenarios, and on previous works that investigate collaboration in these environments, managing the flow of information in this situation is difficult for users. A proof of concept system is demonstrated in a mixed-reality scenario that combines simple access control and visual protection mechanisms in order to support collaborative scientific work over sensitive data. The access control and visual protection mechanisms allow users to protect their information by restricting what information is visible by other collaborators. This allows users to maintain control over their information and negotiate what is disclosed with other collaborators according to their needs and preferences. This allows control over the flow of information within the virtual space. The relevance and effectiveness of this approach to mediate the flow of information between collaborators is evaluated in two feedback sessions. Another way that the flow of information should be protected is by guarding against inadvertent information leakage across boundaries between collaboration spaces, such as between the physical space and the virtual space in a mixed-reality collaboration. In order to verify that this is a problem, a simple test to validate that users may easily be confused as to how information flows between collaboration spaces was implemented. Access control policy that considers the boundaries between spaces and the nature of both the boundary and the collaboration spaces could be used to prevent inadvertent information leakage in these situations although this was not implemented. Collaboration over data can be performed using this tool, while providing a means of protecting information and disclosing information only as required for the collaboration. Collaboration is crucial to rapid and effective work and can provide a great competitive advantage for organizations. Addressing one of the major barriers to collaboration, the sharing of sensitive data, through exploration of a prototype will help develop better methods of controlling the flow of information and will help organizations achieve their goals more quickly and effectively. This system can be used to validate and explore possible solutions, as well as create further discussion.

One of the primary uses for the Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre is to support oil and gas reservoir modelling and simulation research. The techniques presented in this work are demonstrated in the context of reservoir engineering data. In reservoir engineering scenarios, parties with different levels of access will be engaging in collaboration over complex and varied data to make high-impact decisions. Typically, this data will be sensitive due to both the high cost of acquisition of data and often proprietary ways it may be interpreted and processed. For this reason it is a domain that benefits from high quality analysis and visualization tools that provide collaborative security mechanisms. However, the tool and techniques described in this work are not limited to any particular field and may be extended to many different fields where parties are collaborating over sensitive datasets or information. As an example, the two figures below show some example engineering collaboration scenarios involving a variety of technologies that could potentially involve sensitive information.



Figure 1.5: Immersive collaboration at Raytheon [248].



Figure 1.6: Improov3 – a virtual collaboration platform for professionals [212].

1.2 Research Questions

The objective of this thesis is to explore and answer the following research questions:

- 1. How can immersive technologies be used to collaborate over data?
- 2. What some are representative scenarios that can be used to understand the use of these technologies when collaborating?
- 3. How can the dissemination of information be controlled to provide protections that enable dynamic and secure sharing of information?
- 4. What access control polices may support the collaboration scenarios and appropriately regulate the flow of information in these situations?
- 5. What protection mechanisms can be used with these access control polices to enable dynamic yet secure sharing of information when collaborating over scientific data?

1.3 Contribution

In order to explore security concerns across the reality-virtuality continuum, it is necessary to have tools that could plausibly be used in a realistic setting involving sensitive data. For this reason, the first need is to develop an immersive tool that provides some potential value to oil and gas reservoir engineers. Then, collaboration capabilities must be added to the tool. Some potential scenarios across the reality-virtuality continuum in which the tool may be used must be considered, and the security concerns elucidated. Finally, the security mechanisms must be added and evaluated to determine if they are useful and realistic for use in a reservoir engineering setting. With this in mind, the contributions of this thesis are:

- 1. Development of a tool for collaborative, immersive reservoir visualization. This tool is described in Chapter 4.
- 2. Exploration of collaboration scenarios using a variety of technologies. Several important scenarios are explored in Chapter 5.

- Discussion of architectural considerations for secure collaboration across the reality-virtuality continuum. Some security considerations are also explored in Chapter 5 and the implemented security mechanisms are described in Chapter 6.
- 4. Development of a prototype tool for collaborating over sensitive petroleum reservoir engineering data using a variety of technologies. This tool is described in Chapter 7.
- 5. Discussion and results of a feedback session involving reservoir engineering subject matter experts. The evaluation is described and results reported in Chapter 7.

1.4 Thesis Overview

The remainder of this work is organized as follows:

- The second chapter will provide the context and background of the problem. This involves discussion of the general context in which collaboration over scientific data occurs, the value of immersion for scientific visualization, immersive technologies, collaboration, reservoir engineering and an overview of some important security concepts.
- The third chapter provides an overview of existing work related to secure collaboration, particularly involving immersive technologies.
- The fourth chapter describes the immersive collaboration tool that has been developed for working with reservoir engineering data.
- The fifth chapter describes several collaboration scenarios and some of the security considerations associated with them.
- The sixth chapter describes the access control and visual protection mechanisms that were implemented in the secure collaboration prototype.
- The seventh chapter describes the feedback sessions for the prototype and the evaluation by subject matter experts.
- The eighth chapter provides directions for future work and the conclusion.

Chapter 2

Background

Effective collaboration is critical to project and organizational success in the modern world. Immersive technologies provide many benefits that can help develop effective collaboration tools. However security concerns often hinder collaboration when sensitive data or information is concerned. For this reason, it is important to find ways that these security concerns may be addressed, so that effective collaboration can occur even when sensitive data or information is present. Although this work is generalizable to many fields, the focus is on collaboration over scientific data, highlighted with a use case in petroleum reservoir engineering. Visualization of scientific data typically involves analysis of complex, three dimensional datasets. This kind of analysis can benefit a great deal from the use of immersive technologies. Further to this, many disciplines that require analysis of this type of data, such as petroleum engineering and medicine, require collaboration amongst various experts to successfully achieve desirable outcomes. These fields also commonly work with sensitive data. For this reason they have the most obvious need for immersive collaboration tools that allow for more effective analysis of this data while allowing collaborators control over the dissemination of information. In this chapter the context of visualization within scientific computing is briefly discussed. The tools and technologies that are used, including immersive technologies are explained. Some discussion of the application of these technologies to petroleum engineering is provided since this is the subject domain used in the example implementation of the immersive collaboration tool. Finally, a brief background related to the proposed security solutions is provided.

2.1 Scientific Computing

Scientific computing traditionally involves harnessing large computational resources to solve computationally intensive problems related to behaviours in scientifc fields such as physics or chemistry. Although scientific computing may suggest an non-industrial, academic context to some, scientific computing is pervasive in many industrial fields such as medicine and engineering. The explosion of data being processed and created requires big data techniques to be integrated [21]. High-end data analytics (HDA), or "big data" and high performance computing (HPC) techniques are both essential elements of an integrated computing research-and-development agenda. Many fields that historically were not seen as computationally intensive such as the Social Sciences are incorporating big data techniques or high performance computing into their domains [182]. This is due to the large quantities of data increasingly available in these fields and the greater accessability of compute resources. Once data is collected, it must typically be processed in order to convert it into something that is usable to solve a problem. Processing may take a variety of forms such as formating and categorizing data, data mining, machine learning workflows or numerical calcuations such as those used for simulation. Historically, the dominant form of processing was to perform calculations on some single computational resource, such as a supercomputer. The rise of the compute cluster such as initiated by BEOWULF [291] caused parallelism and distributed techniques to become much more important. Today not all compute clusters are implemented using commodity hardware, but parallelism and distributed computing have become even more important in order to tackle the scale and complexity of most modern computational problems. For this reason modern computational apporaches are generally focused on breaking apart problems so that they may be solved in parallel [193]. Data processing may be performed as batch processing or stream processing. With batch processing, the processing occurs over a large static dataset and the result is returned when the processing is complete. Stream processing processes data as it comes into the system. Rather than determining how to apply operations to the whole dataset, stream processing techniques are focused on defining operations that will be appied to data as it enters the

system. Apache Hadoop [15], implements MapReduce [68] and is still one of the top frameworks in use at the time of this writing for batch processing, even though it was one of the first "big data" frameworks. Apache Spark [17] is becoming a more popular processing engine for batch processing that also supports stream processing. Spark is becoming more popular than Hadoop as it supports additional features, supports in-memory processing and supports more flexible workflows than Hadoop. Tools such as Apache Storm [18], Apache Samza [16] are focused on stream processing. Apache Flink [14] is another stream processing system that can also handle batch processing. Currently many computing systems are processor centric, meaning the data moves to where it will be processed. However with ever-increasing distribution and scale of data to be processed, this movement is quite problematic. A solution to this is data-centric computing, where workflows are data-oriented, and processing is moved to where the data naturally resides [47].

As data is collected and processed, more data and metadata is generated. Metadata may include access and modification history, version history and data provenance information. All of this data must be managed to organize it both in terms of content, but also to organize it according to properties such as project or owner. For this reason, data management is becoming very important. While a variety of solutions have been explored [110] [96], proper data management has many challenges, especially in collaboration scenarios where different parties are simultaneously interacting with and creating content [203]. Another challenge is that the scale of problems being explored in many domains as been so great, that high performance computing techniques may need to be applied even to mange the data [106]. Data management can often be domain specific. For example a system for managing data for computational fluid dynamics simulations specifically has been proposed [269].

Data may be structured or unstructured. Structured data has a predetermined structure such as that coming from forms or databases. Examples of structured data sources include systems where the inputs are controlled, such as Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) or Customer Relationship Management (CRM) systems. Unstructured data is generally seen as everything else, that is data



Figure 2.1: The inference cycle integrating both high-end data analyics (HDA) and high performance computing (HPC) for the process of scientific inquiry [21].

that is not well organized and may not come in a clearly defined format. This can include for example a wide variety of data such as files, scientific data, image data or sensor data. Even if a particular piece of data has a structured format, such as image files or documents, the content contained within that format is unstructured.

A Workflow Management System (WfMS) is a system that is critical to complex data processing environments and defines, creates, and manages the execution of workflows [63] [172]. A WfMS is able to interpret the workflow process definition typically in the context of business applications. A SWfMS is a WfMS that handles and manages scientific workflow execution. Scientific workflow management systems (SWFMSs) have been developed to help domain scientists synergistically integrate distributed computations, datasets, and analysis tools to enable and accelerate scientific discoveries. As the variety, velocity and volume of data increases and computational tasks become more complex, management of data is of critical importance to remain organized and secure. This has lead to increased use of Scientific Workflow Management Systems (SWfMSs) [194]. In particular, data-inensive scientific workflows have special considerations to support the large data sets found in modern scientific computing environments [194]. Many SWfMSs are composed of five layers. A common separation is the presentation layer, user services layer, workload execution plan (WEP) generation layer, WEP execution layer and infrastructure layer. These five layers enable SWfMSs users to design, execute and analyze data-intensive scientific workflows throughout the data lifecyle. The aim of scientific workflow systems is to support computational science and accelerate scientific discovery in various ways such as by providing process automation, scalable execution, abstraction, and provenance support (ASAP for short) [63]. In many situations, there are several processes required to achieve a scientific objective. These processes may be simple linear sequences of tasks, or complex graphs of dependencies. Automation of these processes is important so that these scientific objectives may be achieved effectively. Scalable execution refers to the ability to handle compute-intensive and big data loads by supporting distributed and parallel workflows. This includes support for cloud and grid compute resources. There are many considerations when developing SWFMSs that support collaboration [197]. Developing an effective collaborative system requires understanding the sophisticated interaction and hierarchical composition of various dataflows and collaboration patterns to model complex and large-scale scientific workflows. Much thought is also required to capture, manage, and utilize large amounts of distributed, heterogeneous, multi-level, and collaborative provenance data for the reproducibility of scientific results produced from collaborative scientific workflows.

Although provenance has several different meanings in Computer Science [201], in the scientific computing context it refers to the mechanisms that track the use and creation of information over time. This "data lineage" facilitates reproducible science [63]. Provenance is also very important when analyzing and visualizing data as evidenced by tools such as VisTrails [48], which manages the data and metadata of visualization products. VisTrails allows for the ability to explore visualizations by returning to previous versions of a visualization pipeline. Users may also apply a dataflow instance to different data, explore the parameter space of the dataflow, query the visualization history and comparatively visualize different results. This information is very valuable to determine how insights were generated, and to avoid duplication of work.



Figure 2.2: Getting value out of big data may have different meanings and challenges across sectors but always requires tools that can help solve relevant problems [151].

Traditionally scientific discovery consisted of developing theories and designing physical experiments to validate these theories. Now, however computing has become the "third pillar" of science, enabling researchers to use mathematical models to predict complex behavior in senarios such as where the problem is too large or complex to understand through physical experiments, the experiments would be too dangerous to perform safely or the problem is not cost effective to solve by other means. As a result, computational science is now widely used in many diciplines [242]. As businesses wrestle with more complex problems and an expectation to be data-driven, scientific computing is no longer solely within the purview of academic research. Commercial research and even commercial operations are relying more and more on scientific computing to perform tasks such as simulation and data analytics. The influx and collection of data has lead to the rise of "big data" and the scientific community, businesses and governments are all focused on leveraging scientific computing techniques to better understand complex problems and create value [151]. With the rise of big data there are many challenges that must be addressed holistically, including privacy, visualization and collaboration [132].

Data life cycle stages	Activities
Data collection	Recording provenance, data acquisition
Data preprocessing	Data movement (ingestion), cleaning, quality control, filtering, culling, metadata extraction, recording provenance
Data processing	Data movement (moving across different levels of storage hierarchy), computation, analysis, data mining, visualization (for selective processing and refinement), recording provenance
Data post-processing	Data movement (newly generated data from processing stage), formatting and report generation, visualization (viewing of results), recording provenance
Data sharing	Data movement (dissemination to end-users), publishing on portals, data access including cloud-based sharing, recording provenance
Data storage and archival	Data movement (across primary, secondary, and tertiary storage media), database management, aggregation for archival, recording provenance
Data preservation	Checking integrity, performing migration from one storage media to other as the hardware or software technologies become obsolete, recording provenance
Data destruction	Shredding or permanent wiping of data

Figure 2.3: Various stages of the data life cycle [106].

The data lifecycle in the scientific computing context consists of several iterations, and while there are numerous variations of the theme, the stages described by Gomez-Iglesias [106] are representative. Throughout the lifecycle there are many tasks that must be accomplished. Within the context of collaboration, the most important tasks relate to the dissemination and retrieval of data, information, or knowledge. The difference between data, information and knowledge is not well defined [344]. As described by Anthony Liew in [190], data is is the capture, storage, structure, compilation, retrieval, and analysis of records such as media or scienfic measurements. Activities related to data include reconstructing recent historical events for decision making or problem solving. Data is entirely empirical. Information is also likely empirical but probably represents a higher degree of processing or analysis and thus higher value. One way to view knowledge could be the insights gleaned from information. Knowledge may be empirical or not but would typically fit within a cognitive framework that makes it possible for humans to use information. The integration of information into this cognitive framework generates insights that may be recorded or used directly to generate more data or information. The conversion of information into insight and knowledge may lead to responses that are measurable and therefore empirical. An attempt to form a knowledge generating framework for visual analytics is described in [259]. This provides a more structured approach to relating the formation of knowledge within the data life cycle. The focus in this research is not to determine a universal data-information-knowledge model, but rather to emphasize that effective collaboration must safeguard users preference for sharing any one of these categories in their version of a data-information-knowledge model.



Figure 2.4: Relationships amongst knowledge, information, and data [190].



Figure 2.5: Relating the process model for knowledge generation in visual analytics to other models and theories [259].

The scenarios being considered for analysis are increasingly vast and more detailed, resulting in larger volumes, varieties and velocities of data. Approaches such as data mining and artificial intelligence provide even greater potential to solve challenging problems, but can also require more analysis to verify and understand their results [138] [298]. An increasingly wide variety of visual interactive computing technologies are available to visualize and interact with data, creating opportunity to provide more effective tools and greater analysis capabilities. Dynamic and complex information sharing scenarios are becoming more common as is the migration of data across organizations and geographical boundaries. As scientific computing tools and techniques become more popular, both how to share information, data or knowledge, and how to provide security assurances while doing so are major challenges [72]. It may be desirable to share only raw data, rather than information. When sharing and managing data, it may be possible to provide information, in the form of processed data or visualizations, while restricting parts of the data supporting this information. Knowledge and insights gained through ingestion of information may be the most valuable of all, which could result in an increased incentive to share but also possibly an increased incentive to hide such insights.

2.2 Visualization

Visualization of data is very important so patterns that may not be easily understood from purely statistical data analysis can be elucidated. Many of the data visualization tools we see today have their roots in techniques developed before the 20th century. [99]. Despite this, in 1973 Francis Anscombe was compelled to develop an example to demonstrate the value of visualizing data using graphs as part of the analysis process. Commonly referred to as Anscombes Quartet [13], this example shows the value of visualizing data by graphing four carefully crafted datasets that have very similar summary statistics so they are difficult to tell apart using statistical analysis. When graphed, however, the impact of outliers and the difference between the datasets are readily apparent as their graphs vary wildly. This example was required since in 1973 graphs were considered rough, whereas numerical calculation were consider exact, so visual analysis was not popular. The genesis of visualization in scientific Computing as a mainstream topic has been associated with the 1987 report "Visualization in Scientific Computing (VISC): Definition, Domain and Recommendations" [206]. Ever since that time, there has been an increasing awareness of the importance of visual analysis within a scientific computing context.

Much like processing, visualization has undergone many architectural changes as computing technology has evolved. The rise of personal devices, such as tablets and smartphones, and the ubiquity of computing devices in general has driven interest in a variety of visualization approaches [90]. Client rendering, such as on mobile devices [225] or using WebGL [150], is useful if connection to a network is not reliable or a connection to a central service to perform tasks is not desired. However, it is dependent on sufficient capacity and hardware on the client, and rapidly breaks down if large amounts of data must be transferred to the client. Remote rendering [276], using tools such as Paraview Catalyst [22], allow the graphics processing load to be shifted to the server rather than the client. These techniques, however, can lead to increased bandwidth use and a lack of interactivity resulting in a reduced user experience.

Hybrid rendering has been used as compromise between client side rendering and server side

rendering, where some processing is done on the client and some on the server. An example is [209] which describes hybrid visualization tools to improve visualization performance in 3D virtual reality systems such as CAVEs and Powerwalls, as well as augmented reality. Visualization workload may even be shifted between client and server dynamically as needed due to performance variability in the system [299]. Hybrid rendering can reduce data movement by performing some processing on the server, while allowing some data to be processed on the client. This can make an application very responsive, supporting high frame rates with large data sets even with highly interactive applications and when network quality may not be ideal. The benefits of hybrid rendering are particularly important for immersive visualization [292] where latency issues can cause problems such as increasing the risk of VR sickness.

2.3 Immersion

Immersion refers to the objective level of sensory fidelity a VR system provides. Immersive systems can contribute to a sense of presence [208], which is the psychological response to the increased sensory fidelity. Presence is a measure of how much the user feels that they are actually in a virtual world. Presence typically requires immersion; however, not all immersive systems have a high degree of presence. Presence is of critical importance to many areas such as architecture, educational and entertainment. Presence on its own has less direct benefits to scientific visualization, however, a system that provides a high degree presence may allow a user to focus on the data and problem at hand without distraction. The technical factors that contribute to immersion can be separated into different components that can be delivered independently of the other components. Although the effects of these components can be studied separately, they typically combine to provide a level of immersion when working together that is greater than the contribution of each individually. There are various factors that contribute to immersion. According to Dr. Doug Bowman these factors include [36]:

- Field of view (FOV) the size of the visual field (in degrees of visual angle) that can be viewed instantaneously
- Field of regard (FOR) the total size of the visual field (in degrees of visual angle) surrounding the user
- Display size
- Display resolution
- Stereoscopy different images are displayed to each eye, providing a depth cue
- Head-based rendering images are displayed based on head position and orientation
- Realism of lighting
- Frame rate
- Refresh rate

Currently VR and AR are undergoing a renaissance, with a large amount of effort and investment focused on improving the hardware and software underlying these technologies. This will go a long way to improving many of the factors that contribute to immersion.

Several benefits can be realized through the use of immersive environments for collaborating over data. These include:

- 1. Improved spatial perception
- 2. Easy interactions
- 3. Large working space
- 4. Highly effective collaboration

Stereoscopic 3D combined with head tracking in particular provides improved depth cues and spatial understanding. This allows for faster understanding of data and scenarios, and helps ensure that key information is not missed [169] [168] [243] [23]. This can also help significantly when working together with collaborators, since all participants in the collaboration have improved spatial understanding, improving the accuracy of communication and therefore the effectiveness of the collaboration [79].
Easy interactions allow the user to focus on the application and not user interface. Providing a variety of ways of interacting allows far more possibilities than traditional interfaces such as keyboards and mice [179]. Users may use voice, gestures, body movements, advanced controllers or any combination to perform actions in an immersive environment. This supports the goals of design principles such as Reality Based Interaction [131]. Moving beyond the mouse and keyboard can reduce cognitive load and promote fluid interactions supporting optimal flow states, and generally improve outcomes when analyzing complex datasets [85].

A large working space reduces information clutter and allows users to spread out their workflow over a spatial region [204]. This allows users to stay organized and understand how information is linked since visual analytics tools can be viewed with the context of data such as 3D simulation models directly. This allows the user to understand relationships between quantitative data and what is occurring in a scenario. When collaborating this is even more effective, since users can work together in this large virtual space in a manner that reflects how they are used to working together in person.

These benefits have a synergistic effect when combined. The easy and intuitive interactions and the large working space combine to let users work together effectively, while leveraging the increased spatial perception to improve understanding and communication. This allows users to build common understanding and rapidly assess information, especially when complex, three dimensional datasets or scenarios are involved. These benefits apply both scientific visualization [169] [168] [243] and information visualization [39] [215] [321] [45] [244] [103]. Many 2D information visualization methods have been extended to immersive environments [43]. The use of immersion has been shown to have a variety of benefits in a many domains including mining [308], manufacturing, and product design [29]. Immersion has long been seen as a useful technology for collaborating [221], and a host of new works are proving this value.

2.4 Immersive Devices

There are a variety of immersive technologies that fall into three broad categories. The first is entry level portable devices such as smartphone-based VR and AR. The second is mid-tier devices such as the Oculus Rift [230] and HTC Vive [122]. The third category is large, industrial systems that can be outfitted with a large amount of computational power, advanced tracking technologies, low latency and high bandwidth connections to compute resources and high resolution displays, ideally to support group work on large or complex datasets.



Figure 2.6: Operating a virtual Canadarm using an Oculus Rift CV1 with Ultrahaptics for NSERC Science Odyssey.

2.4.1 Large Scale Visualization Facilities

Ideally, applications should work seamlessly on a variety of platforms, moving between head mounted displays (HMDs) and large scale visualization facilities [218]. Large scale visualization environments based on the original CAVE have provided a large amount of value for many groups [31] [163]. In both academic and industrial environments, large-scale permanent immersive facilities are typically combined with a variety of other visualization resources such as highresolution display walls, portable visualization hardware and consumer grade devices. Even designs based on the original CAVE have provided an effective way for groups of co-located individuals to collaborate over data and understand scenarios while maintaining proprioception and interpersonal connection. For larger groups such a facility can be easier to use than many head mounted displays, since many individuals may be brought into a scenario together without the time consuming process of fitting all the group members with head mounted displays and then training them on the devices and the software. Users also find the comfort of lightweight stereoscopic glasses and the interpersonal connection that is maintained in such environments to be desirable compared to virtual reality (VR) head mounted displays for co-located collaboration. The augmented reality (AR) head mounted displays that are currently available lack the visual features and the computational capacity to be compelling for data-intensive scientific work. Although this technology will become much better over time, it will be a long time before the visual characteristics and computational power of commodity devices can compare to a dedicated, large scale visualization infrastructure. Also, it will likely be a long time before headsets capable of industrial work are as comfortable over time as lightweight stereo glasses. Users have also reported that for applications such as working with reservoir data, the additional visual clutter introduced by viewing the physical environment while working in augmented reality is not needed and may actually be a distraction. Extremely high resolution display panels and projectors utilizing laser-based technology are far superior to previous technologies, providing a very high degree of visual fidelity in large-scale visualization environments, while requiring far less long term maintenance effort.



Figure 2.7: An application using a HMD with hand tracking, and the CAVE.

In additional to the original four sided CAVE, CAVEs may come with as many as six sides, vary greatly in size and tracking technology, and have been outfitted with a variety of movement devices, including spheres for walking [178] [159]. There are also many alternatives to the original CAVE design [69]. Some examples include CAVE2 [92], the Cyber-CANOE [143], StarCAVE [70], the AlloSphere [10] [162], the YURT [41] and the Reality Deck [236]. Domes also can be used to provide immersive experiences [174] and are increasingly shifting from simple large scale theatres to interactive visualization spaces [175] for science [166] or education [333]. Low cost and portable immersive systems have also been developed such as IQ-stations, which are mobile one wall inexpensive immersive displays [275] [274]. A variety of other approches to low cost, portable immersive systems have also been proposed [34] [293] [12] [127] [107] [140].

The original CAVE design does not support multiple correct stereoscopic view perspectives [240] [311]. Although this can be mitigated through software techniques [88] [286], typically only one person can be motion tracked at one time with the 3D viewpoint attached. When that person moves, others see a distorted view of 3D images unless they are standing very close to the

tracked person to see the same viewpoint perspective. Newer systems such as the CAVE2 make use of Omnistereo [279] to support group collaboration with correct perspectives. Omnistereo is known by several other names including "Panoptic Stereo", "Panoptic 3D", and "Omnidirectional Stereo". Omnistereo rendering for each screen segment uses the fixed or tracked head position, but determines eye locations and a viewing direction normal to each screen segment. In this case all viewers still share the perspective of the tracked head position, although they are also free to move around looking in any direction and still have a reasonably comfortable stereo viewing experience. The stereo image pair for each wall segment is rendered as if the tracked viewer were looking directly at the plane of each screen segment. There is no chance of a non-tracked viewer not seeing stereo or seeing a reversed stereo image. Omnistereo imaging creates a panoramicscale representation of an entire 3D scene by pre-generating multiple viewpoints. All possible viewpoints are created before display. Even if one person is controlling the camera, the entire scene can move with correct perspective for all viewpoints. This enables large groups to share in an immersive tracked experience because images are not distorted to one viewpoint. The scene creation has to be taken into account in display design. Omnistereo will only present correctly when adjoining screens are at angles of 120 degrees or more.

The traditional cube shaped CAVE design can primarily be used only as a large scale VR environment. Many newer visualization spaces, including the Barco MoVE [25] and even more recently the CAVE2, are designed to be more versitile by suporting a variety of different visualization workflows including combining 2D, 3D, temporal, and multivariate datasets [249]. These workflows often require supporting software to make optimal use of the hardware [91].

Other visualization facilites may use projectors that directly support multiple correct stereoscopic views. For example Digital Projection [75] makes a MultiView projector based on the INSIGHT Dual Laser 4K projector that is based on research at Bauhaus University Weimar [101]. Normally, a projector operates at 120 Hz for high quality Active 3D stereoscopic viewing. The MultiView projector operates at 360 Hz providing three 120 Hz viewing times. Two projectors may be linked to provide six 120 Hz viewing times. If a 4th person viewed an image in a 3-viewer MultiView system using additional MultiView glasses, their eyewear would share the eyepoint (and sync pulse) of one of the three viewers in the system. This approach has provided excellent results [164] [100]. Other approaches have been developed using multiple projectors to provide a multi-user stereoscopic environment [113].

The ability to directly connect the visualization infrastructure via a fast, low latency interconnect to HPC or HDA compute resources is an advantage of this centralized infrastructure. The graphics pipeline workload may be shifted to a remote compute resource where data is stored, and computation is performed [193]. This allows distributed and remote visualization techniques [4] [3] that are scalable to very large data sets without transmitting data back and forth to the client. However remote visualization has challenges such as latency, that can hinder the user experience in interactive applications [276]. A low-latency dedicated network connection between the computational resource and the visualization infrastructure can mitigate the limitations of remote rendering, and allow for fewer interaction design compromises. The integration of hybrid techniques that leverage the computational capacities on the client in these systems provides even more capabilities. A large amount of computational power can be integrated into a large scale visualization environment that can be leveraged to provide high-frame rates and fluid interaction with large datasets. This provdes more flexibility regarding the architecture which can improve the ability to visualize and interact with large models or data sets by leveraging the greater client graphics processing capabilities to enhance hybrid rendering schemes [87] [170]. The computational power on the client may also be leveraged for the processing of data [93]. Centralized visualization infrastructure with a large amount of graphics and data processing capability can provide an ideal tool for immersive analytics workflows [204] [285] especially in modern "big data" scenarios. These visualization facilities are highly interactive and collaborative environments that support scientific visualization [231], product design, manufacturing [29], and education [303].

These large scale immersive visualization facilities may also be linked together with other

visualization centres for greater collaborative capabilities. For instance, the University of Hawaii at Manoa is linking their visualzation resources such as the CyberCANOE across the Hawaiian Islands [143]. Other examples where visualization resources are linked include [241] and [97]. These visualization environments may also be linked with commodity immersive devices and non-immersive devices.



Figure 2.8: Exploration of an eukaryotic cell model in a CAVE [337] [338].

2.5 Collaboration

Within industrial organizational literature, there is a great deal of interest in both internal and external collaboration. Especially in industries where innovation is critical, it is often important for organizations to work closely with other organizations in an integrated, collaborative manner [66]. The formation of strategic alliances with other organizations is also very important [309]. Collaborative analysis of large datasets has shown great benefit for organizations [44], but only if certain conditions are met. There are many factors related to team dynamics that relate to the effectiveness of this teamwork. Careful design of tools can also help promote positive behaviors that support effective team dynamics. The rise of collaborative VR applications for science [129] or for social collaboration [320] [296] will lead to many security and privacy challenges in these environments. Works such as [234] have noted the possibility of using virtual worlds for collaboration, however they investigated public spaces such as Second Life, which are not suitable due to security concerns. Citi Holographic Workstation for Financial Trading [1] makes use of ad hoc mixed reality spaces for collaboration and discussion. This allows the trader to work with team members, colleagues, and clients in a way that is both personal and immediate. Although there is a willingness on the part of organizations to use immersive technologies, they will unlock the potential of these technologies only if they are carefully designed to facilitate effective collaboration.

The rise of innovation ecosystems, in which firms depend on one another to collectively provide and create value for consumer in a tight-knit network of integrated organizations, demands effective collaboration between organizations [65]. Partnerships between separate organizations to share resources collaboratively toward mutually beneficial goals is an important strategy. Among many desirable outcomes, alliances can reduce costs, provide access to new technology, and improve research and development endeavours. However, without the proper tools, this can be difficult for firms to manage. Collaborative arrangements come with risks and many challenges. To support these ways of working together, it is important to find ways to mitigate these risks, including supporting a high degree of control over the dissemination of information.

2.6 Application Domain: Reservoir Engineering

An industrial example of scientific computing is reservoir engineering. This is a highly technical field that relies heavily on mathematical modelling to represent the physical behaviors that underlie petroleum recovery techniques [54]. This typically involves understanding how fluids such as oil, gas and water propagate through porous media such as rock. There are many other physical behav-

iors that must be considered such as thermal physics, geomechanics, and even electromagnetics.

Oil and gas exploration, development and production use a large volume of extremely varied data that presents many visualization and analysis challenges. For instance, reservoir engineers must determine the optimal method of extracting hydrocarbons from the subsurface. Since the subsurface cannot be directly observed, several data sources are used to build a statistical model of the subsurface. The reservoir engineer must consider layers of porous media such as rock with different properties within the context of this model. These layers must have particular morphological features and properties that allow hydrocarbons to be trapped in place [105]. A key problem faced by reservoir engineers is to predict where fluids are located based on the geological property values and structure of the rock, and to predict how these fluids will flow through the media under different extraction scenarios. Therefore, they must both visualize the structure and also have a clear understanding of the properties and the predicted fluid flow behaviors within the model. Adding to the complexity, the model is based on uncertain and incomplete data, as well as interpretations of that data by subject matter experts [332]. For this reason it is extremely important to have tools that can clearly represent as much information as possible, and support collaboration between a variety of subject matter experts [82]. Most of the information that must be considered, such as a potential hydrocarbon trap, is contained within the volume of the subsurface model. However, it is highly context dependent, since the surrounding structure and properties will change the extraction plan. For this reason, it is important to have effective methods of visualizing the interior of the 3D volume, while maintaining important contextual information [67]. Volume data, such as used to visualize a subsurface model, consists of a 3D dataset discretized using a 3D grid. The 3D grid can take a variety of forms, each with their own unique challenges for visualization and analysis [289]. In a reservoir model, the morphology of specific features and general structure of the model are very important. This is represented by the position of the property values in the 3D grid. Each of these locations on the grid may contain many data values representing, for example, properties of the media that is visualized, such as the porosity or permeability of the rock, or the

fluid content within the volume. Features such as wells and faults must be visualized, and the additional complexities introduced by fracture networks [7] or unconventional extraction methods [89] must also be visualized and analysed. Information must also provide appropriate access controls and protection mechanisms to safeguard information, while providing an effective collaboration experience.



Figure 2.9: Collaboration is required across disciplines in oil and gas exploration throughout the exploration, development and production cycle [288].

Providing software and hardware tools that help users work with this data in an effective manner is very important. However, developing these tools is very challenging in a highly technical field working with these complex datasets. The use of visual interactive computing technologies is an effective and proven method to help with these complexities [287]. One particularly promising visual interactive computing technology that has been applied to scientific visualization challenges in general and reservoir engineering in particular is virtual reality.

When dealing with 3D volume data, especially when a large degree of spatial context is needed to perform analysis tasks involving spatial judgement or there are complex structures, immersion, a key component of virtual reality, has been shown to provide advantages [243]. These advantages include increased field of view, increased field of regard and increased perception of spatial relationships [36]. These perceptual advantages have been shown to improve tasks relevant to reservoir engineering for the analysis of volume data [169] and isosurface visualization of volume datasets [168]. The benefits of immersion extend beyond purely perceptual. The potential for intuitive and natural interactions is greater in immersive environments, and there is an increased working space in which to interact with data [37] [163]. Virtual reality provides the opportunity for collaborative tools that allow diverse teams to work together in a highly interactive and effective manner [79] [223]. Virtual reality is also an engaging and interactive medium for working with reservoir data, making it ideal for training and communication of complex ideas found in reservoir engineering. When the perceptual benefits of immersion are coupled with the high degree of interaction and collaboration and a large working space, we have tools that can improve the efficiencies of many workflows. For example, Halliburton has reported a reduction of certain tasks from 80 days to 8 hours using collaborative virtual reality tools [71].

Compared with the current situation, prior generations of virtual reality hardware consisted of far less capable hardware, vastly reduced graphics capabilities, and a very immature understanding of VR user experience design and 3D user interface design. This translated into expensive, difficult to use hardware, poor user experiences, frustrating interfaces, simulation sickness and a relative inability to design experiences to provide a high-value visual analytics experience that directly supports the user workflow. Despite these limitations, initial explorations of the technology showed many benefits relevant to the exploration of scientific data in general [316] and reservoir engineering in particular [213] [192] [189]. For instance, virtual reality has shown benefits for well path planning [111] and visualizing the internal micro-structure of rocks [144]. These early attempts

at immersive applications were regarded as promising; however, several factors were identified by Kinsland and Borst that prevented immersion from fulfilling its promise [152]. Most of these factors were related to the lack of easy to use and accessible hardware as well as a lack of maturity regarding 3D user interfaces and immersive design principles. In the 1980s, 3D graphics were beginning to be used for reservoir simulation. However 3D graphics were not considered essential as it was thought engineers could do their work with 2D graphs [325]. Only in the 1990's was 3D graphics in reservoir simulation considered valuable [315]. It is possible that the previous lack of adoption of immersive technology is a natural growing pain as technology matures and industries eventually learn how to apply it to their business. Several reservoir engineering tools have been developed for analysing reservoir data in an effort to utilize modern hardware and design principles, while also attempting to mitigate the factors that were reported to hinder adoption in previous immersive tools for reservoir engineering. Tools such as [245] and [51] have received very positive feedback and have caused the industry to ask for further development of these tools so that they can be used for reservoir engineering work. This positive feedback is encouraging and suggests that VR may someday become integral to the oil and gas Industry in general and reservoir simulation in particular.

The importance of innovation and technology in sustaining the petroleum and petrochemical industry is well understood, and virtual reality is playing an increasingly important role in the industry [340] [119]. Modern virtual reality has already provided benefit to many other professional scientific fields such as medicine [76], physics [220], biology [81], and geosciences [31]. This technology has the capability to transform and drive efficiencies in a variety of industries, and the development of tools in reservoir engineering provides concepts and techniques that may be applied to all industries.



Figure 2.10: Visualizing reservoir connectivity [245].

2.7 Security Components

Security and privacy are related but separate concerns. In the context of this work, privacy is the ability for a user to have control over their information and how it is disseminated. This includes both personal information, and information that the user has access to and is responsable for within an industrial context. Security provides assurances that these user preferences regarding how information should be shared will be upheld. Although not sufficient to ensure security, mechanisims to provide confidentiality, integrity and availability of data or systems (the CIA Triad) are thought to be necessary conditions for information security [284]. A few of the security components that are discussed in this work are elaborated on here due to their importance in any system that hopes to provide security and privacy assurances.

2.7.1 Authentication

Authentication is the process of verifying the identity of an entity, typically a user. Once the identity of an entity is authenticated, then a system can decide if that verified entity is authorized to do



Figure 2.11: Examples of data used to continuously authenticate on mobile devices [237]

some action such as join a collaboration session or access data. The first remote computer authentication scheme was proposed by Lamport [171] and required only a username and a password to access the system. Authentication has traditionally been accomplished by "something-you-know", "something-you-have", or "something-you-are". In a "something-you-know" authentication system, users use a shared secret such as a password, gesture or pattern to authenticate. However if the shared secret becomes known to others, then they can falsely authenticate as the user. "Somethingyou-have" authentication systems rely upon a physical item such as a token or device that is required to authenticate. The user can not be falsely authenticated by an attacker that knows a shared secret, however if the object is lost or stolen, then anyone in possession of the item may authenticate as the identity tied to the object. In a "something-you-are" authentication scheme, then attributes of a user such as biometrics or traits of a user are used to verify the identity. The traits that are used may be physiological or behavioral. Since these attributes are a part of the user, they can not be easily lost unlike "something-you-have" schemes. However they can be duplicated, and since they are tied to the user, a compromise can be difficult to contain, since the biometrics or traits can not generally be easily changed. Multi-factor authentication [232] combines various authentication methods, ideally across the different categories, to take advantage of the combined benefits of different approaches, while mitigating the disadvantages of the various authentication schemes. For example, if a "something-you-have" scheme is combined with a "something-youknow" scheme, then an impersonator must learn the shared secret and steal the item required for authentication, making the process much harder.

Continuous authentication schemes use one or more authentication mechanisims to continuously assess the current context, taking into account information such as user behaviours or biometrics and use this as basis to re-authenticate them periodically throughout a session [273]. A variety of continuous authentication methods have been applied to mobile devices [237], using various device sensors individually or together as shown in Figure 2.11. If sufficient information to ensure authorization is no longer available, the system will de-authenticate. This is more secure since it is no longer possible for another identity to use a session or device that has been left in an authenticated state. Also, since the authentication is formed based on constant re-assessment of the data, other factors can be considered such as location, other users present or data in the session at the same time to provide a context, of which the authentication is one piece of verified information. The formation of a context allows users to adapt to dynamic, changing environments, such as the addition of new data or individuals during a collaboration session. It is also more convenient, since users can more effortlessly work with a variety of devices and seamlessly move between them in a secure and convenient manner.

Although manually entering credentials such as passwords and PINs is still very common, entering this information when using immersive technologies such as head mounted virtual and augmented reality systems is clumsy and tiresome. For this reason, transparent authentication schemes are desirable since they do improve usability. Wearable authentication has a great deal of potential, despite being realatively unexplored [30]. In works such as "A privacy-aware continuous authentication scheme for proximity-based access control" [6], the need to apply continuous and proximity based authentication to various scenarios has been recognized. For example, a frame-

work for continuous authentication in ubiquitous computing environments has been proposed [56]. An example of a device that supports continuous authentication is the Nymi band [229], shown in Figure 2.12, which uses the rhythm of a users heartbeat to maintain an authenticated state [228]. Although this system could be ideal for virtual and augmented reality devices, it is not natively supported on Windows 10 Holographic at the moment, and is not usable on devices such as the Microsoft Hololens [211] for this reason. However, devices such as this allow authenticated sessions to be initiated and terminated dynamically supporting the continuous authentication, and context aware applications.



Figure 2.12: Nymi wearable is well suited for continuous authentication.

2.7.2 Access Control

Once a user has been authenticated to verify their identity, access control policy determines what exactly can be done using that identity, or what a user is authorized to do. An access control model is used to determine the proper relationship between subjects (entities that can perform actions) and objects (resources for which access should be controlled). A simple access control policy may be described in an access control matrix, as originally proposed by [173]

A key method of protecting information is by means of an access control system. The definition of high level rules or policies are formulated into a security model which is then used to determine if a given access request is to be granted or denied. This decision is then enforced by an access control mechanism.

The mandatory access control (MAC) model puts the control and management of access in the hands of the data owner instead of the end user by prescribing security labels to subjects and objects. Traditionally, lattice-based models such as Bell-LaPadula or Biba control the flow of information between the levels of classification [265].

Another form of access control policy is discretionary access control (DAC). In these models each object has an owner, and the access control is dictated by the owner, who may change the access to the object and allow or deny access based on an access control list, a group membership or other criteria available in the system.

Role-based access control (RBAC) [266] is also a common solution to access control. In rolebased access control, access is restricted based on roles assigned to users. This is a very common method in many systems at the time of this writing. One limitation of RBAC is that roles are rigid. If a user is granted access via their role, that user gains access to the resource regardless of the situation. In many modern environments with ubiquitous computing and distributed collaboration, a more nuanced and contextually sensitive control system can help ensure that everyone has access to all of the data they need, but only the data they need for a specific purpose.

Moving beyond MAC, DAC or RBAC are access control models which are more suitable for

a variety of complex situations that occur in modern computing environments such as dynamic collaboration contexts. One example that is increasingly being implemented in industry is Attribute Based Access Control [141]. Many others are primarily found in research literature but hold a great deal of promise. Some proposed access control policies that may have applicability to collaboration over sensitive data include access control policies that balance risk with trust [20], Team-based Access Control (TMAC) [306], Relationship Based access control [98], and Group Centric Access control [161].

Attribute-Based Access Control [124] [126] is a recent and popular approach to enterprise access controls that is well suited to dynamic and distributed systems. For example, compared to RBAC, ABAC is newer, simpler to implement in many environments, and accommodates real-time environmental states as access control parameters. It is adaptable and scalable to a wide variety of modern data-intensive contexts [52]. In a basic ABAC access control scenario, an access control decision is made using an access control policy, which takes as input various attributes defined by the system. These attributes can include environmental conditions (attributes), subject attributes and the object attributes. Once the policy is evaluated against these attributes, a policy decision is made.

Other access control policy models may be implemented using ABAC. For example RBAC may be implemented using an attribute based model. Due to the ease of administration and widespread familiarity with role based access control, a good solution may be to combine ABAC with RBAC [134]. Once roles become one of several possible attributes, the advantages of RBAC are lost since all the features of a RBAC system may be provided, while provding the flexibility and control of additional attributes [59]. Although ABAC, does not naitively have provisions for context, privacy issues or trust relationships these may be built using ABAC attributes [335] [282].

Specifications for the comparison and evaluation of access control models [117] [125] have been developed. Attempts to develop a methodology for selecting access control models such as found in [26] or [137] have been proposed. Selection criteria includes the ease of administration, enforcement capabilities, performance properties and the support properties. Ease of administration can be dependent on the situation, as simpler access control methods are simpler to implement for the situations for which they are suited, but become difficult to administer when the scenarios become more complex. Important enforcement capabilities include the ability to uphold the principle of least privilege, support for delegation of access, separation of duty support and granularity of control.

In a survey of security-related research in ubiquitous computing [165], a number of requirements were identified for authentication and access control mechanisms in ubiquitous computing environments. These included adaptivity to context, or the ability to support users that move freely, and access services or information at any time. Access controls that can work on a context determined by various factors are more suitable for these scenarios. For this reason, context adaptive access control polices have been investigated for highly dynamic scenarios such as found when collaborating in pervaisive computing environments [310].

There are many considerations needed when implementing attribute based access control [123]. Although very flexible, ABAC can also be complex to manage and implement [126]. For this reason how and where to integrate the architectural components of ABAC must be decided carefully. How to manage attributes and how to articulate policy efficiently is also a key design consideration. In addition to the basic policy, attribute, and AC mechanism requirements, organizations wishing to implement ABAC must support management functions for enterprise policy development and distribution, enterprise identity and subject attributes, subject attribute sharing, enterprise object attributes, authentication, and AC mechanism deployment and distribution. Despite these implementation complexities, ABAC is getting traction as a real-world solution and is displacing incumbents such as RBAC due to its increased functionality and suitability for modern computing environments.

In order to describe the logic involved with the policy, a policy description mechanism must be implemented. For ABAC, there are currently two main standards used to describe ABAC policy:

XACML and NGAC.

XACML (Extensible Access Control Mark-up Language) [290] is an XML-based policy standard available since 2003. Although complex policy decisions can be described in the XACML access control policy language, poor implementation can result in performance problems during policy evaluation as well as errors in the policy logic which may result in information leakage. Techniques have been developed such as [222] which can parse and transform complex logical expressions in policies into decision tree structures, helping mitigate performance issues, as well as other policy management issues.

A newer option is Next Generation Access Control (NGAC). Both the XACML and NGAC standards support the expression and enforcement of vastly diverse access controls but differ with respect to the manner in which access control policies and attributes are specified and managed, and decisions are computed and enforced [95]. XACML and NGAC differ significantly in their expression and management of policies, treatment of attributes, computation of decisions, and representation of requests. Many of these differences stem from the methods with which they represent policies and attributes. XACMLs approach is to define policies by using logical formulas involving attribute values, while NGAC uses enumeration involving configurations of relations.

Chapter 3

Related Work

There are several themes that are related to the contributions of this work. The primary themes are immersion, reservoir engineering, collaboration and security. Immersion and its application to reservoir engineering has been discussed in the background chapter. Some previous works related to collaboration incorporating immersion will be discussed as this provides an overview of how immersion has been used to support collaboration. Although these works demonstrate examples of collaboration using immersion, security concerns are not addressed. Next, works that consider security in immersive environments provide an understanding of what has been done to provide security for immersive tools. These works do not apply the visual protection mechanisms used in this work and are not applied to reservoir engineering. A large number of these works are concerned only with augmented reality, and many do not consider collaboration. Mixed reality collaboration is discussed next, to show works that consider the security concerns when collaborating between virtual and physical worlds, although immersion is not necessarily utilized. These works show the confusion that can arise when working between shared spaces, especially between virtual and physical collaboration spaces. These works are important to this work, since they are directly applicable to the security concerns described when working between shared spaces. The next section describes some visual protection mechanisms, although most are not used in the context of collaboration or even immersion. These techniques are very important, however. These techniques have directly informed the design of the visual protection mechanism in this work. Finally, a variety of methods that could support collaborating over sensitive datasets rather than visual representations are presented. Although these works are less relevant as they apply to numerical data rather than visualizations, they inspired the concept of sharing partial information when collaborating. A comprehensive secure collaboration solution would likely have to incorporate these techniques.

3.1 Collaboration Incorporating Immersion

Collaborative immersive tools have been developed to support a variety of tasks related to many domains such as data visualization [79] [223] [149], mining [27] and engineering [319]. There are many other collaborative immersive applications emerging. CoVAR is a system that supports augmented reality and virtual reality collaboration [239]. This system uses two virtual cues to support collaboration awareness. A field of view cue shows the boundary of what other users can see through their display to inform others what they are looking at. The second is a gaze cue, showing the eye gaze direction. SharedSphere [180] is a system for sharing a view of a 360 video with a collaborator with immersive devices that also utilizes cues to communicate where users are looking. The DIGISCOPE project enables collaboration between large visualization infrastructures such as wall displays and CAVEs [97]. A preliminary framework for analyzing VR and AR collaboration across a variety of devices has been proposed [300]. The goal of this framework is to describe the technological configuration and interaction space used in a collaboration. None of these works address the security concerns of using immersive technologies for collaborating over sensitive data using a variety of technologies from the reality-virtuality continuum.

3.2 Security and Immersion

Systems such as Vampire Mirrors and Privacy Lamps have been proposed that allow users to use a natural means of understanding which obects are shared and which are private in immersive environments [46]. Shrestha et al. have provided an overview of attacks and defences on wearable computing devices including augmented reality devices [277]. In this work they consider the high level attacks and defences and provide some guidelines for security requirements to consider when using wearable technologies.

Augmented reality (AR) security has been discussed broadly in a variety of works such as [256]. In this work security and privacy challenges for AR have been organized along two axes: system scope and functionality. Functionality is categorized into output, input and data access. The

authors consider these functionality challenges as they arise in three different system scopes: single applications, multiple applications and multiple systems. Examples of these challenges chiefly relate to the sharing of input and output devices in real time and the complex access controls that are required on sensor data. The authors note, however, that this is a relatively unexplored medium. Despite the challenges, there are many opportunities to address security and privacy in novel ways. Denning et al. [73] consider bystander privacy when using augmented reality glasses. They investigated the privacy perspectives of bystanders through semi-structured interviews of cafe patrons using a glasses-style AR mock up. This provided insight such as the greater perceived threat when using wearable AR devices due to the subtleness of recording using these devices and the desire to be notified and ideally even asked permission before recording. The authors discussed design considerations when using these devices and several potential design axes such as push or pull of privacy preference information, context awareness of proximity or location, and enforcement of strict policy rules related to the sharing or gathering of information rather than depending on a user or application to respect preferences. An example proposed by the authors is to use facial recognition to identify users, and then use that to determine preferences and obfuscate personally identifiable information such as their face in stored video. Issues around law and policy of augmented reality have been discussed [255]. These include the legal and policy issues around privacy, free speech, discrimination and safety. A world-driven access control policy has been proposed [257] that allows real-world objects to explicitly specify access control policies to mitigate the privacy and security concerns of augmented reality devices that are continuously gathering sensor data about their environment. This policy allows functionality such as deactivating sensors or video recording depending on location or proximity to physical objects, and providing notifications to the user of the AR device. PrivacyManager [183] is an access control framework for augmented reality applications that considers various contextual factors such as location, network signals, ambient light, sound, and other inputs. Based on these factors, sensors such as the camera or microphone on an augmented reality device may be disabled. Lebeck et al. have developed an

augmented reality platform called Arya [177] that secures the augmented reality output displayed to the user according to a policy framework. Objects to be displayed have attributes that are used for policy decisions and attributes can be related to the visual properties of the AR objects or the relationships between the AR objects and other virtual or real-world objects. It has been proposed that user-driven access control is a way to manage the complexity of user permission mangement and prevent negative effects such as prompt-fatigue [254]. User-driven access control uses the way that users naturally interact with applications to gather permission-granting information. The authors note that platforms such as augmented reality minimize direct user interaction with applications, presenting unique challenges when designing systems that utilize user-driven access control.

A variety of works have considered how to authenticate users in immersive devices. Yu et al. [334] attempted to provide usable authentication systems for virtual reality by exploring a variety of authentication mechanisms. They examined PIN codes, 2D patterns and 3D pattern passwords. Although the 2D methods were easier for the user, they were also the easiest to guess by watching videos of the VR user authenticate. George et al. also studied PIN entry and 2D patterns as authentication mechanisms in virtual reality [104]. They note that PIN and pattern entry pads presented in VR provide greater security from shoulder surfing attacks than traditional devices due to a private visual channel. However, they report an 18% success rate of observational attacks when entering credentials by these means. A continuous authentication scheme that makes use of the eye movements of immersive headset users has been developed [341]. Although there is often an assumption that there is no leakage of information from the private visual channel, it has been shown this is not always the case [156].

The Looks Good to Me (LGTM) protocol [102] has been developed to act as a usable and secure authentication protocol for augmented reality using facial recognition and wireless location, specifically designed for sharing information in augmented reality. Holopair [281] proposes a protocol to securely pair Microsoft Hololens devices. The authors of Holopair introduce the concept of a secure visual channel that can be used in addition to the wireless network channel to provide authentication. This protocol takes advantage of the fact that different users can overlay unique information over their view to send an authentication pattern to a user that they wish to pair with. Combined with the use of the wireless channel to transmit data such as public keys, they are able to authenticate the user of their choosing and then communicate securely. Further to this, they claim that shared collaboration that includes holographic and real-world objects is core to augmented reality applications and calls for secured connections between users.

Although very generalized, a review of security related research in ubiquitious computing [165] reveals several insights relevant to collaboration in a dynamic virtual and augmented reality setting. These include identification of requirements for authentication and access control in ubiquitous computing environments. There is a need for context-aware access control not provided by access control policies found in traditional distributed environments such as role-based access control (RBAC). Context-aware policies that can at least consider time and space dimensions are suggested. Policies must also be adaptable to users behavior and capable of assigning attributes based on their behavior and able to manage trust relationships. Dynamic recognition of users is also desired either through identity based authentication mechanisms that provide continuous, unobtrusive authentication are ideal. They also outline a variety of privacy protection mechanisms, such as masking of identification, limiting of actions based on proximity, building proximity based trust relationships, consent negotiation for recording of information, and obfuscation of information by degrading the quality of information.

A survey of access control models for pervasive environments [86] considers various proposed access control models for scenarios where traditional approaches such as Mandatory Access Control (MAC), Discretionary Access Control (DAC) and Role Based Access Control (RBAC) are not suitable. These access control methods are better suited to traditional centralized and static environments where the subjects and objects are known and relatively static and permissions do not change frequently. They consider four classes of access control models: context-aware, attributebased, user behavior-based and relation based.

There is a substantial amount of work exploring security and privacy in immersive environments. Much of this work is focused on securing augmented reality systems. There is also a fair amount of work around authentication methods in immersive environments. Many works can be found related to determining appropriate access control policies for dynamic, contextual situations. There are few works that address the security concerns of using immersive environments for collaboration over data.

3.3 Mixed Reality Collaboration and Security

There are some works looking at security and privacy in collaborative environments consisting of both physical and virtual worlds. Although these are not focused on immersive technologies there are some similar concerns, especially when integrating a variety of platforms such as augmented reality and virtual reality.

SecSpace [250] is a toolkit for usable privacy and security in mixed reality collaborative environments that combine physical and virtual spaces. Privacy-related actions may be performed in either virtual or physical space and generate effects simultaneously in both spaces. Mixedpresence systems try to achieve fluid collaboration between remote and co-located users, however this can make it difficult to understand how actions in one location are manifested in the other location. Privacy and security must be managed across both the physical channel amongst co-located collaborators and the virtual channel to remote collaborators.

Further explorations of collaboration in mixed reality consisting of a physical and virtual environment were performed [262]. In this work, two scenarios were considered involving hiding and sharing virtual documents around a tabletop. In one, a solo display showed the remote collaborator as an avatar. In the second scenario, circumambient displays showed the rest of the connected virtual environment. Four cues were explored: interactive, communication-based, ambient and infrastructure. The authors look to blended interaction [133] to enable cooperative workflows that integrate physical and digital environments, while maintaining the primacy of physical actions in co-located collaboration when using the digital tools and services. From this paper, it is clear that when there are mixed virtual and physical environments, it is important to make sure that users can clearly understand what is viewable by other participants. It is important to help collaborators understand how behaviors in one environment are reflected in the other environment. Participants were also very interested in understanding how they were presented to remote collaborators.

3.4 Visual Security Controls

Typically, access to information is provided on an all-or-nothing basis, depending on whether the user successfully authenticates at the beginning of a session. This ignores the fact that tasks performed during a collaboration may have a range of sensitivities, depending on the nature of the data and the context. For this reason access control methods must be developed that allow for partial disclosure of information. In many visualization contexts, there is value in seeing context without focus or conceptual views of information, rather than high fidelity views.

One common method of applying security in a visualization context is to limit the information leaving a central server. Traditionally this means that only image based visualization tools are possible on clients, however more innovative techniques have been developed to prevent data from moving to clients, while still allowing for greater interactivity than image based tools.

As an example Rixels [9] is a technique that renders "rich pixels" by perform much processing on the server, however there is still sufficient detail due to the attributes of the rich pixels to instantly perform post-processing operations also on the client to reduce bandwidth and improve the interactivity. Due to the processing steps on the server, the amount of information that is transmitted is limited. However, a fundamental problem still exists. Although many technologies protect data at rest or in transit using tools such as encryption, less thought is given to how to protect the information that is displayed on screen. In a study commissioned by 3M, this visual security was identified as often ignored yet important to the enterprise security ecosystem [307].

Attempts have been made to prevent leakage of visual information. Web browser privacy blinders have been developed [302] that hide some sensitive information while allowing other less sensitive information to be viewable. For example [343] designed a tablet that detects when other are looking at the screen and provides awareness using glyphs.

Visual protection mechanisms that alter the scene of an image or video to prevent inadvertent sharing of sensitive details in media such as video or digital photographs have been proposed [235]. A large focus of these works are to remove identifiers from content so that privacy may be protected, while still sharing media. These include blurring or blocking of marked sensitive regions [187] [247], cartooning [118] [336] or painting [295]. Ribaric et al [252], for instance, describe a variety of techniques to alter media to remove personal identifiers. Identifiers may be non-biometric, physiological and behavioural biometric, and soft biometric identifiers. This can include the removal of information such as tattoos, modification of facial data to make it difficult to re-create an accurate face model, or scrambling of identifiers. Multimodal de-identification methods that simultaneously hide, remove or substitute different types of personal identification are also needed to protect privacy of individuals.

Although these methods to protect identifiers are a very different application than protecting data during a collaborative sensemaking scenario, the core of the problem is similar. When considering a collaboration scenario involving data, the need for protection of sensitive or revealing attributes of the data is essential when collaborating with users that have different levels of access to the data.

Another approach that is similar combines obfuscated and visible data for the benefit of the user [158] by blurring areas that are not important so a user may focus on areas of interest. This is quite different than visual protections, which focusing on reducing the fidelity of sensitive content, while providing some contextual information. However, it does provide a similar overall mechanism, although with a different goal.

3.5 Other Security Controls

Other techniques that are not directly related can be relevant. One exmaple is anonymizing datasets using methods such as k-Anonymity [297]. Differential privacy methods allow datasets to be analyzed and results to be used for machine learning techniques [2] while maintaining privacy of the training datasets. This kind of separation between the raw data and the results of actions performed on the data may be leveraged to provide useful information to those with restricted clearance. DataSHIELD [328] is another approach to sharing sensitive information by allowing the analysis of sensitive individual-level data from one dataset, and the co-analysis of this data from several studies simultaneously without physically pooling them or disclosing any data. Technologies such as these ideally would work together with visual protections to provide a comprehensive solution for collaborating over sensitive data.

Chapter 4

Immersive Reservoir Visualization Tool

This tool was developed in collaboration with Emil Selin, Steven Samoil and Roberta Mota.

A prerequisite to validating security features is a tool that is usable for collaboration over reservoir data. This chapter describes the design considerations, features and feedback regarding this tool. With the tool in place, the next steps are to understand some of the collaboration scenarios in which it may be used, understand the risks in these scenarios and then consider possible security features. From here a potential solution may be implemented, and an evaluation performed to determine the quality of the solution.

The immersive tool provides reservoir engineers with a tool for analysing 3D reservoir data using augmented and virtual reality HMDs and a CAVE. The complicated 3D datasets and analysis required to support reservoir engineering provide an ideal use case for immersion. Improved spatial perception allows users to rapidly understand the nuances of 3D reservoir models. The variety of interaction mechanisms have the potential to contribute to more natural interactions that help users focus on the task rather than the interface, if designed properly [227]. The increased working space will allow models to be visualized at human scale, allowing for easy analysis, and data may be displayed without cluttering up precious screen space. The ability for collaborators to leverage these benefits together in real-time as collaboration capabilities are added also provides benefit since input from a variety of professionals is typically required throughout the exploration, development and production cycles.

4.1 Overview

The oil and gas industry has long used visualization to help analyse the large, complex datasets that are commonly encountered in this field. Early attempts at immersive applications were regarded as

promising, however several factors were identified by Kinsland and Borst that prevented immersion from fulfilling its promise [152]. In order to provide a modern platform for investigation of secure collaboration, a reservoir engineering tool was developed for analysing reservoir data in an effort to utilize modern hardware, while also attempting to mitigate the factors that were reported to hinder adoption in previous immersive tools for reservoir engineering.

The factors identified by Kinsland and Borst included:

- 1. Interruption of typical user workflow to leave the comfort and convenience of their desks for large, centralized immersive hardware such as CAVEs which were the predominant hardware platform for immersion in previous reservoir engineering tools;
- 2. A lack of compatibility with existing software that users were familiar with;
- 3. The need for specialized help to be available to run the immersive hardware whenever a user would like to use it;
- 4. Vertigo when using immersive systems;
- 5. Lack of user acceptance on the part of domain experts; and
- 6. Lack of well developed interface hardware and 3D user interface design that provides a high quality user experience.

Kinsland and Borst provided some very useful information for the design of this tool, and motivation for developing it. Since immersive technologies have previously been applied to the oil and gas industry without widespread adoption, there is a risk that another immersive tool is not worth developing. In fact during initial consultations for the development of this tool, many experts referenced the previous failures of immersive technology and suggested that immersion was not worth the effort and the development of another immersive tool would be futile. However, the analysis by Kinsland and Borst provided a useful retrospective on what had gone wrong. Their list of factors that prevented adoption of immersive tools in the oil and gas industry provided guidance and confidence in the long term potential of immersive applications for the oil and gas industry.

The availability of vastly improved immersive head mounted displays that may be used on

computer systems commonly found in professional environments mitigates several of these factors. For no more than the cost of a high quality monitor, head mounted immersive hardware can be purchased off the shelf and used on user workstations that have sufficient graphics capabilities. This allows users to utilize the benefits of immersion at their workstation, without having to move their work to another environment. These commodity head mounted devices are easy to use and allow the user to be self-sufficient with minimal training. Further to this, data from commonly used tools can be converted into formats readable by the tool presented here. This process could be automated to provide inter-operability with existing software, making the immersive tool even easier to use. Central infrastructure such as CAVEs may still be utilized by ensuring that tools that work on the head mounted displays can scale up and work on the large scale environments, providing a means to shift the work from the HMD to these environments as required for group demonstrations or collaboration. These large scale environments are also much easier to use due to greatly improved hardware and software, allowing users to make use of them without specialized expertise except when issues arise. Due to this, moving between the head mounted display and the the large scale environment may be no more difficult than moving a presentation from a 2D screen at a workstation to a large 2D screen for group collaboration. Both the head mounted displays and the large scale facilities have benefited from advances in technology, showing improvements not only in performance and ease of use but also comfort. Improved hardware and software has improved graphics frame rates, reduced tracking jitter, improved rendering of the correct perspective and reduced optical distortions. These improvements reduce discomfort in many users. Further to this, a variety of software techniques are emerging to reduce discomfort even in those that still tend to experience it despite improved hardware and immersive systems [94] [167]. Given the large amount of investment in immersive hardware and software at the time of this writing, it is likely that immersive platforms will only become more visually appealing, comfortable and easy to use. For this reason the first four factors that were identified by Kinsland and Borst as hindering adoption of immersive technologies are largely resolved and will only continue to diminish over time, especially as new technologies emerge. Regarding lack of acceptance by domain experts, Kinsland and Borst suggest that as the hardware and software improve, the benefits will become greater and drive adoption.

In order to overcome the final limitation (i.e. the lack of effective interfaces and interaction techniques for 3DVR) the tool was built from the ground up with continuous feedback from subject matter experts in reservoir engineering. Many previous attempts to provide immersive tools for reservoir engineering simply tried to extend desktop applications directly into a 3D environment. Sometimes this would be done quite literally through the use of OpenGL interceptors such as Mechdyne Conduit [207] or TechViz XL [304]. This approach intercepts the OpenGL calls and then uses these intercepted calls to provide an immersive experience in an environment such as a CAVE. Although this is a tempting method to use since it shows a desktop application in an immersive environment, it does not provide a high quality immersive experience due to some aspects of the desktop experience invariably becoming compromised during this transition and the inability to provide a high quality experience due to the use of an application designed for 2D in a 3D environment [216].

Utilization of relevant design principles should help with the development of an effective and useful tool. For example, immersive environments, if designed carefully, can provide intuitive applications that naturally support Reality-Based Interaction [131]. This should improve how easily a user can maintain an accurate mental model when using the application, thus reducing the gulf of evaluation (The difference between the state of a system and the users perception of that state) or gulf of exection (he difference between the allowable actions of a system and the users intentions for using the system) [226]. The immersive application implements several techniques that fit within Reality-Based Interaction themes such as the use of body awareness and skills. Immersive applications are realatively easy to align with Reality-Based Interaction principles. Due to their highly interactive and spatial nature, immersive applications can be built with the users pre-existing knowledge of their non-digital world in mind to create a tool that is intuitive to use.

Elmqvist et al. have proposed a set of design guidelines to promote fluid interaction in information visualization [85]. According to Elmqvist et al., "Fluidity in information visualization is an elusive and intangible concept characterized by smooth, seamless, and powerful interaction; responsive, interactive and rapidly-updated graphics; and careful, conscientious, and comprehensive user experiences." Fluid interactions are thought to help users stay in a state of flow [62] as they perform their work. Flow is a mental state of total focus on an activity, that enables greater productivity and enhanced user experience. Their design guidelines have been followed whenever possible in this application. For example the guideline "minimize indirection in the interface" is applied by utilizing direct manipulation and embodied interactions. Fluid interactions are realatively easy to support in immersive environments since a variety of interaction possibilities are possible, both natural and magical, and immersion can lead to increased engagement and focus [329]. Conversely, ensuring that an immersive application utilizes the principles of fluid interaction can ensure that immersion, and engagement remains high.

4.2 Features Implemented

The tool facilitates analysis of the structure and static properties of oil and gas reservoir models. Three occlusion management methods were implemented that help examine property values of internal cells and understand the spatial orientation of structures in the subsurface. At the time of this writing, these methods are unique in their application to immersive reservoir engineering tools. The tool was presented to a variety of oil and gas professionals, researchers and students. Feedback was collected with a focus on three primary themes. First, the value of immersion for analysis of static reservoir properties. Second, the effectiveness of the occlusion management techniques. Third, assessment of the contribution of the interactions implemented to promoting periods of focused concentration known as flow. This will serve as a platform in which a variety of questions around the use of immersion and 3D user interfaces in a professional engineering domain may be explored.

This tool has parallels with a tool developed by Cabral Mota et al., who developed a tool for immersive analysis of fluid flow connetivity [245]. This tool visualized static reservoir data and used mathematical graphing algorithms to determine where fluid would flow based on transmissibility, which is a measure of how readily fluid will flow between points. A mathematical graph would then be visualized within the reservoir model to provide a visualization of the fluid flow connectivity between regions based on the transmissibility metric. A transparent lens was attached to a controller or hand to overcome occlusion and provide a clear view when probing into the reservoir data to help understand property values affecting the fluid flow. The application that was developed for this work lacks the connectivity analysis and transparent lens techniques of the tool developed by Cabral Mota et al, but provides a variety of different interaction and occlusion management techniques and is focused on understanding how professionals can gain value from the technology when performing analysis of static reservoir data. Additional features such as visual analytics capabilities, support for dynamic data and flow visualization will also be implemented.

When considering a reservoir model, there are a variety of analysis tasks performed. One common task is to perform inspections of embedded structures, such as wells, within the subsurface and visualize how they interface with the geology around them. The reservoir data must also be inspected to understand how areas of the reservoir interact when hydrocarbon extraction is occurring. Typical analysis involves searching for deficiencies in the geological model or regions of interest that may benefit or impede production. Common to all these tasks is that they require a user to understand the properties of specific cells within the model, while keeping in mind the greater context of the reservoir structure such as layers, relative spatial location to wells or faults, and the form and location of specific geological features that affect production.



Figure 4.1: Digging into the model.


Figure 4.2: Cutaway view of embedded object.



Figure 4.3: Embodied filter sphere.



Figure 4.4: Examining the reservoir.

The application visualizes the volumetric structure of the geological model of the reservoir providing a colour mapping for a selected property. An example property is porosity, an indicator of the relative volume of empty space in the form of pores to solid material. In the pictures shown, porosity is the value used, with red indicating high porosity values and dark blue representing the lowest porosity values in the dataset. Seismic data may also be shown in the model, providing further context.

One fundamental challenge with the visualization of 3D data is occlusion. A cutaway style embodied filter was implemented that allows a user to inspect cells of interest or embedded structures, such as wells, within the volumetric dataset. This technique attaches a filter around the users head so a user can inspect cells of interest or embedded structures such as wells within the volumetric dataset. If it is desirable to maintain a specific view, the embodied aspect of the filter can be turned off, keeping the filtered view in place.

The embodied filter facilitates analysis of the static properties of cells embedded within the geological model. Cells meeting a certain criteria such as a range of property values can be selected and cells not meeting this criteria are filtered out of a sphere radiating from the users viewpoint. As a user moves around the geological realization, the filter is applied to cells within the sphere, providing an interior view and revealing embedded structures while preserving the cells that are of interest. This permits a user to see how the data relates to these structures, while ensuring that the needed context of the geological structure is preserved. The user can probe and get detailed information about specific cells. The use of a filter tied to head tracking enables a user to explore the dataset with a minimal use of hands, only probing when needed. This reduces fatigue over long analysis sessions. The diameter of the filtering sphere can be adjusted to give more context or a wider view into the interior of the geological model as needed.

Another means of viewing the embedded structures is to open a cutaway view to reveal them, by selecting a cutaway button on the exterior of the geological model. This reveals the embedded structure, while maintaining a view of the neighbouring geology and the overall context of the entire geological model. As a means of either editing the geological model or removing occluding cells the controller can be used to remove or add cells to the model. The user may dig through the geological model to reach the interior.

A menu may be summoned by pressing a button on the controller, enabling seismic data visualization, adjustment of the height of the geological model, the radius of the filtering sphere and the threshold of the value to be filtered. There are also functions to reset the model by reinstating any removed cells and to select if the filtering sphere should be frozen in place or follow the users perspective.

4.3 Evaluation

The application was presented to over 40 oil and gas professionals in a variety of venues such as the group visualization centre (the Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre [251]), industry events, conferences and oil and gas company offices with the intention of determining the level of interest in immersive applications within the oil and gas industry and determining the effectiveness of the techniques in the application.

Since the tool was often demonstrated as part of events or conferences, or to group tours at the Collaboration Centre, there was often not the opportunity to perform an extensive feedback session. However, a large number of subject matter experts were exposed to the tool during these events, so a lightweight, informal evaluation protocol was prepared for obtaining feedback. This consisted of providing enough time to learn the interface and understand the application. Then, as long as there was enough time, feedback would be gathered to determine: (1) If the immersion assists engineering professionals with understanding the static data, especially compared to non-immersive desktop applications, (2) Which of the three occlusion management techniques are preferred, (3) If the application helps ensure a state of flow so that users can focus on the task without breaking concentration to focus on using the application. In pursuit of these objectives, the following questions were asked:

- 1. Have you analysed reservoir models before?
- 2. How did you perform this analysis?
- 3. How does the application compare to your current methods of analysis?
- 4. Do you find that this application provided any benefits over current methods of analysis?
- 5. Compared to existing methods, did you find that you were able to spend less time using the interface and more time focusing on the goals of the analysis?
- 6. What do you not like about using the tool?



Figure 4.5: User evaluation.



Figure 4.6: Gathering feedback.

4.3.1 Theme 1: Value of Immersion

All users reported that immersion provided a very good understanding of the subsurface realization. This was due to increased understanding of spatial relationships, such as orientation and depth of a fault within the subsurface, or the relative distance of wells to geological features. The ability to move through the reservoir using a natural action, such as moving around a room, exploring different sections of the reservoir and using controllers to manipulate or probe cells directly was reported to be easy to learn and intuitive. The increased field of view and field of regard were reported to be very beneficial when trying to maintain context especially when users were situated within the data. Seeing the entire reservoir at a glance and then having the ability to do detailed analysis from a variety of views was reported to save time. When using 2D applications many users reported that they must move between several 2D views of the dataset. Switching between these views can be time consuming and requires professionals to maintain a mental map in their head, increasing cognitive load and the chance of error. With years of practice, this can become

second nature for experts, however this is still a fallible process that even experts admit can lead to errors if the mental map is conceptualized incorrectly. It was observed that users were able to accomplish analysis of cell properties and relationships of cell regions with wells and other regions with very little training using the application, regardless of experience.

Over half of the oil and gas professionals interviewed saw the advantages, but reported that they were not convinced that the advantages of virtual reality would encourage them to use immersive applications in their day to day work. However, there is a portion of oil and gas professionals that would consider using such a tool, if it was easy to use, did not require extensive re-training and provided the same features as 2D applications.

4.3.2 Theme 2: Occlusion Management

Users were given the opportunity to try the three different occlusion management techniques and provide feedback on how effective they found these techniques. The three techniques were 1) a digging technique, where the controller is used to remove cells, 2) a cutaway view of embedded structures such as wells, and 3) a spherical cell filter that moves with the users head.

The digging method removes occluding cells to create views of the interior. This is the most destructive method. Users found fine control of cells to be removed very beneficial in situations where this fine detail was required, such as optimizing a view by removing a small number of cells, or uncovering a specific structure, such as a well head, while leaving the majority of cells intact. One limitation that frustrated users was the lack of an easy way to keep some cells that are of interest when removing others. If some cells need to be preserved, users must dig very carefully or miss information. For this reason the technique was not found to be efficient for working on a large number of cells or across a large area.

The cutaway view was seen as useful in some circumstances. Looking at the path of a well, or getting a sense of the property values in a critical region around an embedded structure was easily accomplished using this feature. With deeply embedded structures, however, a large amount of context could be lost.

The embodied filter was extremely well received. Virtually all participants mentioned this method as their favourite occlusion management mechanism. The mechanism of being able to move back or forward through physical movement to move between a full view of an area and a filtered view was seen as very intuitive and helpful. Since it applied a filter and did not simply remove cells, users liked that it could reveal areas within the dataset, while still allowing them to reference cells of interest that were outside of the filter parameters. A common way that this interaction was used, was to scan the dataset for areas of interest, and then freeze the filter view, and do detailed inspections with a combination of probing to inspect cells and digging as required to remove a small amount of cells for detailed exploration of smaller regions of data.

4.3.3 Theme 3: Maintaining Flow

To determine if the use of Reality-Based Interactions and guidelines to promote flow were successful in engrossing the user in the application and promoting uninterrupted focus. Users were asked if they felt that their concentration was broken when interacting with the application during the task, and if the application provided the opportunity to focus on their objective. Users were also asked for a comparison to the desktop applications they use. Although there are some menus in the application, once the user has set the radius on the filter sphere and parameters such as the height of the dataset, they are able to scan for areas of interest and analyse these areas carefully without feeling a loss of focus. Most users reported that natural movements such as walking or head movement to get different views combined with increased perceptual advantages meant they were able to focus on the analysis and maintain a mental map of the data in their head more easily than using 2D software.

4.3.4 Conclusion

Based upon evaluation by many subject matter experts over time, this prototype tool demonstrates the potential of modern immersive applications for the reservoir engineering domain. Immersive environments provide interfaces that allow users to interact in a variety of ways compatible with frameworks such as reality-based interaction and guidelines such as fluid interaction. Combined with the visual benefits of immersion such as a wide field of view, large working space, and increased spatial perception, immersive environments can provide tools that are intuitive and effective for dealing with the complex 3D information encountered in reservoir engineering. The development of this tool for visualizing reservoir data and analysing well placement has allowed an immersive application for reservoir engineering to be demonstrated to oil and gas subject matter experts on modern immersive hardware. There was some resistance to the immersive application due the historic inability of immersion to gain widespread adoption within the oil and gas industry. Many of the factors contributing to lack of adoption are mitigated by the increasingly cost effective and high quality immersive devices that are now available. The remaining factors can be mitigated by supporting user needs with careful design of interactions that leverage the strengths of immersion to provide highly interactive and effective applications that adhere to interaction best practices.

Upon spending time in the prototype tool, many users appreciated the benefits of immersion, and were often surprised at the quality of the hardware and the interactions. The interactions were reported to be intuitive and effective for analysing the reservoir data. Users particularly liked the ease in which they could form a mental map of spatial relationships between different regions of interest and wells. The occlusion management techniques were all reported to be very useful, although each was ideal for a different purpose. The digging interaction provided a method for fine-grained removal of smaller quantities of cells. The cutaway method was very useful to reveal embedded structures, such as wells, and to quickly scan for important features or data relevant to these structures. The embodied filter received positive feedback from virtually all users. This interaction was reported to be ideal for exploring reservoir data and rapidly building a mental map of its structure. As hypothesized, the highly spatial and interactive nature of immersive environments are conducive to reality-based interaction and fluid interaction, with most users reporting that they were able to maintain a high degree of engagement and focus on the analysis of the data.

While these evaluation sessions are not definitive or even rigorous, they allow for insight into the viability of such a tool, and provide an indication whether further development of this tool should be pursued, if a redesign is needed, or if this an altogether futile path of investigation. Fortunately, feedback was generally positive, and suggests that further development of the prototype is worthwhile.

4.3.5 Collaborative Capabilities

After validating that the tool and the interactions provided value to users in the reservoir engineering domain, collaborative capabilites were added. The current implementation supports collaboration between the HTC Vive, Oculus Rift, Microsoft Hololens and a public display. There is a simple representation of an avatar for each collaborator, and users can work together on separate devices. Co-located collaboration may also be achieved in a CAVE [69]. It is possible to take work from HMD devices and display it in the CAVE for presentations or collaboration. These environments are semi-immersive since users can still view their environment through lightweight stereoscopic 3D glasses. This provides a comfortable means of working with an immersive application since users are not isolated from their environment and can still have a sense of interpersonal connection to others in the same physical space. Although the classic styled CAVE does suffer from compromised collaboration due to a single optimal view perspective [240], users report an acceptible collaboration experience by staying close to the user with the optimal view perspective so that they have a similar perspective. The weakness of the single optimal view perspective may be also mitigated though effective management of the view perspective [88]. More recent large-scale immersive visualization systems have emerged such as the CAVE2 [92] which can provide correct stereo perspective for multiple users using omnistereo [279]. Multi-user stereoscopic environments have also been implemented using specialized projectors [164].



Figure 4.7: Collaboration using head mounted devices and avatars.



Figure 4.8: Co-located collaboration in the CAVE. This augmented virtuality environment allows for easy user interaction and proprioception but not private views.

4.4 Architecture

The project is implemented using Unity and uses the Unity built in multiplayer tools and services collectively know as Unity Networking (UNet). The tool is set up to have a client-server architecture with one of the instances acting as Host. When rendering the reservoir model, the cell data is loaded from a file. This cell data includes information on the shape of each cell, the location of the cell, and data such as porosity or permeability values for the cell. To render this information a mesh is generated for each chunk of 1000 cells. Each individual cell within the mesh is then coloured based on the data value associated with it. Synchronization of the state of the collaboration session to each each user is accomplished using Unity networking as well. The state of all cells and the position within the dataset are synchronized by distributing changes to internal data structures. Support for simultaneous editing of data is not supported, so only one user is able to edit the data at a given time. The position of avatars, representing each of participants location, also have their position and orientation synchronized. Collaborators can see the location of other users and cues are provided to understand where other collaborators are looking.



Figure 4.9: Architecture of the immersive prototype. Any system can be a host, and clients can connect to the host. There can be one session leader on either the host or client that can edit the data.

Chapter 5

Collaboration Scenarios

In the previous chapter, an immersive tool for visualizing reservoir data was described. This tool was reported to be an effective means of collaborating over reservoir data by subject matter experts. In order to facilitate collaboration the tool supported multiple platforms. Data can be displayed on conventional screens, virtual reality head mounted displays, augmented reality head mounted displays and a large scale immersive CAVE environment.



Figure 5.1: An integrated mixed reality ecosystem [258].

The options available for collaboration are increasing and collaboration may involve many different devices, including computer screens, large displays, virtual or augmented reality HMDs, and hand held or spatial augmented reality (SAR) systems [246]. These technologies span the reality-virtuality continuum introduced by Milgram and Kishino with the real world at one end, and a pure virtual environment at the other end. According to Milgram and Kishino, in between the two extremes of reality and pure virtual is "mixed reality", where the real and virtual are mixed. Devices such as the Microsoft Hololens [211] emerged after the reality-virtuality continuum was defined and mix the real and virtual by integrating digital objects into the real world that are

trackable and responsive to the real world. This has created another meaning for mixed-reality that refers to this integration of digital and virtual content in an interactive and responsive manner, as opposed to augmented reality that only displays content on top of the real world. When considering collaboration scenarios, another definition for mixed reality may be used, as seen in work by authors such as Benford et al. [28], Salimian et al. [262] and Reilly et al. [250]. These works refer to mixed realities as new forms of shared space that span the dimensions of local, remote, physical and synthetic. Mixed reality collaborative environments connect physical and virtual worlds to present an integrated collaborative space for remote and co-located collaborators.



Figure 5.2: Augmented 3D printing from [185].

Various levels of physicality and artificiality may be combined when collaborating. For example digitally augmented 3D printed landscapes have been proposed to deliver a collaborative experience with UAVs [185] and field workers [224]. The entire reality-virtuality continuum can be utilized even within one workflow. Multiple mixed reality modalities have been combined to create an integrated mixed reality ecosystem that allows users to incrementally transition from pure physical to pure virtual experiences. This system stands on a conceptual framework composed of six levels of digital augmentation [258] as shown in Figure 5.1. This allows for users to move it-



Figure 5.3: Augmented 3D printing from [224].

eratively from physical views to increasingly virtual environments as more conceptual or dynamic information is required, and less in-situ physical context is required. This is illustrative of how varying levels of immersion will likely be used in an increasingly related and connected manner. New techniques are also being introduced that make use of this hardware, such as Holoportation [233], which allows live-streaming of 3D scans of people and objects to immersive devices, allowing them to appear almost as if they are present.

However, there are several issues that need careful consideration when collaborating across heterogeneous devices to provide a secure and usable system. Although many of these considerations are not unique to immersive technologies, the use of immersive technologies by their nature lead to the creation of multiple shared spaces, with a variety of different boundaries and other relationships. Examination of existing works and discussion with users suggests that the integration of a variety of different spaces without clearly identified boundaries between the spaces and clear indications of how information permeates through the boundaries creates confusion about how information or data can flow between spaces. Effects of presence disparity [301] can create confusion about what is being revealed to other collaborators at any given point in time. Collaboration across various scenarios incorporating a variety of technologies and spaces can also result in highly dynamic security contexts. The context can change as new spaces are added, properties of boundaries between spaces change, devices are added, data or information is introduced, sensors are activated, or the composition of identities or roles change across any of the spaces. The location of where processed information, such as visualizations, must be displayed, supporting infrastructure used, amount of control over endpoints and trust in computer networks also influences the security context. However, solutions must also be comprehensible, usable, and allow users to mediate the flow of information or data so that they can collaborate effectively, while maintaining enough control so that the principle of least privilege may be upheld. Mechanisms such as access control policy may be used to help users "do the right thing" in the face of this complexity.

	Same place	Different place	
Same	face-to-face	real-time distributed	
time	interactions	interactions	
	Mixed presence groupware		
Different	co-located on-	asynchronous	
time	going work	distributed work	

Figure 5.4: Space-time groupware matrix from [301].

Mixed-presence groupware considers co-located and remote participants working together in real-time or asynchronously (Figure 5.4). When exploring the use of mixed-presence groupware, display disparity and presence disparity are identified as an example of one such issue [301]. Display disparity was initially introduced to describe issues related to the orientation of content relative

to collaborators when working between screens and tabletop displays. Presence disparity was introduced to describe the issues related to the reduced perception of other collaborators presence when working between co-located and remote collaborators. These issues have not gone away with immersive devices, since working between screens and different immersive devices requires an awareness of both where other collaborators are located as well as how to properly situate data. These issues can disrupt collaboration, and facilitate accidental disclosure of data. Managment of virtual and physical spaces across a variety of devices is has been attempted [77] and many lessons have been learned. This includes the definition of measured space, which represents the awareness of physical space and physical objects in the space that a computer system has due to measurement devices such as sensors. Measured space acts as a form of intermediate space between real space and virtual space. There may be multiple real, measured and virtual spaces involved in a collaboration. Relationships between the spaces are formed by topological, boundary and mapping relationships. In relation to real, virtual and measured space, topological relationships include concepts such as "contains", "overlaps" and "separate" with relation to shared spaces. The spaces are interconnected by their boundaries and the spatial mapping between them. Benford et al. defined three dimensions to help categorize shared mixed realities linking virtual and real environments [28]. The three dimensions are transportation and artificiality (Figure 5.5) and spatiality (Figure 5.6). Transportation concerns the degree to which users are transported into some new space or remain in their local space. Artificiality concerns the degree to which the shared space is based on realworld information or is synthesized. Spatiality concerns the degree to which the shared space exhibits key spatial properties such as containment, topology, movement, and a shared frame of reference. These definitions can be combined with the Milgram-Kishino reality-virtuality continuum [214] to help define the collaboration environment. Benford et al. were very concerned about the boundaries between shared spaces. There may be multiple boundaries between each shared space, and they may be physical-physical, physical-synthetic and synthetic-synthetic. Boundaries may have a variety of properties [157]. For example, boundaries may be directional with regards

to transparency and interaction, meaning they may not have the same level of transparency or interaction between boundaries. A one way mirror into another room is a physical-physical space boundary, but is highly directional. A remotely operated telepresence system may be highly interactive one way but afford no interaction the other direction. The level of awareness of boundaries, the transparency and the directionality are factors that may have in impact on the balance of power, the privacy and the security of data shared within a collaborative system. In addition, multiple, fragmented boundaries may provide a degraded collaboration experience and affords the opportunity for confusion when dealing with sensitive data, risking accidental disclosure of information.

It has been shown that application designers must be careful to ensure that cues suggesting that privacy may be compromised remain consistent with the mental models of the users when mixing physical and virtual collaboration environments, even if not using immersion [262]. These cues may come in a variety of forms. Communication-based cues involve literal communication between collaborators, such as physical gestures or voice communication. Interactive cues can include the spatial location of information being displayed and responses providing feedback for interactions. Ambient cues can include environmental cues, such as audio, indicating where other collaborators are located or where cameras are active. Infrastructure cues include symbols or visible cameras that provide clearly visible indications of how to maintain privacy. If these cues are not clear or present, trust in the application remains low, and data privacy may not be maintained. Effective collaboration suggests fluid movement of dialogue and information between environments and amongst collaborators. However, these design goals are what can predispose users to lose context and clarity regarding what actions ensure privacy across physical and virtual channels. When dealing with sensitive data, it is possible that only collaborative scenarios that reduce presence disparity and allow for cues that users can easily interpret in order to perform actions to protect their data may be suitable.

Another consideration is how to provide space for restricted views of information. When studying tabletop negotiations where users collaborate towards a common goal but also negotiate amongst themselves, Yamaguchi et al noted several important behaviors that must be maintained to support strategic negotiations [331]. Supporting these behaviors required ensuring users have access to private spaces where they can view their data individually, personal spaces where data could be shared with a subset of the group and public spaces where users can disclose information to the everyone in the collaboration. Effective collaboration tools should also uphold privacy and security through notions of territoriality and proxemics, [116], to provide the physical space to work in private [42] [153]. The concept of personal space is also very applicable to virtual environments [327] [196] as the intrusion onto personal space is both uncomfortable and invasive even in a virtual world.

Although an exhaustive exploration of the entire space of possible collaboration scenarios across the reality-virtually continuum is beyond the scope of this work, to explore the design space a few collaboration scenarios will be discussed.



Figure 5.5: Benfords Model: Dimensions of artificiality and transportation [28]. Transportation is the degree to which users and objects are transported to another environment. Artificiality is the degree to which a space is synthetic or based on the real world.



Figure 5.6: Benfords Model: Dimension of spatiality [28].



Figure 5.7: A simple mixed-reality boundary from Benford [28].

5.1 Scenarios

5.1.1 Physical Reality Collaboration

In Figure 5.8, users are collaborating together in the same physical space. These spaces could be linked together using technologies such as videoconferencing to create a physical-physical boundary. All collaborators are able to see what ever is displayed in the local, physical collaboration environment.

One important source of inadvertent information disclosure in physical collaboration environments is shoulder surfing. A large amount of investigation into shoulder surfing behaviors, such as the work done by Eiband et al. [84], has shown that it is a non-trival threat. Users may protect their information using methods that they are familiar with, such as adjusting the angle of personal devices, to hide information from view.

Many techniques have been developed to prevent shoulder surfing on public displays. For example, works such as [42] defend against these attacks by detcting gaze and location of surrounding individuals and either warning of potential shoulder surfing attacks or blanking out a screen except where the user is looking. Zhou et al designed a tablet interface that detects when people nearby are looking at the screen, providing awareness through glyph notifications, and response through visual protections [343]. Support for multiple views of information based on different users to support strategic negotiation has been implemented in tabletops [261]. It is important to learn from attacks on traditional platforms and understand how similar attacks can be implemented when using immersive hardware in a variety of scenarios. A complete system to support secure collaboration would ideally incorporate techniques such as these for physical collaboration, in addition to applying them to defend against similar attacks in mixed reality or immersive environments.



Figure 5.8: Co-located Physical Collaboration.

5.1.2 Virtual Reality Collaboration

In Figure 5.9, users are engaged in virtual reality collaboration. Virtual reality shared spaces may be connected forming artificial-artificial boundaries. In virtual reality collaboration there is opportunity to show information in arbitrary ways, including heads up displays, virtual objects or virtual information surfaces simulating physical screens. Information may be shared on a per-space basis or per user basis. This affords many opportunities to create private, shared and public spaces in which to view data. This freedom presents many avenues for creative sharing, however physical security concerns still exist, particularly if data is shared on a per-space basis. If data is brought into a virtual space from another source it is important to understand how access control policies should be applied to control the flow of information and how territoriality and proxemic zones can be maintained. It is possible that many of the physical security concerns, such as shoulder surfing attacks, still exist and may affect data that is displayed in virtual shared spaces. However, the ways in which information is shared may be less obvious in the virtual world if the application is not designed carefully. It is important to maintain recognizable cues that help users maintain their privacy whenever possible.

Although the shared space is virtual, users are still part of the physical world. It is possible anyone that is not part of the collaboration may observe the virtual reality users in the physical world to glean information. Screens that mirror the headset view, audio communication and movements, such as gestures, may all reveal information to observers without the knowledge of the collaborator in the headset. Although not part of the shared spaces considered for the collaboration tool, designers should still be cognizant that there is always an implicit synthetic-physical boundary that exists between each virtual reality user and their environment.



Figure 5.9: Virtual Reality Collaboration.

5.1.3 Augmented Reality Collaboration

In Figure 5.10, users are engaged in augmented reality collaboration. Augmented reality presents a variety of security issues [176]. This includes input security, as a large amount of data is continuously collected to provide an augmented reality experience, as well as output security which is concerned with what is presented to the user in the display. It may be possible for users to see private information on devices or material that is not intended to be part of the collaboration session if controls are not placed on access to the sensor data. For instance, the use of a camera view, which is often used for collaboration applications such as collaborative device repair, may be of concern depending on a variety of factors such as the location of the repair or users participating in the collaboration. Similar to virtual reality collaboration, a variety of means may be used to share information privately to a subgroup of collaborators or to all participants of the collaboration. However, the physical environment must be considered. Information may flow across synthetic-physical boundaries or physical-physical boundaries, and a variety of information flows are possible between these different shared spaces. Care must be provided to ensure flows of information do not lead to accidental disclosure, as users may need to maintain awareness of how to protect information in a virtual shared space and a physical shared space simultaneously. If multiple virtual or physical shared spaces are linked then even more care must be taken, as the way in which information may propagate may be even less clear.



Figure 5.10: Augmented Reality Collaboration.

5.1.4 Mixed Reality Collaboration

In Figure 5.11, users are engaged in a mixed virtual and physical collaboration. A key characteristic of this scenario is the connection of virtual shared space with physical shared space. The spaces may be distinct and adjacent, rather than overlaid. Often a design goal is to have a transparent connection, merging the physical and the virtual in various ways. There is a large amount of potential for the physical and virtual worlds to be very tightly integrated as shown in works such as OneWorld [258] or mirrored as shown in "Dual Reality" by Lifton et al. [191]. Mixed reality collaboration may combine physical collaboration, virtual reality collaboration and augmented reality collaboration, and therefore may have all the considerations of the previous scenarios.

Explorations into environments blending real and virtual environments [262] has shown that many users do not intuitively develop an awareness of how to protect their information when the physical and virtual environments are fused. This can lead to an increase in inadvertent privacy breaches. Display disparity and presence disparity have a large impact on the collaboration experience from both a usability and a security standpoint. When users are simultaneously collaborating in multiple spaces, such as a virtual and physical space, they become confused as to how information may be propagated. This is because it is more complex to manage how information is shared in two spaces. In particular, if cues such as location and gaze are not maintained across the spaces users must be very diligent to keep track of the positions of virtual collaborators and try to infer what they are able to see and guess at what they are looking at. Mixed reality collaboration must consider the increased complexity of information propagation through the physical-synthetic boundaries, in addition to any physical-physical boundaries or synthetic-synthetic boundaries that may exist. As the number of boundaries increases, users must maintain awareness of a possibly changing situation within each space, and understand how information may be propagated through each boundary. Great care must be given to the design of tools supporting mixed reality collaboration if sensitive data is shared, particularly as the number of shared spaces increases or if the boundaries between the spaces have different properties. Mechanisms must be provided to both mediate the flow of information between spaces as well as within collaboration spaces. Visual protection mechanisms that hide or obfuscate data or information can help mediate information between collaborators within a collaboration space. Access control policy and manipulation of boundary properties or visual protections applied to views across boundaries may provide security and privacy assurances between spaces.



Figure 5.11: Remote Mixed Reality Collaboration.

Chapter 6

Protection Mechanisms

There is a large body of work looking at collaboration using a variety of technologies including conventional devices, wearables, and immersive hardware. There is also a large body of work exploring the various security components that might be used to secure these technologies. However, it has long been demonstated that without designing for usability, attempts to design secure systems and software will in fact make them less secure [326] [5]. The hope of this work is to explore enough of the design space to build a prototype incorporating a small subset of the available options in order to gain feedback from subject matter experts. With this feedback, the initial design may be validated or alternate designs proposed. This will provide direction for the longer-term goal of providing a tool that supports the usability requirements and security needs of professionals that must collaborate over sensitive data. Due to the increase in complexity when incorporating and combining new technologies, it is important to carefully design the applications for the workplace, ideally considering the social, application and infrastucture context of how the technology will be used [186]. This includes performing traditional security requirements engineering [263], while also considering the unique challenges of securing wearable devices such as augmented reality [277], and collaborative environments [128]. Some key design questions that are universal [284] must be considered in light of the the secure collaboration tool:

- 1. What access control policies are suitable to provide authorization decisions across technologies and across scenarios?
- 2. What access control methods are suitable to protect the information while providing effective collaboration?

Rather than focusing on finding the perfect mix of technologies, the intention is to follow a more human-centred design approach. Agile frameworks such as Scrum [267] have had enormous

success since they allow for iterative development as requirements are elucidated, allowing for shorter hypothesis validation cycles. Attempts to integrate security requirements engineering and design into agile methodologies [205] [24] [253] are a logical application of these techniques. As noted by Sven Turpe, "To succeed, security requirements engineering needs to iterate through the components of security needs and analyze their mutual influences until models converge" [314]. He advocates focusing on a broader view of security requirements engineering that is based on an examination of threats, security goals and system design.

For this reason, some possible solutions that may be incorporated into the tool will be explored. This discussion will provide the foundation for selecting solutions and forming hypotheses regarding the design choices. Development has started by implementing a minimum viable prototype to test ideas around a usable security approach based on user needs. Based on feedback from the prototype, insight into the requirements will emerge, which will drive the final selection of the specific security architecture components.

6.1 Access Control Logic

In the interests of developing a minimum viable prototype to iteratively perform requirements engineering, a simple system with basic access control policy was implemented. As more functionality is built, there will be greater clarity into the attributes required to support the functionality required.

In the prototype, four sensitivity levels can be assigned to the classification of objects such as regions of data:

Η	Restricted (most sensitive)
Μ	Confidential
L	Internal
Р	Public



Users have an attribute attached to them that defines their access to the sensitivity levels. In this system it is configured similarly to a mandatory access control system, since users are effectively assigned a pre-determined clearance level. This level determines the access to the data they have. A user may see data lower than their clearance level, but they may not see any data higher than their clearance level. The prototype not only allows binary, all or nothing, access to the data. Users may be denied access and provided full access. Users may also have a third level of access that provides only a lower fidelity view of the data. This provides a conceptual overview of the information while reducing the detail available. This is very helpful for collaboration since a user with a higher level of access can collaborate with users with lower levels of access, when a conceptual view of the information will suffice.

The system can be set up in two ways. The first way is discretionary. A user with a given clearance level can grant conceptual access to forward a discussion and build understanding. Although this may present some risk of information leakage, there is also the opportunity to forward collaboration effectively while allowing users greater control over the flow of their information. Allowing the user to provide conceptual access, at their discretion, can provide the opportunity to move collaboration forward while providing a minimum of unwanted information dissemination. This only works if the conceptual view is carefully crafted to provide enough information to be useful for the collaboration goals, but not so much information that users have too much understanding of the data. This is admittedly a fine balance that may be highly context dependent.

The system may also be a fully Mandatory Access Control system. This is what was configured for the evaluation. This system is achieved through the use of additional modifiers that provide finer granularity with regards to what the user can see. In this system users also have access level attributes. All users will have conceptual access to data at their level without an access modifier. In this prototype the only access modifier is the detail modifier (D). Users with this attribute are able to see a detailed view of the data such as cell property values with a matching sensitivity level or lower. A user with only a conceptual view will be able to see the detail view of any levels lower than their current access level. While a conceptual view could have a different meaning depending on the application, the core intent is to emphasize conceptual details important to the collaboration, while removing details may reveal sensitive information.

A simple (constructed) example is a virtual reality collaboration of a new spaceship. Perhaps the collaboration contains some equipment that is classified at a sensitivity level higher than one of the collaborators. Rather than hindering collaboration by not allowing the person with lower security access into the collaboration, a conceptual view showing a generic piece of equipment or conceptual information such as a sketched outline of the equipment could be shown to the user. This would allow collaboration since the tour of the spaceship could still happen, yet the need to protect sensitive equipment would be upheld. Users with access to the information could still reveal select details about the equipment to the lower privilege user as needed through verbal communication. Users with access, the "data owners", are able to mediate the flow of information according to their preferences and the needs of the collaboration.

A similar situation could occur in an oil and gas reservoir scenario. However, instead of classified equipment, sensitive regions may be protected by removing the ability to see any property values. This can be accomplished by disabling the property colour ramp in the sensitive region of the visualization and disabling interactions to probe for property values in the region. A user with this conceptual view, would still be able to see the structure of the region, such as faults and well locations. The users with full access would be able to mediate the flow of information, by disclosing information according to their preference and the needs of the collaboration. If a region is too sensitive to even show the structure of the region, then all information can be hidden by using a completely opaque visual protection mechanism that hides both the contextual and detailed information.

The context attributes allow the application to be aware of the scenarios described. This allows the application to activate protections specific to each scenario. For instance, in the mixed reality collaboration, additional protections can be provided to prevent accidental disclosure of informa-

Η	D	Restricted with detail modifier
Η		Restricted
Μ	D	Confidential with detail modifier
Μ		Confidential
L	D	Internal with detail modifier
L		Internal
Р		Public

Table 6.2: User access levels (subject attributes).

VR	Virtual reality collaboration
AR	Augmented reality collaboration
MR	Mixed reality collaboration

Table 6.3: Immersive collaboration scenario (environmental attributes).

tion due to user confusion about the mixed environment. Augmented reality devices could use context to decide if access to the camera should be permitted if there is is sensitive information in the location where the collaboration is occurring. Virtual reality devices could show privileged information only if there is not an additional view into the VR collaboration that could show information to unauthorized individuals, such as an additional monitor that is commonly used to display what a user is seeing.

Attributes may be used to enforce a variety of behaviors depending on the security need and even other considerations such as performance. For example these techniques are applicable to controlling if data is rendered on the client or on the server as discussed in Appendix B.

6.2 Access Control Methods

When users are working on reservoir data in the tool, a protection box may be created that assigns a security classification level to a region of the data set. For instance a user can create a box around a well head with classification "confidential". Then, according to the access attribute of other users, they have different views of the data within that box. If a user has no access, they see a completely opaque box that shows no information. If they have full access, they see an outline so that they can see there is a protection box on the region, however they would see a full view of the information and be able to probe and add and remove cells. If a user has only conceptual access (no detail access modifier), then they would see a a box that removes the color of the cells so that the cell property values in that region are not able to be understood. Also, a user with only conceptual access can only see the view from outside the box, they can not go into the box or edit or probe cells to see cell information. This allows them to understand the form and spatial location of the data but not the details. Users can meaningfully collaborate with one another, while still providing some protections for their data. Users with no access attributes are considered to have public access level and are not able to see any data (conceptual or detailed view) in any protection box. They would only see an opaque box.


Figure 6.1: Reservoir scenario view of wellhead on Hololens with cells cut away around the well for inspection of interior cells.



Figure 6.2: Reservoir scenario view of wellhead on Hololens with conceptual protection box removing understanding of cell properties. Cells also may not be probed for values.



Figure 6.3: Two protection boxes where the viewer has no access on the Oculus Rift.



Figure 6.4: Transparent protection boxes where the viewer has access on the HTC Vive with another users avatar in the foreground.

Chapter 7

Feedback Session

A collaborative, immersive prototype tool for viewing static reservoir data and assessing well placement has been implemented and described. The immersive tool has been tried by a variety of oil and gas industry professionals to determine if the tool is usable and useful for their work. This included verifying if the use of immersion provides benefit, if the interactions and features are helpful for reservoir engineering workflows and if the tool can promote the mental state of flow when used. Encouraged by the positive feedback received regarding the immersive tool, attention was then focused towards enabling collaboration over sensitive data. Several collaboration scenarios have been discussed, and basic access controls and visual protection mechanisms have been implemented to support secure collaboration over sensitive data using the immersive tool.

Throughout this process, students and professionals in reservoir engineering have been consulted to guide the design of this proof of concept. However, formal feedback sessions are required in order to gather evidence the tool does address the needs articulated during initial design consultations, and that the application of visual protection and access control mechanisms as implemented in this tool do provide value to professionals in the oil and gas industry. The feedback sessions also acted as a forum for discussion, allowing themes to emerge and potential improvements to be documented. For these feedback session, one collaboration scenario was selected, and a task representative of a common reservoir engineering workflow was used with the visual protection mechanisms. In order to explore the confusion when working in multiple spaces, especially between physical and virtual spaces, a simple test was integrated into the feedback sessions to determine if reservoir engineering subject matter experts would intuitively understand how to protect information when working in such a scenario.

7.1 Scenario

The selected scenario is a mixed reality collaboration scenario. In this scenario, two users are collaborating in a virtual world using VR head mounted displays. An augmented reality collaborator can collaborate with another user in the same physical location providing co-located collaboration. All users are participating in the collaboration session together in the same room for convenience, however, the virtual collaborators in VR headsets could be remote collaborators with no effect on the scenario used for this evaluation.

This provides an excellent environment to test the proposed security mechanisms, since the more complex scenario may reveal more information regarding the strengths and weaknesses of the design. Further to this, mixed reality collaboration scenarios are subject to their own specific security considerations. Explorations of environments combining virtual and physical collaboration such as [250] and [262] have shown that due to a lack of experience with mixed reality collaborative environments users do not always have an awareness of the cues or the mental model required to understand how to protect their information. The scenario in the exploration by Saliman et al. does not involve immersive technology and is focused around a different configuration where users are collaborating around a physical table that is linked to a virtual environment using cameras. However, there are parallels between these scenarios and the one used in this study. In both cases there are mixed environments, where users are focusing on a task and likely do not have well formed mental models regarding the dissemination of data across the virtual environment and the physical environment. Without familiar cues that they can use to guide behaviours users may accidentally reveal information. The mixed reality scenario used to evaluate the security mechanisms provides an opportunity to explore some of these considerations during the feedback session.

7.2 Hypothesis

There are two hypotheses to be validated through the design feedback session. The first is to validate that the protection mechanisms are supporting the design goal of allowing effective collaboration while providing the ability for a user to maintain the principle of least privilege and maintain control over their data. The second hypothesis is to see if the security risks reported in other mixed reality collaborative environments are applicable to the one in this session involving immersive collaboration.

- 1. The tool allows users to collaborate over a reservoir engineering data to achieve a representative task while maintaining control over the dissemination of their data.
- 2. Users suffer from the same confusion and lack of clarity regarding how actions affect privacy in a mixed reality scenario as seen in [262].

7.3 Methodology

Prior to the study there was a screening and orientation session that included a simulation sickness quiz to determine suitability as a participant. The quiz used to determine risk of simulator sickness was based on the Simulator Sickness Questionnaire by Kennedy et al. [148]. If the quiz indicated a participant was susceptible to simulator sickness, they were be advised to not participate in the study.

First participants were given a one-on-one guided introduction and orientation to the immersive technology and the application. This was a one-on-one session. Users were provided a introduction to the immersive technologies (VR and AR headsets). Users tried all the immersive devices used in the session including the ones they were not using themselves. They were allowed to try them until they were completely comfortable using the devices. They were also provided the opportunity to use the tool and its interactions. Through this procedure, any observation or feedback reflects the

experiences and actions of users that are competent and comfortable using the immersive devices and application.

7.3.1 Assessment of Secure Collaboration Tool

When considering a reservoir model, there can often be individuals that have different affiliations or access levels working in the same region. In order to reflect this, the three participants involved in the collaboration task were assigned different access levels.

 U_H was given the role of the data owner and was allowed full access (restricted access) to the dataset and all information in the model. U_H was given the HTC Vive virtual reality device.

 U_M was given the role of a collaborator, such as a contractor or potential business partner, and was allowed allowed only conceptual access to confidential data (and full access to internal data). U_M played the role of an expert in well placement acting as an advisor to the data owner. For this reason U_M is not allowed to see the scenario in full detail, but still must guide user U_H and together they must collaborate over the data around the well head. U_M was given the Microsoft Hololens augmented reality device.

 U_L was given the role of an intern or trainee observing the well placement decision only. This participant was allowed access to public data (no access to restricted, confidential or internal data). U_L was collaborating using the Oculus Rift. Since this feedback session had all users in the same room, audio channels were unprotected. This does mean that technically some higher level information could be leaked to U_L during the discussion. However, the intent is to validate the visual protection methods, and in this particular scenario any potential leakage over the audio channel has no bearing.

U _H	Restricted access (High) plus detail modifier D
UM	Confidential access (Medium) with no modifier
UL	Internal access (Low) with no modifier

Table 7.1: Users in collaboration and their access attributes.

Three protection boxes were pre-created prior to the feedback session. One box, with a sensitivity attribute of confidential (M) was placed around the wellhead, where U_H and U_M were collaborating.

Another box with a sensitivity attribute of restricted (H) was placed around the middle portion of the well. If a competitor were able understand the full detail around the middle of the well, then critical information about the production and viability of the well could be inferred.

The last part of the well was protected with a protection box, but only with the label internal (L), the lowest level of sensitivity.

 U_M would see a box surrounding the well head region. This box was translucent but would not allow the colour of the grid cells to be visible. This means that U_M could see the structure and spatial location of the well in the geological data, but not specific cells or spatial distribution of properties.

Protection Box	Location	Label
B _M	Wellhead	confidential (M)
B _H	Middle	restricted (H)
BL	Tail	internal (L)

Table 7.2: Protection boxes along well path.

Next, the users were asked to perform a simple task that is representative of reservoir engineering work. A common task in reservoir engineering is to analyse if an oil well is in the correct location based on geological properties. This is determined by considering the property values of the cells around the well, and the context of the geology in the surrounding region. The three participants were assigned a task where they were asked to collaborate over a horizontal well embedded in reservoir data and come to a consensus regarding the location of the well in the geological data. If the well was placed in a reasonable location then the well placement was considered "good" (the well should stay in the location) otherwise it was considered "bad" (the well should not stay in the location). One of the key property values is porosity, and in the model the property displayed was porosity along a red-blue colour gradient. Brighter reds indicate a high porosity value and darker blues indicate the lowest porosity values. This allows users of the application to see the porosity and therefore the suitability of the geology for well placement at a glance. Quantitative porosity and permeability obtained by probing cells is also used in decision making.

The participants were instructed to assess the quality of the well placement by checking if there are a number of cells with a specific color in the region of the well. U_M with lower privilege would ask U_H to find cells with a certain colour within a distance from the well head set by U_M . U_H then checked and reported if the well placement meets the required criteria. U_L was allowed to ask questions and told to observe the collaboration carefully.

After the task, users were asked to complete a series of post-task questions and interviewed using a semi-structured interview. In particular each of the participants (the subject matter experts) were asked if they felt like the collaboration was effective and the data owner was asked if they felt their data was protected.



Figure 7.1: Concept drawing of evaluation scenario with physical space, public view (no access level) and perspective of each user.

7.3.2 Mixed Reality Collaboration Test

After consensus was reached regarding the well placement, a pretend "manager" entered the room to ask the user with restricted access U_H if they could display their view to the public screen in the room where the collaboration was being done. This was a test to confirm the suspected confusion around interactions between virtual and real worlds. If U_H were to release their restricted view of the screen it to the public display, it would indicate they have forgotten that there is an augmented reality user in the room that can see this view through their transparent device.



Figure 7.2: Test to determine if U_H would inadvertently reveal privileged view to AR user.

7.4 Users

Two feedback sessions involving three participants each were performed. They consisted of petroleum engineering subject matter experts between the ages of 25 and 41. All had undergraduate degrees in petroleum engineering and were current petroleum engineering graduate students focused on reservoir engineering or researchers working in petroleum engineering research. One had four years of professional experience as a reservoir engineer, and one had one year of professional experience as a reservoir engineer. All participants had been trained on the tool, and provided time to use and explore all the different devices so that they were familiar with the tool and all the immersive devices.

7.5 Results

Although the results are preliminary, the feedback was encouraging of this solution, while also providing some valuable areas for further improvement. It was expected that the feedback would be positive, since informal meetings and discussion with other subject matter experts were used to inform the design of the tool and the protection mechanisms.



Figure 7.3: Feedback session 1 with reservoir engineering subject matter experts using HTC Vive, Oculus Rift, Microsoft HoloLens and a public display.



Figure 7.4: Feedback session 2 with reservoir engineering subject matter experts using HTC Vive, Oculus Rift, Microsoft HoloLens and a public display.

7.5.1 Assessment of Secure Collaboration Tool

All participants verified that the scenario that reflected the work that is typically required of reservoir engineers. They reported that work such as this is currently typically done either by privately consulting a reservoir model off-line from a collaboration session, or manually sanitizing datasets and collaborating over them on a screen. These traditional methods of collaboration can be time consuming and possibly more error prone. All participants reported that collaborating over reservoir models with sensitive data was both needed and a process that is not easy or fast with existing methods. They reported that the conceptual view was an excellent way to protect information while providing sufficient context to collaborate effectively. All users also felt that the balance of information sharing was appropriate in that the data owner was able to adequately protect their sensitive region and effectively mediate any information that they disclosed to the participants with lower access levels. One participant stated that the conceptual view provided a solution to speed up the process of having to work with the data owner verbally to determine the optimal well placement. Selective disclosure of information about a completely obscured region of data through verbal communication during a real-time collaboration session is faster than working with a sanitized dataset offline and using asynchronous verbal communication to collaborate. However, it is not as fast as dispensing with protection mechanisms and collaborating over unobscured data in real-time. This user thought providing a conceptual view that shows enough context to orient the discussion around structures in the data provided an excellent compromise between speed of collaboration and security. All participants rated the chance of them using a tool like this for real collaboration scenarios between four and five on a scale of one to five. The only major criticism was that the virtual reality headsets can become uncomfortable over time. There were many feature requests such as the ability to specify the protected region by layer of grid cells or by the region around a certain well.

Several scenarios were identified that would benefit from this tool. These include collaboration scenarios where companies are working together. Although this was historically less common it is a more common occurrence in today's highly competitive environment. The scale and complexity possible in modern large scale projects may also require close collaboration between companies. A company that has invested a large amount of resources into the processing and interpretation of data could be compromising a large competitive advantage by giving highly trained experts from an external organization unfettered access to the data. On the other hand, if the companies do not collaborate, mutually beneficial opportunities may be missed. There is always some risk and the rewards must be weighed carefully. The subject matter experts indicated that this tool does help manage this balance. Demarcating regions to apply visual obfuscation techniques is a simple method, but even this provided a capable means to restrict views of sensitive data in a convenient, obvious and usable manner. This provided a very large amount of comfort to the data owner in the mock scenario used in the evaluation.

Another scenario that was identified was for training and support. For example reservoir simulation companies may need to diagnose bugs or train staff in the use of their tools. The tool provides capabilities that could be used to demonstrate bugs or show troublesome scenarios that require guidance. This could be very quickly and safely achieved using this tool with less risk of inadvertent information disclosure and faster access to the relevant data by the reservoir simulation company than using existing methods. One participant said that the proposed solution was "a treatment to this problem".

7.5.2 Mixed Reality Collaboration Test

In both cases, when the data owner U_H was asked if they authorized showing the restricted view to the public display for the manager, they consented. This displayed data with the highest clearance level to the augmented reality user, circumventing the protections around the sensitive data, since the augmented reality user could clearly see the privileged data on the screen.

7.6 Discussion

This project was based on discussions with oil and gas industry experts. This prototype was built to verify if such a system could assist with the perceived need. Although only two formal feedback sessions were performed, they do provide evidence that the proposed solution would help improve efficiency when collaborating over sensitive data while providing greater control over the dissemination of information. Much like the evaluations of the prototype immersive tool in chapter four, the objective of these feedback sessions is to determine if further investigation is warranted. Exposing users to a prototype and methodically gathering feedback is a kind of exploratory analysis of the design, allowing observations, requirements and themes to emerge. These findings can then be confirmed with more rigorous studies.

One thing was made clear in the feedback sessions that were performed – this is a promising approach to solve real problems. According to the feedback received, collaboration between organizations or training of staff or interns are two specific situations directly supported by this tool. Due to the time involved with implementing meaningful features to support complex reservoir engineering workflows, it is untenable within the scope of this project to implement rich workflows

that would truly test the capabilities of this system. Despite this, careful consultation with reservoir engineering students and professionals has indicated that validating a well placement within the model is a task that has enough commonality with many fundamental reservoir engineering tasks. This ensures that although simple, the task has representative characteristics of many situations that petroleum engineers would encounter. For this reason results based on this task may reasonably be extrapolated to many tasks in petroleum engineering.

A few issues were raised by the subject matter experts. The first and foremost issue that the subject matter experts raised was the variety of data that was available. In a typical collaboration scenario, the collaborators would have access to a larger variety of cell property values. The prototype provided three key data types: porosity, permeability, and pressure. In the real world the reservoir engineers would have access to many times more types of data to help assist with decision making. The subject matter experts felt that for this system to become more useful for real world practical applications it would need to include as many of these different data types as possible. Additional kinds of data such as streamlines representing flow and surface data are also desirable. This would introduce more complexity with respect to both the design and implementation of the access control policy and information protection mechanisms.

A common complaint especially among inexperienced VR and AR users is the problem of simulator sickness. This is something that for many people can be reduced through continued exposure over subsequent usage of the devices. However, in some cases the "VR sickness", as it is colloquially known, is something that cannot be overcome. This means that, unfortunately, for some users it will not be possible to use a system such as this one. This would result in falling back to more traditional methods of viewing data. The data protection techniques can still be applied to these more traditional methods. Some users also wanted to take breaks from the immersive headsets, as over time they became tiresome. This may be mitigated by providing access to the CAVE environment, which has been reported to be more comfortable for long periods of work due to the use of lightweight stereoscopic 3D glasses and the proprioception afforded by

this kind of environment. This highlights the need to support secure collaboration across a variety of devices, such as large scale visualization environments and non immersive devices so that users may leverage the benefits of immersion but also continue to collaborate on non-immersive devices as dictated by their comfort.

The data owner in both cases was willing to show the data to the "manager" when asked, completely forgetting that the augmented reality user could see the data. When the screen is exposed, the augmented reality user can be clearly seen looking at the exposed information. A virtual reality user could peek as well, although that would be a more deliberate and obvious action. The augmented reality user is able to see any information in the room at a glance due to the transparent visor characteristic of augmented reality headsets. Also, augmented reality users may be using devices such as tablets for their augmented reality experience rather than headsets. This kind of confusion regarding interactions between the virtual and real world supports findings that show an increased rate of accidental information leakage in these environments. Benford [28] cautioned that careful attention must be paid to boundaries between spaces, and multiple boundaries may be confusing. This supports the need for careful consideration when sensitive data is shared across these boundaries and when new boundaries are formed during a collaboration. An access control policy that prevents public display of information when there lower access level participants in the room would prevent these kinds of data leakage. In particular, an attribute based policy would be extremely helpful, as it could understand the context and help prevent inadvertent disclosure of information, in a manner most relevant to the situation. Identifying discrete shared spaces, and using policy to enforce restrictions or notifications around the sharing of data between the spaces may provide great benefit. In this instance, a policy that forbids privileged views from the synthetic workspace back into the physical space via public displays with augmented reality users may prevent information leakage. This could be accomplished even with the access controls implemented in this prototype, however a formal framework that is generalizable to varied situations would provide even more assurance.

Chapter 8

Future Work and Conclusion

8.1 Future Work

Secure collaboration across the reality-virtuality continuum has been explored through some simple protection mechanisms in one scenario with two feedback sessions each consisting of three reservoir engineering subject matter experts. Although many lessons have been learned and a large amount of foundational work has been performed, much work still remains to provide secure collaboration across the reality-virtuality continuum. A deeper understanding of how the techniques may be integrated into scientific workflows in general, and reservoir engineering workflows in particular, is required. Further visual protection mechanisms should be tested, exploring a greater diversity of visual protections and a variety of applications. Further investigation is required to determine exactly how much information can be removed using visual protection mechanisms to provide a useful context for collaboration, while preventing the dissemination of sensitive details. The generalizability of these techniques could also be explored to see if consistent criteria across a variety of use cases can be developed to inform the selection of visual protection mechanisms. Support for co-located collaboration incorporating public displays, personal devices and interactive surfaces must be considered. Co-located collaboration should be integrated into a holistic solution that spans all the scenarios described in this work, while maintaining consistent collaboration and data protection paradigms. Although a simple access control system has been implemented, it should be expanded and tied into access control policy that supports the security features required across all scenarios. The required supporting infrastructure to define and administer the policy must also be developed, and may be optimized by the use of artificial intelligence to automate the definition and application of the policy. A variety of tasks must be supported to ensure effective analysis of data, and to support domain specific workflows. Ideally, these tasks would not be compromised by the addition of mechanisms to support collaboration over sensitive data. It is therefore necessary to investigate if the implemented protection mechanisms compromise these tasks, and if so find ways to ensure task efficiency is preserved. Additional security mechanisms such as encryption and authentication must also be developed to provide a complete solution. Integration with supporting infrastructure, data management tools and existing workflow management systems is also required.

8.1.1 Deeper Understanding of Requirements

Further studies are required to identify user behaviours, preferences and needs related to protecting information across the reality-virtuality continuum. Gathering this information from a variety of users across different scenarios is foundational to designing tools that are both usable and secure when collaborating over sensitive data. This requires further development of the fundamental tool, since many applications of rich policy language and novel protection mechanisms are best illustrated within the context of real-world workflows on realistic datasets. This requires more development of fundamental features of the application, so that policies and protection mechanisms can be tested within suitably complex scenarios that reflect how tools would be used in an industrial environment. Alternately, careful consideration is needed to craft scenarios and minimum implementations that can be used to validate hypotheses in representative scenarios. Although this would require less development time, it will require a large amount of time to analyse user workflows and design these representative scenarios, as has been done with the well location analysis task performed in this study.

8.1.2 Visual Security Methods

Only one visual protection method was tested. Removal of all colouring that provides information regarding property values and restricting probing used to obtain precise information was a sensible choice that clearly supports the concept of structure without detail. However when examining visual privacy protections used in multimedia, many different methods were used such as cartooning,

blurring and selective modification of the data. The application of these methods and evaluation of their effectiveness in protecting information or data as needed, while still providing enough information to provide a useful collaboration tool, could be explored. If the method is not effective at protecting information, then it will not support the goal of restricting the flow of information. If the method can not provide some information, there is no benefit to using the method, since it would be equivalent to simply blocking the information from view. Investigation is required to find visual protection methods that provide a useful conceptual view, while still ensuring data or information that must be protected is not communicated to the wrong parties. Utilization of various methods of abstraction [318] could be used to simultaneously improve the perception of some features, while reducing the fidelity of some information to a point where it provides utility as an information security mechanism. These methods must be designed and evaluated both for fitness as a security mechanism, and as useful tool that uses different techniques to provide conceptual views that may illustrate specific concepts even more effectively than a high-fidelity view. Determining suitable metrics that can be used to assess both of these aspects of the visual protection mechanisms must also be developed.

8.1.3 Usability Studies

To understand the broader usefulness of these techniques, it would be beneficial to perform indepth studies on various tasks to see what effect the asymmetry of information has on these tasks. Usability can be defined as "ease of use" plus "usefulness" to the user. More specifically, this includes quantifiable characteristics as learnability, speed and accuracy of user task performance, user error rate, and subjective user satisfaction [35]. Both the usability and the effect on security and privacy during collaboration of protection mechanisms must be investigated. This may reveal factors that contribute to or hinder collaboration using these kind of visual protection mechanisms.

8.1.4 Solutions for Co-located Collaboration Spaces

Although the reservoir visualization tool can be used in a large scale visualization system such as a CAVE, the visual protection mechanisms would not work in this environment since there are not different views for each user. An investigation into how to best restrict the flow of information and authenticate users and their locations would be a useful extension to the tool, so that protection mechanisms used in the head mounted versions can extended to co-located visualization environments. Utilization of proxemics [116] to create privacy zones may be used, perhaps with techniques such as Bodylenses [153]. Techniques such as those found in [42] may be incorporated into this solution to protect information. Integration of other technologies such as interactive table-tops, mobile tabletops, passive displays and implementation of a holistic solution that allows for collaboration utilizing these technologies as well would increase the applicability and usefulness of a solution.

8.1.5 Integration of Security Policy

As more insight is gained into user needs and preferences, this will elucidate the contexts that are important to capture in the security policy. This includes understanding the attributes that must be collected from the environment, the subjects, and objects, and how to use those attributes to make access control decisions. This will drive further investigation of possible areas for access control policy research. Access control models have undergone a large amount of evolution [141], however, many challenges still remain even within Attribute Based Access Control [271] including the administration, delegation and scalability of ABAC implementations. Further investigations into how to apply ABAC or ABAC based policy frameworks to these systems is needed.

Given that many fields utilizing scientific data are subject to institutional or governmental compliance, investigation into how to apply compliance verification in these collaborative scenarios is also required. While some works have attempted this [142] there is little understanding of how to incorporate these methods into a tool like the one described in this work. Extending the basic policy logic would also be extremely important to cover a wider range of tasks and contexts that would emerge as these techniques are used in different scenarios and on different devices. As more contexts emerge through an exploration of extended reality collaboration in a variety of scenarios, then the supporting attributes must not only be identified, but the policy framework that should be implemented is also important to determine. Infrastructure to support the access control policy such as tools to administer and define the policy are also required. Artificial intelligence techniques may also be applied to assist users with policy definition and application.

8.1.6 Integration of Usable Security Principles with other Frameworks

The benefits of collaboration in a visual analytics setting have been discussed. However, more attention to how secure collaboration could be developed into a framework is needed. Combining the security concerns with visual analytics design considerations [121], for instance, could allow the integration of usable security principles with visual analytics best practices to provide a tool that enables secure collaboration, with the minimum of impediment to visual analytics workflows. This would allow highly effective analysis and collaboration tools, while still providing sufficient control over information dissemination to encourage users to collaborate.

Integrating security considerations within a framework of abstract visualization tasks [40] could be beneficial. A security framework could be developed that integrates each of these abstract visualization tasks with protection mechanisms in a reservoir visualization context. Attempts have been made to integrate Activity Theory into Visual Analytics workflows [83], and this work could be extended to consider security concious workflows in visual analytics as well.

8.1.7 Additional Security Considerations

It is also important to understand how to integrate the various security components such as authentication, detection of relevant contexts, policy interpretation and implementation of protection mechanisms into the application so that usable collaboration scenarios are enabled while ensuring the needed protections are in place. For example, it would be worthwhile to find an effective authentication mechanism that provides a continuous and secure authentication session that can adjust to the needs of the application as contexts are changed. In extended reality collaboration, there may be new contexts as users or devices are added, or even as devices are removed. Therefore, an authentication solution that can re-authenticate as the context changes is more effective at maintaining a high level of security than authentication that occurs only at the beginning of the session. Some possible solutions that could be tried have been identified, such as wearable technologies that use continuous monitoring of biometrics.

Other aspects of protection that have not been integrated into this application include encryption, and a robust back-end architecture. Integrating cryptographic enforcement of conceptual views, such as has been done for secure scrambling of images [336] could be one possibility. Integrating attribute based encryption techniques [109]. In particular a system such as Sieve [324] which uses attribute-based encryption to translate human-understandable access policies into cryptographically enforceable restrictions would be a good integration.

8.1.8 Integration into Scientific Computing Infrastructure

While this work has focused on how to integrate security considerations in to an immersive collaboration environment, no attempt has been made integrate this work with common infrastructure found in scientific computing environments. In particular, effective integration with scientific workflow management systems [64] and integration with data management systems such as those supporting data provenance would allow for a more comprehensive solution, since control of information dissemination could be applied to historical changes to data [339] as well as historical insights [108]. This would support very important aspects of a real collaboration system, and would vastly improve the real-world functionality of the secure collaboration mechanisms. More complex contexts could be evaluated, and additional protection mechanisms could be implemented, such as controlling where data is rendered, as discussed in Appendix B. Integration into real-world systems would also allow for an evaluation of the scalability of the system in a variety of contexts.

8.2 Conclusion

A workplace environment can have complex privacy requirements and diverse user groups with different backgrounds and expertise. Both personal and business data must be protected in scenarios that may require collaboration with social or time pressures encouraging bad privacy behaviour on the user's part. It is critical to consider how individual differences in concerns, preferences and behaviours may impact a variety of design decisions such as: choice of technologies that may be safely incorporated into workflows, access control models that support the user requirements in these environments and how authentication may occur. In doing this, workplaces may adopt immersive technologies while ensuring the protection of employees and the safety of their data.

This work has articulated the development of a tool for immersive reservoir visualization, showing how immersive technologies may be used to provide value when analysing static data and well placements in reservoir engineering. This tool has been evaluated by a variety of professionals, researchers and students from the oil and gas industry. This evaluation has supported the value of immersion in reservoir engineering, the effectiveness of the occlusion management techniques and the ability for an immersive work tool to promote a state of flow. Collaborative capabilities supporting using a variety of virtual and augmented head mounted displays as well as a CAVE have been added to enhance the value further and show how immersive technologies can be used to collaborate over data.

A variety of scenarios have been discussed within the context of secure collaboration. These scenarios include co-located collaboration, virtual reality collaboration, augmented reality collaboration, and mixed reality collaboration where physical and virtual spaces are connected to present an integrated collaborative space for remote and co-located collaborators. This provides an understanding of some representative scenarios to explore the use of technologies across the reality-virtuality continuum when collaborating over sensitive data. The integration of a variety of different spaces requires clear identification of boundaries between spaces and how information permeates through the boundaries. Cues allowing users to understand exactly who they are sharing

information with across spaces and what different users can see must be maintained. Finally, highly dynamic security contexts must be supported, as the security context can change as new spaces are added, properties of boundaries between spaces change, devices are added, data or information is introduced, sensors are activated, or the composition of identities or roles change across any of the spaces. The location of where processed information, such as visualizations, must be displayed, supporting infrastructure used, amount of control over endpoints and trust in computer networks also influences the security context. This requires access control policy that can incorporate a variety of contextual information about the users, the data and the environment to control access to information. Attribute based access control (ABAC) is one such access control policy that authorizes access to information based on subject (user) attributes, object (data) attributes, and environment attributes. ABAC is more complex to implement than access control polices such as role based access control (RBAC). Despite this, ABAC has seen increased acceptance in industry due to its support for dynamic, attribute based contextual authorization. Mechanisms such as context aware access control policy may be used to help users "do the right thing", in the face of increased complexity. This could include denying risky information sharing across boundaries into spaces where identities can not be properly authenticated or where portals into other unknown spaces may exist. This access control policy could be combined with continuous authentication mechanisms which provide transparent authentication mechanisms that are convenient for multi-device collaboration and immersive environments, and ensure authenticated identities in a collaboration session are always current and accurate.

Effective collaboration across the reality-virtuality continuum involving sensitive data requires enough information be shared so that collaborators can effectively collaborate, even with users that have lower levels of access to data. However, the dissemination of information must be controlled, so that the principle of least privilege may be upheld and information disclosure can be mediated by the data owner according to their preferences and the needs of the collaboration scenario. This objective can be accomplished through the use of access control, access control policy and visual protection mechanisms that provide clues regarding the nature of content or illustrate conceptual details to lower-privilege users so that collaboration can occur, while removing sensitive detail.

A secure collaboration tool utilizing immersive technology designed to provide more control of information and more effective analysis of reservoir data than existing tools has been developed and evaluated. This has provided many insights and created the infrastructure for additional ideas to be implemented, tested and evaluated. Visual protection mechanisms have been shown to have potential to solve a variety of collaboration scenarios involving sensitive data in reservoir engineering. This includes training and education, research collaborations, reservoir simulation software support and collaboration between different organizations. The potential for inadvertent information disclosure reported by others involving mixed reality collaboration scenarios has also been demonstrated in these evaluations. In both evaluations, the data owner was tricked into revealing sensitive information to a user with a lower level of access.

As technology evolves and becomes more ubiquitous, it is important to consider how it could be integrated into existing tools and processes. However, it is equally important to evaluate both the security implications and the usability of these systems in general. Ideally the usability and security implications will be holistically explored, so that these technologies can be integrated in a manner that provides a high-quality user experience as well as a functionally secure system across many scenarios. There are many unsolved challenges remaining to integrate usably secure immersive collaboration tools into real-world scientific computing environments. Despite this, much progress has been accomplished, and the lessons learned in this undertaking are generalizable and will help others grappling with how to design and develop secure yet usable industrial tools using these technologies.

As a use case, the Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre will continue to integrate the technologies developed to support collaboration over sensitive data and apply the lessons learned. Additional features will be added to the reservoir engineering tools, and additional protection mechanisms will be prototyped, assessed, and applied to the additional features. Features and protection mechanisms such as utilization of proxemic interactions to maintain privacy will be assessed for usability and protection techniques will be applied to support other collaboration scenarios, such as co-located collaboration. Access control policy infrastructure will be implemented and applied to a variety of protection mechanisms, including a variety of visual protection mechanisms and to prevent risky dissemination of sensitive information across shared space boundaries or to untrusted devices. As visual and immersive analyics tasks are integrated to support engineering workflows, studies will be performed to ensure that the security mechanisms preserve these tasks as much as possible. The addition of transparent and convenient authentication mechanisms, encryption and other security components will provide a more holistic secure collaboration tool. Integration with high performance computing (HPC) and high-end data analyics (HDA) resources will require integration with scientific computing infrastructure, however, this is also required to achieve a complete solution.

Other visualization centres may use the lessons learned in this work and equip their facilities to provide a visualization and analysis ecosystem that includes a variety of devices across the reality-virtuality continuum, including interactive display environments, head mounted displays, and public or personal interactive surfaces. Ideally, users should be able to move workflows easily from devices to large scale visualization infrastructure as needed. In order to unlock the value of this equipment It is important to ensure that effective, usable and consistent collaboration tools can make use of a variety of devices while providing mechanisms that help users avoid inadvertent disclosure of information. These tools should support collaboration rather than impede it by enabling allowing users to maintain the principle of least privilege and mediate the flow of information according to needs and preferences.

Appendix A

Interview ID	
Reviewer Name	
Subject ID	
Subject Background/Specialization	
Date of interview	

Post-task Interview Questions

Collaborating over scientific datasets is a key part of a modern reservoir engineering workflow. Immersive visualization hardware such as virtual and augmented reality is currently being examined by the oil and gas industry for a variety of applications including reservoir engineering. These immersive technologies provide both a potential opportunity for more efficient collaborative tools as well as potential security risks. These risks may stem from a lack of user familiarity with the technology, as well as weaknesses with existing access control policies that do not adequately capture the complexities of these scenarios. We hope to explore some potential solutions to these security risks by applying advanced access control policies to collaboration scenarios using immersive technologies. This may enable control of information appropriate for these scenarios, allowing more effective collaboration by ensuring that the information that must be shared can be shared effectively, while the information that must be protected may be safeguarded. The following is a sample semi-structure interview aiming to gather general feedback/comments from the participant and any suggestions he/she may have regarding improving our system. The participant may ask to clarify any question and more explanation will be provided, and he/she can decline to answer any question. For your interest, this part may take up to 30 minutes.

Thank you very much for your time and effort!

1. Do you think that the scenario you were given is an accurate representation of a collaboration that could occur in an industrial setting?

2. How do you currently collaborate over data or scenarios such as the one in this study?

3. With whom would you typically collaborate?

4. How is this collaboration typically accomplished currently?

5. What are your security concerns regarding collaboration over this kind of data?

6. Are there situations you have encountered where you want to collaborate over data but would like to withhold some aspects of the dataset from your collaborators?

7. How often does this occur in your experience?

8. Does concern over sharing a certain part of a dataset ever prevent you from sharing the whole dataset and thus not collaborating and communicating as effectively as you would like?

9. Based on your experiences in this session, do you think that immersive technologies such as virtual and augmented reality could be a good medium for collaborating over reservoir data?

10. Do you think that the prototype could provide any advantages over the current means of performing this kind of collaboration? If so what are these advantages?

11. Do you think that there are any disadvantages of using this prototype over the current means of performing this kind of collaboration? If so what are these disadvantages?

12. Do you feel that you were able to control information effectively in this prototype? Specifically, ere you able to share what you needed to share and withhold the information you wanted to withhold?

13. Did you gain a greater understanding of how information leakage may occur using immersive technologies?

14. Did you feel that our prototype mitigated this potential information leakage? Why or why not?

15. Please provide a general comment about our learning system (e.g., what I liked, what I did not like, things to be improved, etc.)

126

Appendix B

Client vs Server Rendering Example

Introduction

Many fields deal with sensitive data that may only be disclosed according to constraints such as government regulation or corporate policy. While there has been a great deal of research on how to visualize and collaborate for knowledge discovery, there is a much less work investigating how to collaborate without compromising operational security [60]. Another complication is the desire to distribute data processing to assist with responsiveness and to combat issues of scale when dealing with modern scientific data sets. Some examples include a high performance web-based system for analyzing and visualizing spatiotemporal data for climate studies [188] and a client-side web application for interactive environmental simulation modeling [322]. These two examples are representative of a growing number of tools that seek to provide high quality interactive scientific discovery by distributing data. With this in mind, the ultimate goal is to develop a viable system that will combine effective access control and effective protection of information in order to support collaborative scientific discovery in a distributed collaboration environment. Such a system would ideally allow rapid formation of a clearance based on security policy and based on the clearance allow for rapid identification of the data sets and collaboration tools available. Such a scenario would allow for effective collaboration and information dissemination while maintaining enforcement of confidentiality and integrity requirements. If a system can be developed with enough separation between the content distribution layer and the presentation layer, this could provide a flexible and extensible system that can meet the demands of new and complex methods of data exploration.

Background

While this initial prototype demonstrates application of simple security controls to the distribution of data, it is hoped that future work may address much wider concerns. Security concerns are currently a barrier to collaboration [268]. However, a useful solution to this issue must consider the context in which it may be used. This requires understanding the work flow and data management tools that are used to manage scientific data as well as the existing visualization tools and techniques. A valuable contribution must not duplicate already available functionality. The contribution should also have a way of integrating with existing data management and visualization tools in order to leverage their functionality or have a clear reason not to. For this reason existing scientific data management and visualization work flows must be considered.

There are several tools that exist such as VisIt [55] and Paraview [154] that support visualization and there have been attempts such as [160] to use them to build collaborative environments. However it is acknowledged that there is much work to be done and there is little mention of security concerns. There are tools to support scientific work flow and provenance [49] such as Vis-Trails [278]. Tools such as Globus have been used to build collaborative science applications [11]. Works such as [195] have considered intermediate data placement strategies for scientific data in the cloud. An attempt has been made to build a collaboration based cloud computing security management framework [8]. Works such as [120] consider security aware resource management strategies for work flows, however they do not specifically integrate into visual collaboration tools to allow the flexibility of client or server rendering based on attributes.

Methodology

The prototype visualization tool was developed primarily using the Django web framework [78]. The built in Django user classes are extended to support any additional fields needed for authorization of protection mechanisms. Upon successful authentication, authorization may be granted to send the dataset to the client browser for rendering. If a user is not authorized for client side rendering, images are generated on the server and sent to the browser.

Secure Visualization Portal

Login Page

Password:

login

Figure B.1: View of the portal login.



Figure B.2: View of the portal with client rendering.

The data is a 9.2MB VTK Polydata file that consists of 131284 points with triangle strips defining the topology. This represents a human skull and is a freely available dataset.

vtk output ASCII DATASET POLYDATA POINTS 131284 float 33.9205 43.7674 -117.036 34.1211 43.01 -116.948 30.1388 50.7423 -117.066 ___ -13.1175 -37.4631 67.5153 -13.1173 -37.4629 67.5154 -13.1174 -37.4632 67.5155 TRIANGLE_STRIPS 56141 418277 89 2 0 1 3 178 5 410 179 ... 1494 44 5 3 4 0 191 2 ... 683 59 5 4 179 180 411 728 ... 5068 ___ 3 124587 124581 124632 3 124586 124634 124591 POINT_DATA 131284

NORMALS normals float 0.0467201 0.021438 -0.998678 0.0514398 -0.200641 -0.978313 -0.0709501 -0.132886 -0.988589

Figure B.3: Description of Data

Client Rendering

When a user is successfully authenticated and authorized for client rendering, the client rendering tool uploads the entire data file to the client browser where it is rendered via WebGL [150] the X Toolkit [115] is leveraged for the majority of the visualization functionality.

Server Rendering

VTK [155] was used for the server side visualization. Off-screen rendering of data on the server was accomplished via the Mesa 3D Graphics Library [210]. When the visualization is requested, images are generated at five degree increments along two axis. Users may then view the images via a client side image browser that cycles through the images based on mouse movements.

Results

While there is a delay while waiting for the data to load, the user is able to enjoy a highly interactive experience once data has been loaded and processed on the client. Server side rendering provides a much less enjoyable experience, however further work optimizing the server side rendering system should result in an acceptable user experience. There is less computation required on the client with the server side rendering however. Performance considerations aside, this is a basic demonstration of the potential provided by applying security policy to protection mechanisms relevant to collaborative scientific discovery.

Conclusion

Collaboration and visualization of data are key to insight. Insight is the foundation for scientific discovery. Unfortunately, agile collaboration can be complicated both by the increasing volume, velocity and complexity of data as well as complicated relationships between different regulations, legal agreements and user preferences. By clearly identifying gaps between the current state of scientific data management and the desired future state it is hoped that tools may be developed to address this gap and provide effective access controls and a mapping between clearance levels and appropriate protection mechanisms. As a first step and proof of concept towards this goal, a prototype visualization tool has been developed that supports visualization on the client browser or on the server only, depending on the authorization level of a user. While this is a simple example of applying security policy to control a collaborative visualization tool, many exciting future extensions of this work have been identified so that this prototype may become part of a greater secure collaboration ecosystem.

Bibliography

- [1] 8ninths. Citi Holographic Workstation for Financial Trading. http://8ninths.com/ case-study/citi-holographic-workstation. Accessed: 2017-01-05.
- [2] M. Abadi, A. Chu, I. Goodfellow, H. B. McMahan, I. Mironov, K. Talwar, and L. Zhang. Deep learning with differential privacy. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1607.00133*, 2016.
- [3] F. Abidi, N. Polys, S. Rajamohan, L. Arsenault, and A. Mohammed. Remote high performance visualization of big data for immersive science. In *Proceedings of the High Performance Computing Symposium*, page 5. Society for Computer Simulation International, 2018.
- [4] F. Abraham and W. Celes. Distributed visualization of complex black oil reservoir models. In *Proceedings of the 9th Eurographics conference on Parallel Graphics and Visualization*, pages 87–94. Eurographics Association, 2009.
- [5] A. Adams and M. A. Sasse. Users are not the enemy. *Communications of the ACM*, 42(12):40–46, 1999.
- [6] I. Agudo, R. Rios, and J. Lopez. A privacy-aware continuous authentication scheme for proximity-based access control. *Computers & Security*, 39:117–126, 2013.
- [7] G. Aldrich, J. D. Hyman, S. Karra, C. W. Gable, N. Makedonska, H. Viswanathan, J. Woodring, and B. Hamann. Analysis and visualization of discrete fracture networks using a flow topology graph. *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics*, 23(8):1896–1909, 2017.
- [8] M. Almorsy, J. Grundy, and A. Ibrahim. Collaboration-based cloud computing security management framework. In *Cloud Computing (CLOUD), 2011 IEEE International Conference on*, pages 364–371, July 2011.

- [9] C. Altenhofen, A. Dietrich, A. Stork, and D. Fellner. Rixels: Towards secure interactive 3d graphics in engineering clouds. *The IPSI BgD Transactions on Internet Research*, page 31, 2016.
- [10] X. Amatriain, J. Kuchera-Morin, T. Höllerer, and S. T. Pope. The allosphere: Immersive multimedia for scientific discovery and artistic exploration. *IEEE MultiMedia*, 16(2):64–75, 2009.
- [11] R. Ananthakrishnan, K. Chard, I. Foster, and S. Tuecke. Globus platform-as-a-service for collaborative science applications. *Concurrency and Computation: Practice and Experience*, 2014.
- [12] C. A. Andújar Gran, P. Brunet Crosa, Á. Vinacua Pla, M. Á. Vico Moya, and J. Díaz García. A multi-projector cave system with commodity hardware and gesture-based interaction. 2017.
- [13] F. J. Anscombe. Graphs in statistical analysis. *The American Statistician*, 27(1):17–21, 1973.
- [14] Apache Software Foundation. Apache Flink. http://flink.apache.org/. Accessed: 2016-05-01.
- [15] Apache Software Foundation. Apache Hadoop. http://hadoop.apache.org/. Accessed: 2016-05-01.
- [16] Apache Software Foundation. Apache Samza. http://samza.apache.org/. Accessed: 2016-05-01.
- [17] Apache Software Foundation. Apache Spark. http://spark.apache.org/. Accessed: 2016-05-01.
- [18] Apache Software Foundation. Apache Storm. http://storm.apache.org/. Accessed: 2016-05-01.
- [19] C. Ardito, P. Buono, M. F. Costabile, and G. Desolda. Interaction with large displays: a survey. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 47(3):46, 2015.
- [20] A. Armando, M. Bezzi, F. Di Cerbo, and N. Metoui. Balancing trust and risk in access control. In OTM Confederated International Conferences" On the Move to Meaningful Internet Systems", pages 660–676. Springer, 2015.
- [21] M. Asch, T. Moore, R. Badia, M. Beck, P. Beckman, T. Bidot, F. Bodin, F. Cappello, A. Choudhary, B. de Supinski, et al. Big data and extreme-scale computing: Pathways to convergence-toward a shaping strategy for a future software and data ecosystem for scientific inquiry. *The International Journal of High Performance Computing Applications*, 32(4):435–479, 2018.
- [22] U. Ayachit, A. Bauer, B. Geveci, P. O'Leary, K. Moreland, N. Fabian, and J. Mauldin. Paraview catalyst: Enabling in situ data analysis and visualization. In *Proceedings of the First Workshop on In Situ Infrastructures for Enabling Extreme-Scale Analysis and Visualization*, pages 25–29. ACM, 2015.
- [23] E. Aygar, C. Ware, and D. Rogers. The contribution of stereoscopic and motion depth cues to the perception of structures in 3d point clouds. *ACM Trans. Appl. Percept.*, 15(2):9:1–9:13, Feb. 2018.
- [24] D. Baca, M. Boldt, B. Carlsson, and A. Jacobsson. A novel security-enhanced agile software development process applied in an industrial setting. In *Availability, Reliability and Security* (ARES), 2015 10th International Conference on, pages 11–19. IEEE, 2015.
- [25] Barco Visual Solutions, Inc. Barco MoVE. https://www.barco.com/en/product/ move. Accessed: 2018-09-05.
- [26] S. Barker. The next 700 access control models or a unifying meta-model? In *Proceedings* of the 14th ACM symposium on Access control models and technologies, pages 187–196.

ACM, 2009.

- [27] T. Bednarz, C. James, E. Widzyk-Capehart, C. Caris, and L. Alem. Distributed collaborative immersive virtual reality framework for the mining industry. In *Machine Vision and Mechatronics in Practice*, pages 39–48. Springer, 2015.
- [28] S. Benford, C. Greenhalgh, G. Reynard, C. Brown, and B. Koleva. Understanding and constructing shared spaces with mixed-reality boundaries. ACM Transactions on computerhuman interaction (TOCHI), 5(3):185–223, 1998.
- [29] L. P. Berg and J. M. Vance. Industry use of virtual reality in product design and manufacturing: a survey. *Virtual Reality*, pages 1–17, 2016.
- [30] A. Bianchi and I. Oakley. Wearable authentication: Trends and opportunities. *it-Information Technology*, 58(5):255–262, 2016.
- [31] L. Bilke, T. Fischer, C. Helbig, C. Krawczyk, T. Nagel, D. Naumov, S. Paulick, K. Rink, A. Sachse, S. Schelenz, et al. Tessin vislablaboratory for scientific visualization. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 72(10):3881–3899, 2014.
- [32] M. Billinghurst, M. Cordeil, A. Bezerianos, and T. Margolis. Collaborative immersive analytics. In *Immersive Analytics*, pages 221–257. Springer, 2018.
- [33] R. B. Bouncken, J. Gast, S. Kraus, and M. Bogers. Coopetition: a systematic review, synthesis, and future research directions. *Review of Managerial Science*, 9(3):577–601, 2015.
- [34] P. Bourke. Low cost projection environment for immersive gaming. In JMM (Journal of Multimedia), ISSN: 1796-2048, Volume 3, Issue, pages 41–46, 2008.
- [35] D. A. Bowman, J. L. Gabbard, and D. Hix. A survey of usability evaluation in virtual environments: classification and comparison of methods. *Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments*, 11(4):404–424, 2002.

- [36] D. A. Bowman and R. P. McMahan. Virtual reality: how much immersion is enough? *Computer*, 40(7):36–43, 2007.
- [37] D. A. Bowman, R. P. McMahan, and E. D. Ragan. Questioning naturalism in 3d user interfaces. *Communications of the ACM*, 55(9):78–88, 2012.
- [38] S. L. Brand. Dod 5200.28-std department of defense trusted computer system evaluation criteria (orange book). *National Computer Security Center*, pages 1–94, 1985.
- [39] R. Brath. 3d infovis is here to stay: Deal with it. In 3DVis (3DVis), 2014 IEEE VIS International Workshop on, pages 25–31. IEEE, 2014.
- [40] M. Brehmer and T. Munzner. A multi-level typology of abstract visualization tasks. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 19(12):2376–2385, 2013.
- [41] Brown University. The YURT. https://web1.ccv.brown.edu/viz-yurt. Accessed: 2018-01-05.
- [42] F. Brudy, D. Ledo, S. Greenberg, and A. Butz. Is anyone looking? mitigating shoulder surfing on public displays through awareness and protection. In *Proceedings of The International Symposium on Pervasive Displays*, PerDis '14, pages 1:1–1:6, New York, NY, USA, 2014. ACM.
- [43] N. Brunhart-Lupo, B. W. Bush, K. Gruchalla, and S. Smith. Simulation exploration through immersive parallel planes. In *Immersive Analytics (IA), 2016 Workshop on*, pages 19–24.
 IEEE, 2016.
- [44] V. Buchanan, Y. Lu, N. McNeese, M. Steptoe, R. Maciejewski, and N. Cooke. The role of teamwork in the analysis of big data: A study of visual analytics and box office prediction. *Big data*, 5(1):53–66, 2017.

- [45] S. Butscher, S. Hubenschmid, J. Müller, J. Fuchs, and H. Reiterer. Clusters, trends, and outliers: How immersive technologies can facilitate the collaborative analysis of multidimensional data. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '18, pages 90:1–90:12, New York, NY, USA, 2018. ACM.
- [46] A. Butz, C. Beshers, and S. Feiner. Of vampire mirrors and privacy lamps: Privacy management in multi-user augmented environments. In *Proceedings of the 11th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology*, pages 171–172. ACM, 1998.
- [47] S. Caíno-Lores and J. Carretero. A survey on data-centric and data-aware techniques for large scale infrastructures. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, International Journal of Computer, Electrical, Automation, Control and Information Engineering, 10(3):464–470, 2016.
- [48] S. P. Callahan, J. Freire, E. Santos, C. E. Scheidegger, C. T. Silva, and H. T. Vo. Vistrails: visualization meets data management. In *Proceedings of the 2006 ACM SIGMOD international conference on Management of data*, pages 745–747. ACM, 2006.
- [49] L. Carata, S. Akoush, N. Balakrishnan, T. Bytheway, R. Sohan, M. Selter, and A. Hopper.A primer on provenance. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(5):52–60, 2014.
- [50] M. Card. *Readings in information visualization: using vision to think*. Morgan Kaufmann, 1999.
- [51] S. Cartwright, E. Sharlin, M. Costa Sousa, and Z. Chen. Investigating the effectiveness of security-enhancing visual protections for immersive collaboration. In *Poster Session Proceedings of the 44th Graphics Interface Conference*, GI '18. Canadian Human-Computer Communications Society, 2018.
- [52] A. Cavoukian, M. Chibba, G. Williamson, and A. Ferguson. The importance of abac: Attribute-based access control to big data: Privacy and context. *Privacy and Big Data*

Institute, Ryerson University, Toronto, Canada, 2015.

- [53] T. Chandler, M. Cordeil, T. Czauderna, T. Dwyer, J. Glowacki, C. Goncu, M. Klapperstueck,
 K. Klein, K. Marriott, F. Schreiber, et al. Immersive analytics. In *Big Data Visual Analytics* (*BDVA*), 2015, pages 1–8. IEEE, 2015.
- [54] Z. Chen. *Reservoir simulation: mathematical techniques in oil recovery*, volume 77. Siam, 2007.
- [55] H. Childs. Visit: An end-user tool for visualizing and analyzing very large data. 2013.
- [56] M. A. Chowdhury, J. Light, and W. McIver. A framework for continuous authentication in ubiquitous environments. In Wireless Communication and Sensor Networks (WCSN), 2010 Sixth International Conference on, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2010.
- [57] E. Chung, N. Kwon, and J. Lee. Understanding scientific collaboration in the research life cycle: Bio- and nanoscientists' motivations, information-sharing and communication practices, and barriers to collaboration. *J. Assoc. Inf. Sci. Technol.*, 67(8):1836–1848, Aug. 2016.
- [58] K. A. Cook and J. J. Thomas. Illuminating the path: The research and development agenda for visual analytics. Technical report, Pacific Northwest National Lab.(PNNL), Richland, WA (United States), 2005.
- [59] E. Coyne and T. R. Weil. Abac and rbac: scalable, flexible, and auditable access management. *IT Professional*, 15(3):14–16, 2013.
- [60] M. S. Crabtree and J. D. Ianni. Survey of collaboration technologies in multi-level security environments. Technical report, DTIC Document, 2014.
- [61] C. Cruz-Neira, D. J. Sandin, and T. A. DeFanti. Surround-screen projection-based virtual reality: the design and implementation of the cave. In *Proceedings of the 20th annual conference on Computer graphics and interactive techniques*, pages 135–142. ACM, 1993.

- [62] M. Csikszentmihalyi. Flow: The Psychology of Optimal Experience. Harper Collins, 1991.
- [63] V. Cuevas-Vicenttín, S. Dey, S. Köhler, S. Riddle, and B. Ludäscher. Scientific workflows and provenance: Introduction and research opportunities. *Datenbank-Spektrum*, 12(3):193– 203, 2012.
- [64] R. F. da Silva, R. Filgueira, I. Pietri, M. Jiang, R. Sakellariou, and E. Deelman. A characterization of workflow management systems for extreme-scale applications. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 75:228–238, 2017.
- [65] B. Dattée, O. Alexy, and E. Autio. Maneuvering in poor visibility: How firms play the ecosystem game when uncertainty is high. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(2):466– 498, 2018.
- [66] J. P. Davis. The group dynamics of interorganizational relationships: Collaborating with multiple partners in innovation ecosystems. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 61(4):621– 661, 2016.
- [67] F. M. de Carvalho, E. V. Brazil, R. G. Marroquim, M. C. Sousa, and A. Oliveira. Interactive cutaways of oil reservoirs. *Graphical Models*, 84:1–14, 2016.
- [68] J. Dean and S. Ghemawat. Mapreduce: simplified data processing on large clusters. Communications of the ACM, 51(1):107–113, 2008.
- [69] T. DeFanti, D. Acevedo, R. Ainsworth, M. Brown, S. Cutchin, G. Dawe, K.-U. Doerr, A. Johnson, C. Knox, R. Kooima, et al. The future of the cave. *Open Engineering*, 1(1):16–37, 2011.
- [70] T. A. DeFanti, G. Dawe, D. J. Sandin, J. P. Schulze, P. Otto, J. Girado, F. Kuester, L. Smarr, and R. Rao. The starcave, a third-generation cave and virtual reality optiportal. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 25(2):169–178, 2009.

- [71] Dell Corporation. Halliburton Landmark Utilizes Dell Precision Workstations to Power Its
 Oil and Gas Software Solutions. http://youtu.be/kWcHyYag588. Accessed: 2018-02-01.
- [72] Y. Demchenko, Z. Zhao, P. Grosso, A. Wibisono, and C. de Laat. Addressing big data challenges for scientific data infrastructure. In *CloudCom*, pages 614–617, 2012.
- [73] T. Denning, Z. Dehlawi, and T. Kohno. In situ with bystanders of augmented reality glasses: Perspectives on recording and privacy-mediating technologies. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 2377–2386. ACM, 2014.
- [74] B. Dietmeyer and R. Kaplan. *Strategic Negotiation: A breakthrough 4-step process for effective business negotiation*. Dearborn Trade Publishing, 2004.
- [75] Digital Projection Inc. Digital Projection. http://www.digitalprojection.com. Accessed: 2018-01-05.
- [76] Y. Ding, A. Abiri, P. Abiri, S. Li, C.-C. Chang, K. I. Baek, J. J. Hsu, E. Sideris, Y. Li, J. Lee, et al. Integrating light-sheet imaging with virtual reality to recapitulate developmental cardiac mechanics. *JCI Insight*, 2(22), 11 2017.
- [77] A. Dix, A. Friday, B. Koleva, T. Rodden, H. Muller, C. Randell, and A. Steed. Multiple spaces. In *Spaces, Spatiality and Technology*, pages 151–172. Springer, 2005.
- [78] Django Software Foundation. Django Web Framework. https://www.djangoproject. com. Accessed: 2014-09-20.
- [79] C. Donalek, S. G. Djorgovski, A. Cioc, A. Wang, J. Zhang, E. Lawler, S. Yeh, A. Mahabal,
 M. Graham, A. Drake, et al. Immersive and collaborative data visualization using virtual reality platforms. In *Big Data (Big Data), 2014 IEEE International Conference on*, pages 609–614. IEEE, 2014.

- [80] I. H. dos Santos, L. P. Soares, and A. Raposo. A collaborative virtual reality oil & gas workflow. *International Journal of Virtual Reality*, 11(1):2, 2012.
- [81] S. Doutreligne, T. Cragnolini, S. Pasquali, P. Derreumaux, and M. Baaden. Unitymol: Interactive scientific visualization for integrative biology. In *Large Data Analysis and Visualization (LDAV)*, 2014 IEEE 4th Symposium on, pages 109–110. IEEE, 2014.
- [82] R. Dusterhoft, S. Siddiqui, and C. Davila. Enabling cross-discipline collaboration and forward modeling through advanced subsurface geocellular earth modeling. *Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology*, 63(4):393–402, 2015.
- [83] D. Edge, N. H. Riche, J. Larson, and C. White. Beyond tasks: An activity typology for visual analytics. *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics*, 24(1):267– 277, 2018.
- [84] M. Eiband, M. Khamis, E. von Zezschwitz, H. Hussmann, and F. Alt. Understanding shoulder surfing in the wild: Stories from users and observers. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 4254–4265. ACM, 2017.
- [85] N. Elmqvist, A. V. Moere, H.-C. Jetter, D. Cernea, H. Reiterer, and T. Jankun-Kelly. Fluid interaction for information visualization. *Information Visualization*, 10(4):327–340, 2011.
- [86] W. Elsayed, T. Gaber, N. Zhang, and M. I. Moussa. Access control models for pervasive environments: A survey. In *The 1st International Conference on Advanced Intelligent System and Informatics (AISI2015), November 28-30, 2015, Beni Suef, Egypt*, pages 511–522. Springer, 2016.
- [87] K. Engel, T. Ertl, P. Hastreiter, B. Tomandl, and K. Eberhardt. Combining local and remote visualization techniques for interactive volume rendering in medical applications. In *Proceedings of the conference on Visualization'00*, pages 449–452. IEEE Computer Society Press, 2000.

- [88] J. G. Estrada, J. P. Springer, and H. Wright. Simplifying collaboration in co-located virtual environments using the active-passive approach. In *Collaborative Virtual Environments* (3DCVE), 2015 IEEE Second VR International Workshop on, pages 1–7. IEEE, 2015.
- [89] S. Etemad, A. Behrang, P. Mohammadmoradi, and A. Kantzas. Pore level investigation of steam injection processes; visualization of oil entrapment and steam propagation. *Journal* of Petroleum Science and Engineering, 158:603–615, 2017.
- [90] A. Evans, M. Romeo, A. Bahrehmand, J. Agenjo, and J. Blat. 3d graphics on the web: A survey. *Computers & Graphics*, 41:43–61, 2014.
- [91] A. Febretti, A. Nishimoto, V. Mateevitsi, L. Renambot, A. Johnson, and J. Leigh. Omegalib: A multi-view application framework for hybrid reality display environments. In *Virtual Reality (VR), 2014 iEEE*, pages 9–14. IEEE, 2014.
- [92] A. Febretti, A. Nishimoto, T. Thigpen, J. Talandis, L. Long, J. Pirtle, T. Peterka, A. Verlo, M. Brown, D. Plepys, et al. Cave2: a hybrid reality environment for immersive simulation and information analysis. In *IS&T/SPIE Electronic Imaging*, pages 864903–864903. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2013.
- [93] A. Febretti, K. Richmond, P. Doran, and A. Johnson. Parallel processing and immersive visualization of sonar point clouds. In *Large Data Analysis and Visualization (LDAV)*, 2014 *IEEE 4th Symposium on*, pages 111–112. IEEE, 2014.
- [94] A. S. Fernandes and S. K. Feiner. Combating vr sickness through subtle dynamic fieldof-view modification. In 3D User Interfaces (3DUI), 2016 IEEE Symposium on, pages 201–210. IEEE, 2016.
- [95] D. Ferraiolo, R. Chandramouli, V. Hu, and R. Kuhn. Nist special publication 800-178.2016.

- [96] S. Fiore, C. Palazzo, A. D'Anca, I. Foster, D. Williams, and G. Aloisio. A big data analytics framework for scientific data management. In *Big Data*, 2013 IEEE International Conference on, pages 1–8, Oct 2013.
- [97] C. Fleury, N. Ferey, J.-M. Vézien, and P. Bourdot. Remote collaboration across heterogeneous large interactive spaces. In *Collaborative Virtual Environments (3DCVE), 2015 IEEE Second VR International Workshop on*, pages 9–10. IEEE, 2015.
- [98] P. W. Fong. Relationship-based access control: protection model and policy language. In Proceedings of the first ACM conference on Data and application security and privacy, pages 191–202. ACM, 2011.
- [99] M. Friendly. A brief history of data visualization. In *Handbook of data visualization*, pages 15–56. Springer, 2008.
- [100] B. Froehlich, S. Beck, A.-C. Bernstein, H. Gruendl, M. Grunwald, A. Kulik, A. Kunert,
 P. Riehmann, A. Schollmeyer, and S. Thiele. Virtual reality and visualization research at bauhaus-universitat weimar. *Poster: IEEE Virtual Reality*, 2015.
- [101] B. Froehlich, J. Hoffmann, K. Klueger, and J. Hochstrate. Implementing multi-viewer timesequential stereo displays based on shuttered lcd projectors. In 4th Immersive Projection Technology Workshop, Ames, Iowa. Citeseer, 2004.
- [102] E. Gaebel, N. Zhang, W. Lou, and Y. T. Hou. Looks good to me: Authentication for augmented reality. In *Proceedings of the 6th International Workshop on Trustworthy Embedded Devices*, pages 57–67. ACM, 2016.
- [103] R. J. García-Hernández, C. Anthes, M. Wiedemann, and D. Kranzlmüller. Perspectives for using virtual reality to extend visual data mining in information visualization. In *Aerospace Conference, 2016 IEEE*, pages 1–11. IEEE, 2016.

- [104] C. Goerge, M. Khamis, E. von Zezschwitz, M. Burger, H. Schmidt, F. Alt, and H. Hussmann. Seamless and secure vr: Adapting and evaluating established authentication systems for virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the Network and Distributed System Security Symposium* (USEC17). NDSS. DOI: http://dx. doi. org/10.14722/usec, 2017.
- [105] J. S. Gomes and F. B. Alves. The Universe of the Oil and Gas Industry: From Exploration to Refining. Partex Oil and Gas, 2013.
- [106] A. Gómez-Iglesias and R. Arora. Using high performance computing for conquering big data. In *Conquering Big Data with High Performance Computing*, pages 13–30. Springer, 2016.
- [107] A. Gonçalves and S. Bermúdez. Kave: Building kinect based cave automatic virtual environments, methods for surround-screen projection management, motion parallax and full-body interaction support. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 2(EICS):10, 2018.
- [108] D. Gotz and M. X. Zhou. Characterizing users' visual analytic activity for insight provenance. *Information Visualization*, 8(1):42–55, 2009.
- [109] V. Goyal, O. Pandey, A. Sahai, and B. Waters. Attribute-based encryption for fine-grained access control of encrypted data. In *Proceedings of the 13th ACM conference on Computer* and communications security, pages 89–98. Acm, 2006.
- [110] J. Gray, D. T. Liu, M. Nieto-Santisteban, A. Szalay, D. J. DeWitt, and G. Heber. Scientific data management in the coming decade. *SIGMOD Rec.*, 34(4):34–41, Dec. 2005.
- [111] K. Gruchalla. Immersive well-path editing: investigating the added value of immersion. In *Virtual Reality, 2004. Proceedings. IEEE*, pages 157–164. IEEE, 2004.
- [112] J. Grudin. Computer-supported cooperative work: History and focus. *Computer*, 27(5):19–26, 1994.

- [113] D. Guan, C. Yang, W. Sun, Y. Wei, W. Gai, Y. Bian, J. Liu, Q. Sun, S. Zhao, and X. Meng. Two kinds of novel multi-user immersive display systems. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, page 599. ACM, 2018.
- [114] R. Hackathorn and T. Margolis. Immersive analytics: Building virtual data worlds for collaborative decision support. In *Immersive Analytics (IA), 2016 Workshop on*, pages 44–47. IEEE, 2016.
- [115] D. Hähn, N. Rannou, B. Ahtam, E. Grant, and R. Pienaar. Neuroimaging in the browser using the x toolkit. In Front. Neuroinform. Conference Abstract: 5th INCF Congress of Neuroinformatics. doi: 10.3389/conf. fninf, volume 101, 2014.
- [116] E. T. Hall. The hidden dimension, volume 609. Garden City, NY: Doubleday, 1966.
- [117] S. M. Hasani and N. Modiri. Criteria specifications for the comparison and evaluation of access control models. *International Journal of Computer Network and Information Security*, 5(5):19–29, 2013.
- [118] E. T. Hassan, R. Hasan, P. Shaffer, D. Crandall, and A. Kapadia. Cartooning for enhanced privacy in lifelogging and streaming videos. In *Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops (CVPRW), 2017 IEEE Conference on. IEEE*, pages 1333–1342, 2017.
- [119] H. Hassani, E. S. Silva, and A. M. Al Kaabi. The role of innovation and technology in sustaining the petroleum and petrochemical industry. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 119:1–17, 2017.
- [120] L. He, N. Chaudhary, and S. A. Jarvis. Developing security-aware resource management strategies for workflows. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 38:61–68, 2014.
- [121] J. Heer and M. Agrawala. Design considerations for collaborative visual analytics. *Information visualization*, 7(1):49–62, 2008.

[122] HTC Inc. HTC Vive. https://www.vive.com/ca/. Accessed: 2016-08-01.

- [123] V. Hu, D. F. Ferraiolo, D. R. Kuhn, R. N. Kacker, and Y. Lei. Implementing and managing policy rules in attribute based access control. In *Information Reuse and Integration (IRI)*, 2015 IEEE International Conference on, pages 518–525. IEEE, 2015.
- [124] V. C. Hu, D. Ferraiolo, R. Kuhn, A. R. Friedman, A. J. Lang, M. M. Cogdell, A. Schnitzer,
 K. Sandlin, R. Miller, K. Scarfone, et al. Guide to attribute based access control (abac)
 definition and considerations (draft). *NIST Special Publication*, 800(162), 2013.
- [125] V. C. Hu and K. A. Kent. *Guidelines for access control system evaluation metrics*. Citeseer, 2012.
- [126] V. C. Hu, D. R. Kuhn, and D. F. Ferraiolo. Attribute-based access control. *IEEE Computer*, 48(2):85–88, 2015.
- [127] M. Hudák, Š. Korečko, and B. Sobota. On architecture and performance of lirkis cave system. In 2017 8th IEEE International Conference on Cognitive Infocommunications (CogInfoCom), pages 295–300, Sept 2017.
- [128] S. Hussain, R. O. Sinnott, and R. Poet. Architectural patterns for security-oriented workflows in collaborative environments. In Security, Privacy, and Anonymity in Computation, Communication, and Storage: 9th International Conference, SpaCCS 2016, Zhangjiajie, China, November 16-18, 2016, Proceedings, pages 406–421. Springer, 2016.
- [129] Indicated. Neuron Safari. https://indicated.co/ neuron-safari-visual-science-in-virtual-reality. Accessed: 2016-12-01.
- [130] P. Isenberg, N. Elmqvist, J. Scholtz, D. Cernea, K.-L. Ma, and H. Hagen. Collaborative visualization: Definition, challenges, and research agenda. *Information Visualization*, 10(4):310–326, 2011.

- [131] R. J. Jacob, A. Girouard, L. M. Hirshfield, M. S. Horn, O. Shaer, E. T. Solovey, and J. Zigelbaum. Reality-based interaction: a framework for post-wimp interfaces. In *Proceedings* of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems, pages 201–210. ACM, 2008.
- [132] H. Jagadish, J. Gehrke, A. Labrinidis, Y. Papakonstantinou, J. M. Patel, R. Ramakrishnan, and C. Shahabi. Big data and its technical challenges. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(7):86–94, 2014.
- [133] H.-C. Jetter, H. Reiterer, and F. Geyer. Blended interaction: understanding natural humancomputer interaction in post-wimp interactive spaces. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 18(5):1139–1158, 2014.
- [134] X. Jin, R. Krishnan, and R. Sandhu. A role-based administration model for attributes. In Proceedings of the First International Workshop on Secure and Resilient Architectures and Systems, pages 7–12. ACM, 2012.
- [135] C. Johnson. Top scientific visualization research problems. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, (4):13–17, 2004.
- [136] W. Jonker and M. Petković. Security, privacy and trust: From innovation blocker to innovation enabler. In *Secure Data Management*, pages 54–58. Springer, 2014.
- [137] D. Kafura and D. Gracanin. An information flow control meta-model. In *Proceedings of the* 18th ACM symposium on Access control models and technologies, pages 101–112. ACM, 2013.
- [138] M. Kahng, P. Y. Andrews, A. Kalro, and D. H. P. Chau. Activis: Visual exploration of industry-scale deep neural network models. *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics*, 24(1):88–97, 2018.

- [139] S. Kandel, A. Paepcke, J. Hellerstein, and J. Heer. Enterprise data analysis and visualization: An interview study. *Visualization and Computer Graphics, IEEE Transactions on*, 18(12):2917–2926, Dec 2012.
- [140] A. G. Karkar, M. E. Chowdhury, and N. Nawaz. Surround-screen mobile based projection: Design and implementation of mobile cave virtual reality. *IEEE Access*, 2017.
- [141] A. H. Karp, H. Haury, and M. H. Davis. From abac to zbac: the evolution of access control models. *Hewlett-Packard Development Company*, LP, 21, 2009.
- [142] J. P. Kasse, L. Xu, Y. Bai, et al. The need for compliance verification in collaborative business processes. In *Working Conference on Virtual Enterprises*, pages 217–229. Springer, 2018.
- [143] N. Kawano, R. Theriot, J. Lam, E. Wu, A. Guagliardo, D. Kobayashi, A. Gonzalez, K. Uchida, and J. Leigh. The destiny-class cybercanoe–a surround screen, stereoscopic, cyber-enabled collaboration analysis navigation and observation environment. *Electronic Imaging*, 2017(3):25–30, 2017.
- [144] A. Kayser, S. Warner, and R. Gras. Using virtual reality to visualize the internal microstructure of rocks in 3d. In *66th EAGE Conference & Exhibition*, 2004.
- [145] D. Keim, G. Andrienko, J.-D. Fekete, C. Görg, J. Kohlhammer, and G. Melançon. Visual analytics: Definition, process, and challenges. In *Information visualization*, pages 154–175. Springer, 2008.
- [146] D. A. Keim. Visual exploration of large data sets. *Communications of the ACM*, 44(8):38–44, 2001.
- [147] D. A. Keim. Information visualization and visual data mining. *IEEE Transactions on Visu*alization & Computer Graphics, (1):1–8, 2002.

- [148] R. S. Kennedy, N. E. Lane, K. S. Berbaum, and M. G. Lilienthal. Simulator sickness questionnaire: An enhanced method for quantifying simulator sickness. *The international journal of aviation psychology*, 3(3):203–220, 1993.
- [149] R. Khadka, N. Shetty, E. T. Whiting, and A. Banic. Evaluation of collaborative actions to inform design of a remote interactive collaboration framework for immersive data visualizations. In *International Symposium on Visual Computing*, pages 472–481. Springer, 2016.
- [150] Khronos Group. WebGL. https://www.khronos.org/webgl. Accessed: 2016-08-01.
- [151] G.-H. Kim, S. Trimi, and J.-H. Chung. Big-data applications in the government sector. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(3):78–85, 2014.
- [152] G. L. Kinsland and C. W. Borst. Visualization and interpretation of geologic data in 3d virtual reality. *Interpretation*, 3(3):SX13–SX20, 2015.
- [153] U. Kister, P. Reipschläger, F. Matulic, and R. Dachselt. Bodylenses: Embodied magic lenses and personal territories for wall displays. In *Proceedings of the 2015 International Conference on Interactive Tabletops & Surfaces*, pages 117–126. ACM, 2015.
- [154] Kitware Inc. ParaView. http://www.paraview.org. Accessed: 2014-09-20.
- [155] Kitware Inc. VTK The Visualization Toolkit. http://http://www.vtk.org. Accessed: 2014-09-20.
- [156] T. Kohno, J. Kollin, D. Molnar, and F. Roesner. Display leakage and transparent wearable displays: Investigation of risk, root causes, and defenses. Technical report, Microsoft Research, 2015.
- [157] B. Koleva, S. Benford, and C. Greenhalgh. The properties of mixed reality boundaries. In ECSCW99, pages 119–137. Springer, 1999.

- [158] R. Kosara, S. Miksch, and H. Hauser. Focus+ context taken literally. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 22(1):22–29, 2002.
- [159] Z. Kowalczuk and M. Tatara. Sphere drive and control system for haptic interaction with physical, virtual, and augmented reality. *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, 2018.
- [160] H. Krishnan, C. Harrison, B. Whitlock, D. Pugmire, and H. Childs. Exploring collaborative hpc visualization workflows using visit and python. 2013.
- [161] R. Krishnan, J. Niu, R. Sandhu, and W. H. Winsborough. Foundations for group-centric secure information sharing models. In *In Proc. of the ACM Symp. on Access Control Models* and Tech, pages 115–124, 2009.
- [162] J. Kuchera-Morin, M. Wright, G. Wakefield, C. Roberts, D. Adderton, B. Sajadi, T. Höllerer, and A. Majumder. Immersive full-surround multi-user system design. *Computers & Graphics*, 40:10–21, 2014.
- [163] T. W. Kuhlen and B. Hentschel. Quo vadis cave: does immersive visualization still matter? *IEEE computer graphics and applications*, 34(5):14–21, 2014.
- [164] A. Kulik, A. Kunert, S. Beck, R. Reichel, R. Blach, A. Zink, and B. Froehlich. C1x6: A stereoscopic six-user display for co-located collaboration in shared virtual environments. In *Proceedings of the 2011 SIGGRAPH Asia Conference*, SA '11, pages 188:1–188:12, New York, NY, USA, 2011. ACM.
- [165] E. Kušen and M. Strembeck. Security-related research in ubiquitous computing–results of a systematic literature review. arXiv preprint arXiv:1701.00773, 2017.
- [166] T. Kwasnitschka. Planetariums-not just for kids. *Nature*, 544(7651), 2017.
- [167] P.-Y. Laffont and A. Hasnain. Adaptive dynamic refocusing: toward solving discomfort in virtual reality. In ACM SIGGRAPH 2017 Emerging Technologies, page 1. ACM, 2017.

- [168] B. Laha, D. A. Bowman, and J. J. Socha. Effects of vr system fidelity on analyzing isosurface visualization of volume datasets. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 20(4):513–522, 2014.
- [169] B. Laha, K. Sensharma, J. D. Schiffbauer, and D. A. Bowman. Effects of immersion on visual analysis of volume data. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 18(4):597–606, 2012.
- [170] C.-F. Lai, H.-C. Chao, Z.-R. Tsai, Y.-H. Lai, and M. M. Hassan. A hybrid remote rendering approach for graphic applications on cloud computing. In *International Conference on Cloud Computing*, pages 3–17. Springer, 2014.
- [171] L. Lamport. Password authentication with insecure communication. Communications of the ACM, 24(11):770–772, 1981.
- [172] A.-L. Lamprecht and K. J. Turner. Scientific workflows. *International Journal on Software Tools for Technology Transfer*, 18(6):575–580, 2016.
- [173] B. W. Lampson. Protection. ACM SIGOPS Operating Systems Review, 8(1):18–24, 1974.
- [174] E. Lantz. A survey of large-scale immersive displays. In Proceedings of the 2007 workshop on Emerging displays technologies: images and beyond: the future of displays and interacton, page 1. ACM, 2007.
- [175] E. Lantz. Planetarium of the future. Curator: The Museum Journal, 54(3):293–312, 2011.
- [176] K. Lebeck, T. Kohno, and F. Roesner. How to safely augment reality: Challenges and directions. In *Proceedings of the 17th International Workshop on Mobile Computing Systems* and Applications, pages 45–50. ACM, 2016.
- [177] K. Lebeck, K. Ruth, T. Kohno, and F. Roesner. Securing augmented reality output. In Security and Privacy (SP), 2017 IEEE Symposium on, pages 320–337. IEEE, 2017.

[178] J. Lebiedź and J. Redlarski. Applications of immersive 3d visualization lab. 2016.

- [179] B. Lee, P. Isenberg, N. H. Riche, and S. Carpendale. Beyond mouse and keyboard: Expanding design considerations for information visualization interactions. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 18(12):2689–2698, 2012.
- [180] G. A. Lee, T. Teo, S. Kim, and M. Billinghurst. Mixed reality collaboration through sharing a live panorama. In SIGGRAPH Asia 2017 Mobile Graphics & Interactive Applications, page 14. ACM, 2017.
- [181] J.-Y. Lee, J.-H. Kwon, S.-H. Nam, J.-J. Lee, and B.-J. You. Coexistent space: Collaborative interaction in shared 3d space. In *Proceedings of the 2016 Symposium on Spatial User Interaction*, pages 175–175. ACM, 2016.
- [182] K. H. Leetaru. Towards hpc for the digital humanities, arts, and social sciences: Needs and challenges of adapting academic hpc for big data. In *E-Science (e-Science)*, 2012 IEEE 8th International Conference on, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2012.
- [183] S. M. Lehman and C. C. Tan. Privacymanager: An access control framework for mobile augmented reality applications. In *Communications and Network Security (CNS)*, 2017 *IEEE Conference on*, pages 1–9. IEEE, 2017.
- [184] N. Li, S. Cartwright, E. Sharlin, and M. Costa Sousa. Ningyo of the cave: Robots as social puppets of static infrastructure. In *Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Human-Agent Interaction*, HAI '14, pages 39–44. ACM, 2014.
- [185] N. Li, S. Cartwright, A. Shekhar Nittala, E. Sharlin, and M. Costa Sousa. Flying frustum: A spatial interface for enhancing human-uav awareness. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Human-Agent Interaction*, HAI '15, pages 27–31. ACM, 2015.
- [186] T. Li, J. Horkoff, and J. Mylopoulos. Holistic security requirements analysis for sociotechnical systems. *Software & Systems Modeling*, pages 1–33, 2016.

- [187] Y. Li, N. Vishwamitra, B. P. Knijnenburg, H. Hu, and K. Caine. Blur vs. block: Investigating the effectiveness of privacy-enhancing obfuscation for images. In *Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops (CVPRW), 2017 IEEE Conference on*, pages 1343–1351. IEEE, 2017.
- [188] Z. Li, C. Yang, M. Sun, J. Li, C. Xu, Q. Huang, and K. Liu. A high performance web-based system for analyzing and visualizing spatiotemporal data for climate studies. In S. Liang, X. Wang, and C. Claramunt, editors, *Web and Wireless Geographical Information Systems*, volume 7820 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 190–198. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [189] E. M. Lidal, T. Langeland, C. Giertsen, J. Grimsgaard, and R. Helland. A decade of increased oil recovery in virtual reality. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 27(6):94–97, Nov 2007.
- [190] A. Liew. Understanding data, information, knowledge and their inter-relationships. *Journal of Knowledge Management Practice*, 8(2):1–16, 2007.
- [191] J. Lifton and J. A. Paradiso. Dual reality: Merging the real and virtual. In International Conference on Facets of Virtual Environments, pages 12–28. Springer, 2009.
- [192] C.-R. Lin, R. B. Loftin, and H. Nelson. Interaction with geoscience data in an immersive environment. In *Virtual Reality*, 2000. Proceedings. IEEE, pages 55–62. IEEE, 2000.
- [193] H. Liu, L. Shen, Y. Chen, K. Wang, B. Yang, and Z. Chen. A parallel simulator for massive reservoir models utilizing distributed-memory parallel systems. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1701.06254*, 2017.
- [194] J. Liu, E. Pacitti, P. Valduriez, and M. Mattoso. A survey of data-intensive scientific workflow management. *Journal of Grid Computing*, 13(4):457–493, 2015.

- [195] W. Liu, S. Peng, W. Du, W. Wang, and G. Zeng. Security-aware intermediate data placement strategy in scientific cloud workflows. *Knowledge and Information Systems*, 41(2):423–447, 2014.
- [196] J. Llobera, B. Spanlang, G. Ruffini, and M. Slater. Proxemics with multiple dynamic characters in an immersive virtual environment. ACM Transactions on Applied Perception (TAP), 8(1):3, 2010.
- [197] S. Lu and J. Zhang. Collaborative scientific workflows. In Web Services, 2009. ICWS 2009. IEEE International Conference on, pages 527–534. IEEE, 2009.
- [198] A. Lucero, J. Clawson, J. Fischer, and S. Robinson. Mobile collocated interactions with wearables: past, present, and future. *mUX: The Journal of Mobile User Experience*, 5(1):6, 2016.
- [199] A. Lucero, T. Jokela, A. Palin, V. Aaltonen, and J. Nikara. Easygroups: binding mobile devices for collaborative interactions. In CHI'12 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 2189–2194. ACM, 2012.
- [200] Luciano Pereira dos Reis. Petrobras CENPES Research Center Visualization and Collaboration Center (NVC). https://docplayer.net/ 21104928-Petrobras-r-d-center-cenpes.html. Accessed: 2018-12-08.
- [201] B. Ludäscher. A brief tour through provenance in scientific workflows and databases. In Building Trust in Information, pages 103–126. Springer, 2016.
- [202] S. Lukosch, M. Billinghurst, L. Alem, and K. Kiyokawa. Collaboration in augmented reality. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW)*, 24(6):515–525, 2015.
- [203] R. Mahmudlu, J. den Hartog, and N. Zannone. Data governance & transparency for collaborative systems. *Proceedings of the 28th Annual IFIP WG*, 11, 2016.

- [204] G. E. Marai, A. G. Forbes, and A. Johnson. Interdisciplinary immersive analytics at the electronic visualization laboratory: Lessons learned and upcoming challenges. In *Immersive Analytics (IA), 2016 Workshop on*, pages 54–59. IEEE, 2016.
- [205] R. E. Maria, L. A. Rodrigues Jr, and N. A. Pinto. Scrums: a model for safe agile development. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Management of computational and collective intElligence in Digital EcoSystems, pages 43–47. ACM, 2015.
- [206] B. H. McCormic, T. A. DeFanti, and M. D. Brown. Visualization in scientific computing (visc): Definition, domain and recommendations, a special edition of. *Computer Graphics*, 21:6, 1987.
- [207] Mechdyne Corporation. Mechdyne Conduit. https://www.mechdyne.com/software. aspx?name=Conduit. Accessed: 2017-05-01.
- [208] M. Meehan, B. Insko, M. Whitton, and F. P. Brooks Jr. Physiological measures of presence in stressful virtual environments. *Acm transactions on graphics (tog)*, 21(3):645–652, 2002.
- [209] N. Melnikova, S. Orlov, N. Shabrov, V. Kiev, A. Kuzin, M. Resch, U. Woessner, and M. Aumüller. Cave 3d: software extensions for scientific visualization of large-scale models. *Procedia Computer Science*, 66:679–688, 2015.
- [210] Mesa. The Mesa 3D Graphics Library. http://www.mesa3d.org/osmesa.html. Accessed: 2014-09-20.
- [211] Microsoft Inc. Microsoft Hololens. https://www.microsoft.com/ microsoft-hololens/en-ca. Accessed: 2016-08-01.
- [212] MiddleVR. Improov3 Virtual Collaboration Platform for Professionals. https://www. youtube.com/watch?v=v45qJwt15aU. Accessed: 2018-01-05.
- [213] M. Midttun, R. Helland, and E. Finnstrom. Virtual realityadding value to exploration and production. *The Leading Edge*, 19(5):538–544, 2000.

- [214] P. Milgram and F. Kishino. A taxonomy of mixed reality visual displays. *IEICE TRANS-ACTIONS on Information and Systems*, 77(12):1321–1329, 1994.
- [215] P. Millais, S. L. Jones, and R. Kelly. Exploring data in virtual reality: Comparisons with 2d data visualizations. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, page LBW007. ACM, 2018.
- [216] J. H. Money and T. Szewczyk. Live integrated visualization environment: An experiment in generalized structured frameworks for visualization and analysis. In *Proceedings of the Practice and Experience in Advanced Research Computing 2017 on Sustainability, Success and Impact*, page 29. ACM, 2017.
- [217] M. M. Moniri, F. A. E. Valcarcel, D. Merkel, W. Schuffert, and T. Schwartz. Hybrid team interaction in the mixed reality continuum. In *Proceedings of the 22nd ACM Conference on Virtual Reality Software and Technology*, pages 335–336. ACM, 2016.
- [218] R. C. R. Mota, H. Hamdi, M. C. Sousa, E. Sharlin, and Z. Chen. A visual framework for reservoir connectivity analysis. In 78th EAGE Conference and Exhibition 2016, 2016.
- [219] C. Myers. Is your company encouraging employees to share what they know. Harvard Business Review, pages 1–9, 2015.
- [220] J. Myrcha, T. Trzciński, and P. Rokita. Virtual reality visualization algorithms for the alice high energy physics experiment on the lhc at cern. In *Photonics Applications in Astronomy, Communications, Industry, and High Energy Physics Experiments 2017*, volume 10445, page 1044547. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2017.
- [221] M. Narayan, L. Waugh, X. Zhang, P. Bafna, and D. Bowman. Quantifying the benefits of immersion for collaboration in virtual environments. In *Proceedings of the ACM symposium* on Virtual reality software and technology, pages 78–81. ACM, 2005.

- [222] C. Ngo, Y. Demchenko, and C. de Laat. Decision diagrams for xacml policy evaluation and management. *Computers & Security*, 49:1–16, 2015.
- [223] H. Nguyen, P. Marendy, and U. Engelke. Collaborative framework design for immersive analytics. In *Big Data Visual Analytics (BDVA)*, 2016, pages 1–8. IEEE, 2016.
- [224] A. S. Nittala, N. Li, S. Cartwright, K. Takashima, E. Sharlin, and M. C. Sousa. Planwell: Spatial user interface for collaborative petroleum well-planning. In SIGGRAPH Asia 2015 Mobile Graphics and Interactive Applications, SA '15, pages 19:1–19:8. ACM, 2015.
- [225] J. M. Noguera and J. R. Jiménez. Mobile volume rendering: Past, present and future. *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics*, 22(2):1164–1178, 2016.
- [226] D. Norman. *The design of everyday things: Revised and expanded edition*. Constellation, 2013.
- [227] D. A. Norman. Natural user interfaces are not natural. *interactions*, 17(3):6–10, 2010.
- [228] R. Nuwer. Wristband unlocks your devices with your heartbeat. New Scientist, 219(2933):19 –, 2013.
- [229] Nymi Inc. Nymi Band. https://nymi.com. Accessed: 2016-08-01.
- [230] Oculus Inc. Oculus Rift. https://www.oculus.com/. Accessed: 2016-08-01.
- [231] P. O'Leary, S. Jhaveri, A. Chaudhary, W. Sherman, K. Martin, D. Lonie, E. Whiting, J. Money, and S. McKenzie. Enhancements to vtk enabling scientific visualization in immersive environments. In *Virtual Reality (VR), 2017 IEEE*, pages 186–194. IEEE, 2017.
- [232] A. Ometov, S. Bezzateev, N. Mäkitalo, S. Andreev, T. Mikkonen, and Y. Koucheryavy. Multi-factor authentication: A survey. *Cryptography*, 2(1):1, 2018.

- [233] S. Orts-Escolano, C. Rhemann, S. Fanello, W. Chang, A. Kowdle, Y. Degtyarev, D. Kim, P. L. Davidson, S. Khamis, M. Dou, et al. Holoportation: Virtual 3d teleportation in realtime. In *Proceedings of the 29th Annual Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 741–754. ACM, 2016.
- [234] D. Owens, A. Davis, J. D. Murphy, D. Khazanchi, and I. Zigurs. Real-world opportunities for virtual-world project management. *IT Professional Magazine*, 11(2):34, 2009.
- [235] J. R. Padilla-López, A. A. Chaaraoui, and F. Flórez-Revuelta. Visual privacy protection methods: A survey. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 42(9):4177–4195, 2015.
- [236] C. Papadopoulos, K. Petkov, A. E. Kaufman, and K. Mueller. The reality deck-an immersive gigapixel display. *IEEE computer graphics and applications*, 35(1):33–45, 2015.
- [237] V. M. Patel, R. Chellappa, D. Chandra, and B. Barbello. Continuous user authentication on mobile devices: Recent progress and remaining challenges. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 33(4):49–61, 2016.
- [238] B. Pedras, A. Raposo, and I. Santos. Environrc: Integrating mobile communication and collaboration to offshore engineering virtual reality applications. In *Virtual and Augmented Reality (SVR), 2016 XVIII Symposium on*, pages 37–46. IEEE, 2016.
- [239] T. Piumsomboon, Y. Lee, G. Lee, and M. Billinghurst. Covar: a collaborative virtual and augmented reality system for remote collaboration. In SIGGRAPH Asia 2017 Emerging Technologies, page 3. ACM, 2017.
- [240] B. Pollock, M. Burton, J. W. Kelly, S. Gilbert, and E. Winer. The right view from the wrong location: Depth perception in stereoscopic multi-user virtual environments. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 18(4):581–588, 2012.
- [241] T. Porssut and J.-R. Chardonnet. Asymetric telecollaboration in virtual reality. In Virtual Reality (VR), 2017 IEEE, pages 289–290. IEEE, 2017.

- [242] P. Prabhu, T. B. Jablin, A. Raman, Y. Zhang, J. Huang, H. Kim, N. P. Johnson, F. Liu, S. Ghosh, S. Beard, et al. A survey of the practice of computational science. In *State of the Practice Reports*, page 19. ACM, 2011.
- [243] E. D. Ragan, R. Kopper, P. Schuchardt, and D. A. Bowman. Studying the effects of stereo, head tracking, and field of regard on a small-scale spatial judgment task. *IEEE transactions* on visualization and computer graphics, 19(5):886–896, 2013.
- [244] D. Raja, D. Bowman, J. Lucas, and C. North. Exploring the benefits of immersion in abstract information visualization. In *Proc. Immersive Projection Technology Workshop*, pages 61– 69, 2004.
- [245] R. C. Ramos Mota, S. Cartwright, E. Sharlin, H. Hamdi, M. Costa Sousa, and Z. Chen. Exploring immersive interfaces for well placement optimization in reservoir models. In *Proceedings of the 2016 Symposium on Spatial User Interaction*, SUI '16, pages 121–130. ACM, 2016.
- [246] R. Raskar, G. Welch, and H. Fuchs. Spatially augmented reality. In *First IEEE Workshop* on Augmented Reality (IWAR98), pages 11–20. Citeseer, 1998.
- [247] N. Raval, A. Srivastava, K. Lebeck, L. Cox, and A. Machanavajjhala. Markit: Privacy markers for protecting visual secrets. In *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing: Adjunct Publication*, pages 1289– 1295. ACM, 2014.
- [248] Raytheon. Visualizing the Future with Immersive Technology. https://www.youtube. com/watch?v=vdA0zshgKWI&t=3s. Accessed: 2018-01-05.
- [249] K. Reda, A. Febretti, A. Knoll, J. Aurisano, J. Leigh, A. Johnson, M. E. Papka, and M. Hereld. Visualizing large, heterogeneous data in hybrid-reality environments. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 33(4):38–48, 2013.

- [250] D. Reilly, M. Salimian, B. MacKay, N. Mathiasen, W. K. Edwards, and J. Franz. Secspace: prototyping usable privacy and security for mixed reality collaborative environments. In *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM SIGCHI symposium on Engineering interactive computing systems*, pages 273–282. ACM, 2014.
- [251] Reservoir Simulation Group. Energi Simulation / Frank and Sarah Meyer Collaboration Centre. http://collaborationcentre.ca. Accessed: 2018-01-25.
- [252] S. Ribaric, A. Ariyaeeinia, and N. Pavesic. De-identification for privacy protection in multimedia content: A survey. *Signal Processing: Image Communication*, 47:131–151, 2016.
- [253] K. Rindell, S. Hyrynsalmi, and V. Leppänen. A comparison of security assurance support of agile software development methods. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Conference* on Computer Systems and Technologies, pages 61–68. ACM, 2015.
- [254] F. Roesner. Designing application permission models that meet user expectations. *IEEE Security & Privacy*, 15(1):75–79, 2017.
- [255] F. Roesner, T. Denning, B. C. Newell, T. Kohno, and R. Calo. Augmented reality: hard problems of law and policy. In *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM international joint conference on pervasive and ubiquitous computing: adjunct publication*, pages 1283–1288. ACM, 2014.
- [256] F. Roesner, T. Kohno, and D. Molnar. Security and privacy for augmented reality systems. *Communications of the ACM*, 57(4), 2014.
- [257] F. Roesner, D. Molnar, A. Moshchuk, T. Kohno, and H. J. Wang. World-driven access control for continuous sensing. In *Proceedings of the 2014 ACM SIGSAC Conference on Computer and Communications Security*, pages 1169–1181. ACM, 2014.
- [258] J. S. Roo and M. Hachet. One reality: Augmenting how the physical world is experienced by combining multiple mixed reality modalities. In *Proceedings of the 30th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 787–795. ACM, 2017.

- [259] D. Sacha, A. Stoffel, F. Stoffel, B. C. Kwon, G. Ellis, and D. A. Keim. Knowledge generation model for visual analytics. *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics*, 20(12):1604–1613, 2014.
- [260] N. S. Safa, R. Von Solms, and L. Futcher. Human aspects of information security in organisations. *Computer Fraud & Security*, 2016(2):15–18, 2016.
- [261] S. Sakurai, Y. Kitamura, S. Subramanian, and F. Kishino. A visibility control system for collaborative digital table. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 13(8):619–632, 2009.
- [262] M. H. Salimian, D. Reilly, S. Brooks, and B. MacKay. Physical-digital privacy interfaces for mixed reality collaboration: An exploratory study. In *Proceedings of the 2016 ACM on Interactive Surfaces and Spaces*, pages 261–270. ACM, 2016.
- [263] P. Salini and S. Kanmani. Survey and analysis on security requirements engineering. Computers & Electrical Engineering, 38(6):1785–1797, 2012.
- [264] J. H. Saltzer and M. D. Schroeder. The protection of information in computer systems. Proceedings of the IEEE, 63(9):1278–1308, 1975.
- [265] R. S. Sandhu. Lattice-based access control models. *Computer*, 26(11):9–19, 1993.
- [266] R. S. Sandhu, E. J. Coynek, H. L. Feinsteink, and C. E. Youmank. Role-based access control models yz. *IEEE computer*, 29(2):38–47, 1996.
- [267] K. Schwaber and J. Sutherland. The scrum guide. scrum.org. 2017., 2017.
- [268] M. Sedlmair, P. Isenberg, D. Baur, and A. Butz. Information visualization evaluation in large companies: Challenges, experiences and recommendations. *Information Visualization*, 10(3):248–266, 2011.
- [269] P. Sempolinski, D. Thain, D. Wei, and A. Kareem. A system for management of computational fluid dynamics simulations for civil engineering. In *E-Science (e-Science)*, 2012

IEEE 8th International Conference on, pages 1–8, Oct 2012.

- [270] T. Seran, E. Pellegrin-Boucher, and C. Gurau. The management of coopetitive tensions within multi-unit organizations. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 53:31–41, 2016.
- [271] D. Servos and S. L. Osborn. Current research and open problems in attribute-based access control. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 49(4):65:1–65:45, Jan. 2017.
- [272] R. Shadiev, W.-Y. Hwang, Y.-M. Huang, and Y.-S. Yang. Study of using a multi-touch tabletop technology to facilitate collaboration, interaction, and awareness in co-located environment. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 34(10):952–963, 2015.
- [273] M. Shahzad and M. P. Singh. Continuous authentication and authorization for the internet of things. *IEEE Internet Computing*, 21(2):86–90, 2017.
- [274] W. R. Sherman, J. H. Money, E. Whiting, and S. Grover. Iq-stations: Advances in stateof-the-art low cost immersive displays for research and development. In *Proceedings of the Practice and Experience on Advanced Research Computing*, page 63. ACM, 2018.
- [275] W. R. Sherman, P. OLeary, E. T. Whiting, S. Grover, and E. A. Wernert. Iq-station: a low cost portable immersive environment. In *International Symposium on Visual Computing*, pages 361–372. Springer, 2010.
- [276] S. Shi and C.-H. Hsu. A survey of interactive remote rendering systems. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 47(4):57:1–57:29, May 2015.
- [277] P. Shrestha and N. Saxena. An offensive and defensive exposition of wearable computing. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 50(6):92:1–92:39, Nov. 2017.
- [278] C. Silva, J. Freire, and S. Callahan. Provenance for visualizations: Reproducibility and beyond. *Computing in Science Engineering*, 9(5):82–89, Sept 2007.

- [279] A. Simon, R. C. Smith, and R. R. Pawlicki. Omnistereo for panoramic virtual environment display systems. In *Virtual Reality*, 2004. Proceedings. IEEE, pages 67–279. IEEE, 2004.
- [280] U. Sivarajah, M. M. Kamal, Z. Irani, and V. Weerakkody. Critical analysis of big data challenges and analytical methods. *Journal of Business Research*, 70:263–286, 2017.
- [281] I. Sluganovic, M. Serbec, A. Derek, and I. Martinovic. Holopair: Securing shared augmented reality using microsoft hololens. In ACSAC, 2017.
- [282] W. W. Smari, P. Clemente, and J.-F. Lalande. An extended attribute based access control model with trust and privacy: Application to a collaborative crisis management system. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 31:147–168, 2014.
- [283] M. Smit. Converged reality: A data management research agenda for a service-, cloud-, and data-driven era. In 2016 49th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS), pages 1653–1662. IEEE, 2016.
- [284] S. Smith and J. Marchesini. The craft of system security. Pearson Education, 2007.
- [285] B. Sommer, D. G. Barnes, S. Boyd, T. Chandler, M. Cordeil, T. Czauderna, M. Klapperstück, K. Klein, T. D. Nguyen, H. Nim, et al. 3d-stereoscopic immersive analytics projects at monash university and university of konstanz. *Electronic Imaging*, 2017(5):179– 187, 2017.
- [286] B. Sommer, A. Hamacher, O. Kaluza, T. Czauderna, M. Klapperstück, N. Biere, M. Civico,
 B. Thomas, D. G. Barnes, and F. Schreiber. Stereoscopic space map-semi-immersive configuration of 3d-stereoscopic tours in multi-display environments. *Electronic Imaging*, 2016(5):1–9, 2016.
- [287] M. C. Sousa, E. V. Brazil, and E. Sharlin. Scalable and interactive visual computing in geosciences and reservoir engineering. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications*, 406:SP406–17, 2014.

- [288] M. C. Sousa, E. V. Brazil, and E. Sharlin. Scalable and interactive visual computing in geosciences and reservoir engineering. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications*, 406(1):447–466, 2015.
- [289] SPE PetroWiki. Gridding in Reservoir Simulation. http://petrowiki.org/Gridding_ in_reservoir_simulation. Accessed: 2016-07-01.
- [290] O. Standard. extensible access control markup language (xacml) version 3.0. 2013.
- [291] T. Sterling, D. J. Becker, D. Savarese, J. E. Dorband, U. A. Ranawake, and C. V. Packer. Beowulf: A parallel workstation for scientific computation. In *In Proceedings of the 24th International Conference on Parallel Processing*, 1995.
- [292] J. E. Stone, W. R. Sherman, and K. Schulten. Immersive molecular visualization with omnidirectional stereoscopic ray tracing and remote rendering. In 2016 IEEE International Parallel and Distributed Processing Symposium Workshops (IPDPSW), pages 1048–1057. IEEE, 2016.
- [293] W. Stuerzlinger, A. Pavlovych, and D. Nywton. Tivs: temporary immersive virtual environment at simon fraser university: a non-permanent cave. In *Everyday Virtual Reality (WEVR), 2015 IEEE 1st Workshop on*, pages 23–28. IEEE, 2015.
- [294] G.-D. Sun, Y.-C. Wu, R.-H. Liang, and S.-X. Liu. A survey of visual analytics techniques and applications: State-of-the-art research and future challenges. *Journal of Computer Science and Technology*, 28(5):852–867, 2013.
- [295] Q. Sun, L. Ma, S. J. Oh, L. Van Gool, B. Schiele, and M. Fritz. Natural and effective obfuscation by head inpainting. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision* and Pattern Recognition, pages 5050–5059, 2018.
- [296] Surreal. Surreal VR. http://surrealvr.com. Accessed: 2017-01-05.

- [297] L. Sweeney. k-anonymity: A model for protecting privacy. *International Journal of Uncertainty, Fuzziness and Knowledge-Based Systems*, 10(05):557–570, 2002.
- [298] P. Tamagnini, J. Krause, A. Dasgupta, and E. Bertini. Interpreting black-box classifiers using instance-level visual explanations. In *Proceedings of the 2nd Workshop on Human-In-the-Loop Data Analytics*, page 6. ACM, 2017.
- [299] G. Tamm and J. Krüger. Hybrid rendering with scheduling under uncertainty. *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics*, 20(5):767–780, 2014.
- [300] M. Tanaya, K. Yang, T. Christensen, S. Li, M. O'Keefe, J. Fridley, and K. Sung. A framework for analyzing ar/vr collaborations: An initial result. In *Computational Intelligence and Virtual Environments for Measurement Systems and Applications (CIVEMSA), 2017 IEEE International Conference on*, pages 111–116. IEEE, 2017.
- [301] A. Tang, M. Boyle, and S. Greenberg. Display and presence disparity in mixed presence groupware. In *Proceedings of the fifth conference on Australasian user interface-Volume* 28, pages 73–82. Australian Computer Society, Inc., 2004.
- [302] P. Tarasewich, J. Gong, and R. Conlan. Protecting private data in public. In *CHI'06 Ex*tended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1409–1414. ACM, 2006.
- [303] K. Tcha-Tokey, E. Loup-Escande, O. Christmann, and S. Richir. Effects on user experience in an edutainment virtual environment: Comparison between cave and hmd. In *Proceedings* of the European Conference on Cognitive Ergonomics 2017, pages 1–8. ACM, 2017.
- [304] TechViz Corporation. Techviz XL. https://www.techviz.net/techviz-xl. Accessed: 2017-05-01.
- [305] J. J. Thomas and K. A. Cook. A visual analytics agenda. *IEEE computer graphics and applications*, 26(1):10–13, 2006.

- [306] R. K. Thomas. Team-based access control (tmac): A primitive for applying role-based access controls in collaborative environments. In *Proceedings of the Second ACM Workshop* on Role-based Access Control, RBAC '97, pages 13–19, New York, NY, USA, 1997. ACM.
- [307] H. H. Thomson. Visual data breach risk assessment study. 2010. people security consulting services, commissioned by 3m.
- [308] J. Tibbett, F. Suorineni, and B. Hebblewhite. The use of virtual reality scientific visualisation for investigation and exploration of block cave mining system data. In *Proceedings of the Virtual Reality and Spatial Information Applications in the Mining Industry Conference,* 2015b University of Pretoria, South Africa. The Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, pages 1–11, 2015.
- [309] B. Tjemkes, P. Vos, and K. Burgers. Strategic alliance management. Routledge, 2017.
- [310] A. Toninelli, R. Montanari, L. Kagal, and O. Lassila. A semantic context-aware access control framework for secure collaborations in pervasive computing environments. In *International semantic web conference*, pages 473–486. Springer, 2006.
- [311] P. Tripicchio, C. Loconsole, A. Piarulli, E. Ruffaldi, F. Tecchia, and M. Bergamasco. On multiuser perspectives in passive stereographic virtual environments. *Computer Animation and Virtual Worlds*, 25(1):69–81, 2014.
- [312] E. Tufte. The Visual Display of Quantitative Information. Graphics Press, 1983.
- [313] J. W. Tukey. Exploratory data analysis. Addison-Wesley, 1977.
- [314] S. Türpe. The trouble with security requirements. In *Requirements Engineering Conference* (*RE*), 2017 IEEE 25th International, pages 122–133. IEEE, 2017.
- [315] B.-T. Van, J.-L. Pajon, J. Phillipe, J.-M. Chautru, et al. 3d reservoir visualization. *Journal of Petroleum Technology*, 43(11):1–310, 1991.

- [316] A. Van Dam, A. S. Forsberg, D. H. Laidlaw, J. J. LaViola, and R. M. Simpson. Immersive vr for scientific visualization: A progress report. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, 20(6):26–52, 2000.
- [317] Vicon Motion Systems Ltd. Vicon Tracker. https://www.vicon.com/products/ software/tracker. Accessed: 2016-08-01.
- [318] I. Viola and T. Isenberg. Pondering the concept of abstraction in (illustrative) visualization. *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics*, 24(9):2573–2588, 2018.
- [319] C. Vizzi. Virtual reality as a cross-domain language in collaborative environments. In *International Conference on Augmented and Virtual Reality*, pages 507–514. Springer, 2015.
- [320] vTime. vTime The VR Sociable Network. https://vtime.net. Accessed: 2017-01-05.
- [321] J. A. Wagner Filho, M. F. Rey, C. M. Freitas, and L. Nedel. Immersive visualization of abstract information: An evaluation on dimensionally-reduced data scatterplots. In *Proceedings of the 25th IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (March* 2018), volume 2, page 4, 2018.
- [322] J. D. Walker and S. C. Chapra. A client-side web application for interactive environmental simulation modeling. *Environ. Model. Softw.*, 55:49–60, May 2014.
- [323] J. P. Walsh and W. Hong. Secrecy is increasing in step with competition. *Nature*, 422(6934):801–802, 2003.
- [324] F. Wang, J. Mickens, N. Zeldovich, and V. Vaikuntanathan. Sieve: cryptographically enforced access control for user data in untrusted clouds. In 13th USENIX Symposium on Networked Systems Design and Implementation (NSDI 16), pages 611–626, 2016.
- [325] H. K. Watkins. Graphics in reservoir simulation. In *Computer Graphics Forum*, volume 6, pages 111–117. Wiley Online Library, 1987.

- [326] A. Whitten and J. D. Tygar. Why johnny can't encrypt: A usability evaluation of pgp 5.0. In USENIX Security Symposium, volume 348, 1999.
- [327] L. M. Wilcox, R. S. Allison, S. Elfassy, and C. Grelik. Personal space in virtual reality. *ACM Transactions on Applied Perception (TAP)*, 3(4):412–428, 2006.
- [328] R. C. Wilson, O. W. Butters, D. Avraam, J. Baker, J. A. Tedds, A. Turner, M. Murtagh, and P. R. Burton. Datashield–new directions and dimensions. *Data Science Journal*, 16(21):1– 21, 2017.
- [329] M. J. Wolf and B. Perron. Immersion, engagement, and presence: A method for analyzing 3-d video games alison mcmahan. In *The Video Game Theory Reader*, pages 89–108. Routledge, 2013.
- [330] P. C. Wong and J. Thomas. Visual analytics. *IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications*, (5):20–21, 2004.
- [331] T. Yamaguchi, S. Subramanian, Y. Kitamura, and F. Kishino. Strategic tabletop negotiations. In *IFIP Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*, pages 169–182. Springer, 2007.
- [332] C. Yang, L. X. Nghiem, C. Card, M. Bremeier, et al. Reservoir model uncertainty quantification through computer-assisted history matching. In SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. Society of Petroleum Engineers, 2007.
- [333] K. C. Yu, K. Saham, V. Sahami, L. Sessions, and G. Denn. Group immersive education with digital fulldome planetariums. In *Virtual Reality (VR), 2017 IEEE*, pages 237–238. IEEE, 2017.
- [334] Z. Yu, H.-N. Liang, C. Fleming, and K. L. Man. An exploration of usable authentication mechanisms for virtual reality systems. In *Circuits and Systems (APCCAS), 2016 IEEE Asia Pacific Conference on*, pages 458–460. IEEE, 2016.

- [335] E. Yuan and J. Tong. Attributed based access control (abac) for web services. In Web Services, 2005. ICWS 2005. Proceedings. 2005 IEEE International Conference on. IEEE, 2005.
- [336] L. Yuan, P. Korshunov, and T. Ebrahimi. Secure jpeg scrambling enabling privacy in photo sharing. In Automatic Face and Gesture Recognition (FG), 2015 11th IEEE International Conference and Workshops on, volume 4, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2015.
- [337] D. Yuen, S. Cartwright, and C. Jacob. Eukaryo: Virtual reality simulation of a cell. In *Proceedings of the 2016 Virtual Reality International Conference*, VRIC '16, pages 3:1– 3:4. ACM, 2016.
- [338] D. Yuen, M. Santoso, S. Cartwright, and C. Jacob. Eukaryo: An ar and vr application for cell biology. *International Journal of Virtual Reality*, 16(1):7–14, Oct. 2016.
- [339] F. Zafar, A. Khan, S. Suhail, I. Ahmed, K. Hameed, H. M. Khan, F. Jabeen, and A. Anjum. Trustworthy data: A survey, taxonomy and future trends of secure provenance schemes. *Journal of Network and Computer Applications*, 94:50–68, 2017.
- [340] L. Zhai, M. Ren, and B. Tan. Analysis on innovation of geological exploration technology in petroleum development process. *International Journal of Geology*, 1(1):6–13, 2016.
- [341] Y. Zhang, W. Hu, W. Xu, C. T. Chou, and J. Hu. Continuous authentication using eye movement response of implicit visual stimuli. *Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies*, 1(4):177:1–177:22, Jan. 2018.
- [342] Z. Zhang. Microsoft kinect sensor and its effect. *IEEE multimedia*, 19(2):4–10, 2012.
- [343] H. Zhou, K. Tearo, A. Waje, E. Alghamdi, T. Alves, V. Ferreira, K. Hawkey, and D. Reilly. Enhancing mobile content privacy with proxemics aware notifications and protection. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1362–1373. ACM, 2016.
[344] C. Zins. Conceptual approaches for defining data, information, and knowledge. *Journal of the American society for information science and technology*, 58(4):479–493, 2007.